o

CAMPUS HISTORIC RESOURCES SURVEY
“

Prepared by the Campus
Planning Study Group

Dean Richard Bender- Director

Jack Sidener-Campus Plan Coordinator
Sally Woodbridge -Survey Coordinator
University of California, Berkeley —1978






CONTENTS

1+ 1IUMANITIES, ADMINISTRATION and STUDENT SERVICES R 22

Campanile (Sather Tower)

Doe Memorial Library
Moffitt Undergraduate Library
Bancroft Library

California llall

Durant Hall

Wheeler Hall

Dwinelle Hall

Dwinelle Annex

10. Student Union

11. Campus Commons

12. A§E (Architects § Engineers)
13. Sproul Hall

14. Haviland Hall

15. University House

16. South Hall

17. South iiall Annex

18. Temporary Buildings (T4 - T9)
19. Stephens Hall

20. Men's Faculty Club

21. Women's Faculty Club

22. Senior Men's Hall

OOV &N =

2<ENGINEERING AND EARTH SCIENCES .......... cresesaena Seeceeaeeraeas 58

Hearst Memorial Mining Building
North Gate Hall

Naval Architecture

Donner Laboratory

Davis liall

. Cory Hall

Hesse Hall

NI B NN



2+ ENGINEERING and EARTIL SCIENCES (continued)...coeevveeceecnenenes 58

8. O'Brien Hall

9. McLaughlin Hall

10. Engineering-Hesse Courtyard Building
11. Earth Sciences Building

12. [Etcheverry lall

3MATH AND PHYSTCAL SCIENCES .....coccececrecnncnccnsencccns S o o 08 76
1. LeConte Hall
2. Gilman Hall
3. Giauque Hall
4, Hildebrand Hall
5. Latimer Hall
6. Lewis Hall
7. Physical Sciences Lecture tlall
8. Lvans llall
9. Stanley Hall
10. Birge Hall
11. Campbell Hall
4<HOUSING, SPORTS, AND CULTURAL FACILITIES .......... e S aTejatehe s i w90
1. Hearst Greek Theatre
2. California Memorial Stadium
3. Stern Hall
4. Bowles llall
5. lInternational llouse
5+ PROFESSIONAL SCHOOLS . ovvvvrnerennrrononecnsnsococcccenneonesens 100
1. Wurster Hall
2. Boalt llall
3. Cowell Memorial Hospital
4. Chemical Biodynamics Lab
5. Minor Hall
6. Minor Hall Addition
7. Girton Hall
8. Cheney House-2241 College Avenue
9. Cheney House-2243 College Avenue
10. 2251 College Avenue




5-PROFESSIONAL SCIIOOLS (continued)................

11. 2220 Piedmont Avenue
12, 2222 Piedmont Avenue
13. 2224 Piedmont Avenue
14. 2232 Piedmont Avenue
15. 2234 Piedmont Avenue
16. 2240 Piedmont Avenue
6°ARTS COMPLEX ...evvvenneennn o P cereeee ceeee
1. Hearst Gymnasium for Women
2. Pelican Building (Anthony Hall)
3. Power House (01d Art Gallery)
4. Moses llall
5. Hertz Hall
6. Morrison Hall
7. Barrows Hall
8. Kroeber Hall
9. University Art Museum
7+SPORTS AND STUDENT ACTIVITIES ............ R s
1. Eshleman Hall
2. Zellerbach Auditorium
3. Edwards Fields Bleachers
4. Harmon Gymnasium
5. Alumni House
6. lleating Plant
7. Callaghan llall
8. Unitarian Church-2401 Bancroft
9. University Extension
8+AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION, AND LIFE SCIENCES ...
1. Life Sciences Building
2. Giannini Hall
3. Wellman llall
4., Hilgard Hall
5. Morgan Hall
6. Tolman Hall
7. Mulford Hall

oooooooooooooooo

-

-



8+ AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION, and LIFL SCIENCES (continued)........ 150

8. Biochemistry Building
9. Warren llall
10. Temporary Building (T19)



INTRODUCTION

"But above and beyond any of the considerations
which have been enumerated, is the principle
that it is owed to the people to establish on
these grounds. a standard of artistic excellence.
It is the University's bounden duty to culti-
vate artistic ideals just as distinctly and
indisputably as it is its duty to teach the
beauties of literaturc and the wonders of sci-
ence. The University fulfills only a part of
its mission when it teaches the theory of
beauty without its practice. Its duty is to in-
spire, to cultivate, to edify. And to do that
completely it must have ftine buildings. By fine
is not meant elaborate or even costly, but
buildings whose lines are so pure and whose as-
pect so beautiful that the student coming into
their presence is uplifted and his ideas en-
larged and purified. Men and women come here at
the most impressionable period of their lives,
and lost is the most important of opportunities
for raising the standard of their taste and cul-
tivating their higher instincts, if they do not
find themselves at once in an atmosphere of
fine artistic surroundings....The University
shall take on incomparable beauties and stand
as an exponent of all that is best in life."

John Galen Howard : 1903

Wlas the DBerkelcy campus maintained the "...standard of artistic
excellence” which loward called for? llas it become a humane envivon-
ment? Are its buildings worthy of a great university? llas it con-
tinued to respect and to build on its heritage? Has the campus taken
on “incomparable beautics” and come to "stand as an exponent of all
that is best in life"?

The Berkeley campus was begun as part of a magnificent dream. 1t
has grown cnormously. New buildings have been added. O1d buildings
have undergone major changes. Planting has matured and the harshness
of the frontier has given way to patina. 1t is the campus of a great
university: a mapniFficent location and powerful landscape, and a col-
lection of buildings which record the dreams, the accomplishments,
the encrgies amd the memories of over a century.

1



The oviginal plans called Tor a carclul pattern of growth. An or-
derly progression ol academic bui ldings was arvanged along carctully
proportioned walls amd squares.  Formal buildings delined vistas.
They stood in definite relationships to cach other and they were
grouped by discipline. lLess Formal structures were set into richly
phanted groves and along the branches of Strawberry Creck. The whole
wus pleasant and spacious.

Much of this has been lost.

flecent years have seen an explosion of growth. By the late 1950°s
the oviginal plan was abandoned. No alternative took its place. New
bui ldings were sct into open spaces. Vistas were blocked and groves
were destroyed.  lleedless of tradition, their ncighbors, or the ex-
traovdiniry envivommental history of the campus and the Bay Area,
plamers rushed a new group of large, and often mediocre, buildings
into place.

Today, in a period of "steady state," the University remains vi-
tul. It nceds sensitive and careful maintenance and it demands new
growth. Lach year, pressures for the new pose challenges to the old.
It is s time for thoughtful consideration; a time for taking stock
and an opportunity to plan.

Project History

The Campus llistoric Resources Survey las grown out of the recogni -
tion that, while the Campus must prow and change and while the old
must mihe way for the new, it is essential that these transformations
tahe place in an enviromment that values history, continuity and tra-
dition. Plans for the campus must respect grace and beauty at the
same time they recognize the need for new facilities.

This study was requested by Chancellor Bowker as part of a sct of
lavger Campus efforts. It secks to identify and describe the histor-
it resources of the Campus and to examine them in the context of a
sct of historic criteria. Taken together with a group of other stud-
ies - an analysis of the seismic safety of Campus structures, an in-
ventory of trees and shrubs, an examination of the cnergy use of
buildings and a survey of the quality of interior spaces - this sur-
vey will help guide plans for preservation, adaptive re-use and
replacement .

In this lirst stage of the survey, a faculty-student team has pre-
pared material to describe the buildings within the boundaries of the
Berheley campus and, with the aid of an Advisory Pancl, has prepared
a set of criteria for their evaluation.

In a sccond stage, the Advisory Panel will meet on the Berkeley
campus.  They will review the materials which have been prepared,
study the buildings and supgest a ranking of the Campus historic and
architectural resources. ‘The Campus buildings will be ranked from
greatest to least historic and architectural value. In those cases
where portions of a building are importunt in themselves or as part
of o greater campus composition, suggestions for their preservation
and/or re-use will be made. In a final stage, the comments and runk-
tngs of the Pancl will be combined with the material prepared by the
study team. This will scerve as a guide to all of those who work,
stady, visit, and plan at the Berkeley campus of the University of
Calilornia,
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Survey Methodology

This dreaft of the Campus llistoric Resources Survey is a document
in process.  The survey's goal is to present o complete and accurate
record ol the historic resources of the Campus. This will be done in
4 scries of iterations planned to add breadth, depth, and detail
while gaining richness from the comments, criticism and additions of
an able and encrgetic advisory panel. ‘The survey remains superficial
in many of its aspeets. The study group will continue to amplify and
refine the elements of the survey.

The survey began with buildings on the central Campus. This draft
adds detail to buildings previously described, adds a group of build-
ings adjucent to this central quadrangle and begins to identify
groups of buildings, spuaces between and around buildings, and land-
scaped arcas which are important clements of the history of the
Campus .

The buildings in this report have physical descriptions, brief
histories, and evaluative comments written by the rescarch tcam. In
writing the physical descriptions of the campus buildings, our goal
wis to give a coherent but not exhaustive verbal picture of cach
building. Consequently only the visually prominent aspects of the
buildings are descrived. Even here, in the case of some buildings,
space did not permit a total inventory of decorative detail or a full
description of the plans.

llistories were drawn from a variety of campus resources: The Cen-
tennial Htecord of the University of California, the records of the
Office of Architects and Engineers, the Bancroft Library, Jumes
Kantor, University Archivist, the Documents Collection of the College
of Luvirommental Design, and personal interviews with knowledgeable
persons,

Evaluations are bused on the following criteria:

ARCHITECTURAL MERIT: The building is a unique work of art.

HISTORICAL MERIT: The building is closely related to the COMPONENT MERIT:

history of the University, the lives of

those people who have studied and worked

here, or the community which provides

its setting. The building is the design

of a prominent architect or an exemplary

or typical example of an architectural

style or period.
ENVIRONMENTAL MERIT: The building is important to the physical
context of the Campus as a whole, a group
of buildings, or an important featurc of
the landscape. Its preservation will re-
inforce the Plan and/or enhance adjacent
areas.
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The building is constructed of matcriusls
or with u technique whose use is unlikely
in the future. The ornament or detail of
the building is irreplaceable. The method
of construction is significunt. A compo-
nent of the building (rvoom, wing, facade
or other clement) vanks in one or morc of
the above categories,
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CAMPUS HISTORY

In IBGO the College of California dedicated its new campus, 160
acres of farm land in Berkeley between the north and south branches
of Strawberry Creck. The site was selected "hecause of its abundant
water supply, its mild climate, the absence of severe winds, the
rolling landscape abundantly covered with oak, sycamore and bay
trees, the superb views to the Golden Gate and Sausalito mountains,
(and) the rather convenient but not pressing proximity of Oukland and
San Francisco." It was, in other words, a wholesome and idyllic set-
ting more appropriate for the future great university the founders
envisioned than the present campus in the City of Oakland. In 1864,
the College Homestead Association was formed for the purpose of ac-
quiring and selling lots in the vicinity of the college tract to fund
its buildings. In two years the Association acquired an additional
320 acres for speculative residential development. A plan for devel-
opment of these "college grounds" was commissioned by the College's
Board of Trustees from Frederick Law Olmsted, who was at work on var-
ious projects in the state about that time.

Oimsted's plan reflected the picturesque concept of landscaping
carried out in his other works, notably New York's Central Park.
Speculative residential tracts of four and five acres with winding
roads and paths surrounded the campus, which was approached by a for-
mil avenue. Two buildings - one of brick, stone and iron to house
the library, records, and scientific collections; the other of wood
for clusses, faculty offices, and an ussembly hall - comprised the
academic institution. They were to be sited on an artificial pla-
teau to take advantage of the open vista to the Golden Gate. Other
ancnities were a large green for athletic activities, park areas, and
parkways to the Bay and to OGuklund. Though thoroughly acceptable,
Oimsted's plan remained unfunded largely because the remoteness of
the community made it a poor real estate market. The location of
Picdmont Avenue, the south and west campus entrances, and part of the
Campanile axis are vestigial elements of this first plan.

Mcanwhile, the Morrill Act was signed in 1862 giving land grants
to stutes that established colleges for agriculture and the mechani-
cal arts. In 1866, the Californja legislature took advantage of this
Act to found the College of Architecture, Mining, and Mechanical
Arts. The proposed site for this technical school wias a tract to the
north of that of the College of California. In view of its economic
insccurity and the injurious competition certain to follow the estab-
lishment of the state college, the College of California offered its
holdings to the state in 1867 on the condition that the two institu- -
tions merge to become a complete university. The legislature accept-
ed the proposition, and, with the signing of the Charter or Orpanic
Act, the University of California was born, with a Board of Regents
to govern it. The townsite had been named for George Herkeley, Bish-
op of Cloyne, who had visited the colonies in 1729 with the idea of
founding a university. The founders particularly fancied his long
cpic poem, the last stanza of which reads:

Westward the course of cmpire takes its way;
The four first acts already past

A fifth shall close the drama with the day;
Time's noblest offspring is the last.



ln 1870, the Regents adopted a plan drawn ap by San Francisco
architect David Farqubarson.  This plan incorporated many ol the Fea-
tures of Olmsted's Plan and increased the mmber of buildings to in-
clude sia "spacious and elegant buildings" for the College of Agri-
culture, the College of Mechanical Arts, the Collepe of Engineering,
the Collepe ol Mines and the College of lLetters. The focal huilding
ol this group was to be called the Hall of California. By 1873, two
nearly completed buildings were the scene of July graduation exercis-
es For the first twelve students, known as the “twelve apostles.”
Both North and South Halls were completed for the University's fall
term in September, 1873, They were located approximately where Olm-
sted had sited his buildings part way up the sloping site and ori-
ented to the Golden Gate. :

Light years later Bacon Hall, the library, became the focal build-
ing at the head of the Golden Gate axis. By 1897 wore major build-
ings, Civil Engincering, Mechanics and Mining, and the Chemical Lab-
oritory, had joined this nucleus. lesser structures, wostly ol
wood rime construction, were informally sited about the campus on
the morve level portions of the land.  The Wortanical Gardens were
laid out north of North liall and southwest of Engincering. ‘fo gain
tevel pround for the cinder running track, the central branch of
Strawberry Creeh wis drained.

The Classical Phase

The need for a comprehensive plan to guide the University's future
growth was recognized in 1896 by Regent Jacob Reinstein, a noted San
Francisco lawyer and a member of the first graduating class. Influ-
cnced by the views of Bernard Maybeck, instructor in architectural
drawing, Mr. Reinstein made a plea for a “comprehensive permanent
plun" which would result in the progressive construction of buildings
commensurate with the pride and dignity of a great and glorious
state -- befitting the best and noblest purposes of that state."

Finding the Board of Regents receptive to the need for long-range
planning, Myrs. Phocbe Apperson llearst, advised by Maybeck and Rein-
stein, offcred to Finance an international competition for o physical
plan for the University. This gencrous proposal was accepted by the
Regents. A jury of Ffive internationally known architects wis chosen,
and invitations were extended to architects throughout the world to
enter the competition.

As expressed in the following extracts from the "Programmc” for
the competition, published in December 1897:

*Ihe University of California possesses extensive and well
located grounds; besides, it has at its disposal sufficient
resources to begin the ercction of a preat center of learn-
ing. DBut it will require many years to complete the work

in all its parts, and it 1s to be expected that the P rog ramne
ol cach division will undergo some modifications before the
pencral work is completed.  The special arrangements ol cach
division or department cannot, thervefore, be scettled at the
present time.

Farquharson Plan

VAN




"On the other hand, confusion will arisc,and the possibilitics
offered by a beautiful site would be lost, if the preliminary
work were undertaken without a comprehensive idea of the
whole, and without a previously formulated general plan.

“Only the adoption from the start of a well conceived general
plin will permit the promoters to procced wisely and with
confidence in the creation, successively, of the various
colleges and departments which arc to compose the University,"

The competition guidelines listed the University's needs for the
housing of Administration, Offices, Library, Museum, Auditorium,
Military Establishment, Gymnasia, Dormitories to lodge 1,500 stu-
dents, Club Mouses, and an Infirmary. Fifteen departments of in-
struction were to be accommodated and all buildings were "to be so
connected as to insure casy communication, both open and covered,
between the groups of buildings, and to contribute to the stately
aspect of the whole.®

At the preliminary judging in Antwerp, Belgium, in October 1898,
cleven finalists were chosen from a total of 98 entrants to compete
for the grand prize of $10,000. Ninc of these accepted an expense-
paid trip to the site of the University, following which the final
judging was held in San Francisco in September, 1899,

The following points were stressed by the jury:

1) The buildings should generally represent a university rather
than a mere architectural composition.

2) There should be a convenient grouping of the educational scc-
tions without undue crowding or prevention of possible future cxpan-
sion,

3) The purpose of the several departments should be clearly
defined in the design.

4) The architectural forms should be adapted to the configura-
tion of the grounds and preservation of their natural beauties.

The winner, Emile Bénard, an eminent French architect, had pre-
pared his scheme without having seen the site. To bring his design
in harmony with the actual physical conditions, Bénard came to the
campus. lle completed his revision in 1900, but declined the post
of supervising architect and returned to Paris.

The Bénard Plan cmbodiced the aesthetic principles of the pre-
eminent French architectural academy, the Ecole des Beaux Arts.

It featured formal axes, bilateral symnetry, monumental scale,and
an cclectic classic style for the buildings. The belief that a de-
sign in accordance with universal architectural principles would
insure "that there would be no wore nccessity of remodeling its
broad outlines a thousand years hence than there would be of re-
modeling the Parthenon," was stated in the program. Still, the
plan was not insensitive to the peculiarities of the site. The
Olmsted axis from the hills to the Bay was accepted but shifted
northward to line up with the grid of the City of Berkeley, which
now had a population of over 10,000. This shift combined with
changes in the land contours reflected the shift of emphasis from
natural order to urban order. llowever, a concession to natural
order left Strawberry Creek free to meander through the campus.



Having adopted as permanent M. Bénard's revised plan, the Regents
passed a resolution in December 1900 prohibiting any substantial de-
parture from it without the consent of a majority of a self-perpetu-
ating Board of Advisors, to consist of the final competition jury
plus three prominent architects. One of the latter, John Galen
Howard of New York, was the fourth-place winner of the competition.
Mrs. Hearst, at Bernard Maybeck's recommendation, selected him to
design a building for the College of Mining in memory of her husband,
Senator George Hearst. In 1902, Howard was appointed Supervising
Architect for the University; in 1903 he became the first Profes-
sor of Architecture.

1902-1927 The Campus as Supervised
by John Galen Howard

In 1902 while designing the Hearst Memorial Mining Building,
Howard commented that he considered the Bénard Plan a preliminary
one. Acting on this presupposition, he aligned the Mining Building
with the existing campus nucleus. The ease with which Howard was
able to alter the "permanent" plan reveals two things: first, that
the program‘'s statement that a design in accordance with universal
architectural principles would insure "that there would be no more
necessity of remodeling its broad outlines a thousand years hence,
than there would be of remodeling the Parthenon” was but dimly under-
stood by the Regents; and second, that Howard, reacting with sensi-
tivity to the site, would be able to press for a more pragmatic ap-
proach to the campus® future.

Eighteen campus buildings were erected during Howard's tenure.
The Greek Theater (1903), funded by W.R. Hearst, and California Hall
(1905) were his first major structures. Though not an element of
the original plan, the Greek Theater was certainly consonant with
the Classic vision of the new university as the Athens of the West.
Hearst Memorial Mining Building (designed in 1902 but not completed
until 1907), Doe Library (1911-17), Boalt Hall (1912) (now Durant),
and the Agriculture Hall (1913) (now Wellman) also reveal Howard's
varied approach to a new architecture in the Classic tradition, but
modified to reflect its new California environment. Still, Howard's
allegiance to the Beaux Arts is revealed in his consistent siting of
the buildings on regraded, leveled land. Only Stephens llall, the
former Student Union built in 1923, is sited on different levels in
accordance with the sloping site.

Howard revised the Bénard Plan twice: first in 1908 when he re-
adopted the Olmsted-Farquharson axis to the Golden Gate; and second
in 1914 when he reinforced this axis by orienting the buildings to
the campus interior rather than having them face away from the pe-
riphery of the campus. The 1914 plan was approved by the Regents
for the future building program and titled, "The Phoebe Apperson
llearst Architectural Plan." In the same year a successful bond is-
sue brought enough funds to construct Wheeler tlall, Gilman lall,
Wilgard Hall, and the Campanile. The last-named marked the crossing
of the secondary E-W axis and the N-S esplanade.

Howard Plan
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In 1919 President Benjamin Ide Whecler's long, autocratic adminis-
tration ended. With the loss of his most powerful supporter, low-
ard's oppoesition to such proposals as the siting of the Mcmorial Sta-
dium on a natural bird and wildflower sanctuary at the mouth of
Strawberry Canyon was increasingly viewed as indicative of inflexi-
bility and an unwillingness to cooperate with the Regents. In 1922,
while Howard was in Europe, the commission for the Hearst Memorial
Women's Gymnasium was given to Bernard Maybeck and Julia Morgan with-
out his approval. By 1924 the rift between Howard and the Regents
was irreparable; his contract as Supervising Architect was not re-
newed. Soon after, he resigned as Director of the School of Archi-
tecture although he continued to teach there until his death in 1931.

1927 -1938

In 1927, George W. Kelham, a prominent San Francisco architect,
succeeded Howard as Supervising Architect. According to Warren
Perry, who followed Howard as Director of the School of Architecture,
Kelham's capacities tended toward finance and organization. "He is
breezy, shrewd, efficient, restless and hasty perhaps but engaging -
a business man's architect.”

The year 1930 saw the construction of four buildings: Cowell Hos-
pital, McLaughlin Hall, Giannini Hall and the Life Sciences Building.
These facilities so strained the campus power plant that a new heat-
ing plant had to be built. Giannini, designed with W.C. Hays, com-
pleted the original agriculture complex projected in the 1908 plan.
The Life Sciences Building departed from this plan and began a major
change in the scale of campus buildings in that it combined in one
building departments that were previously designated for a group of
buildings on the same site. When finished, the Life Sciences Build-
ing represented an innovative concept in academic planning and was
the largest building of its kind. It was designed by Kelham but the
planning decisions behind it had been removed from the responsibili-
ties of the Supervising Architect and given to a faculty Committee
on Campus Development and Building Location. The Committee's first
recommendation was that the Men's Gymnasium and playing fields be
placed on land outside the limits of the original campus, beyond the
SW corner. This development, completed in 1933, combined with the
1925 Women's Gymnasium to extend the campus two blocks south.

1938-1948

Arthur Brown, Jr., another prominent San Francisco architect, held
the post of Supervising Architect from 1938 to 1948. The combined
effect of the Depression and the Second World War resulted in a cur-
tailment of building activity during that period. Few major build-
ings were erected. Those which were - Sproul Hall (1940), Minor
Hall (1941), and Donner Laboratory (1942) - reveal Brown's concern for
maintaining the architectural character of Howard's buildings in the
face of stringent budgets. The result was a group of stripped-down
versions of the Neo-Classic style. Just above the main campus, Stern
Hall, a dormitory in the modern style designed by Corbett and McMur-
ray with William W. Wurster, was crected in 1942,



turcing this period, @ major study of future campus needs was un-
dertihen wnder Brown's supervision, with the couperition ol the Comp-
troller and the President's Committee on Campus Develupment, but
Brown's work wis hampered by the University's failure to provide o
basis in policy. lnable to abtain satistactory information on such
policy questions as: ultimate desired enroliment, automobile parking,
Land acyuisition, student housing and gencral architectural chavac-
ter, Brown formulated a number of alternative plans during 1943 and
1944, Their basic assumptions were:

- The Benard Plan of 1900 had been abandoned.

- the loward Plan of 1914 had been esseatially modificd in
practice.

- Permancnt buildings then standing would form the nucleus
ol Future development; future building would continuc the
lowrise tradition,

- Dormitories werc not to be built within campus limits.

- Existing parking facilities were not sutisfactory and
should be developed where possible.

In 1944, the Regents approved a “final" plan which retained the
principal Features of the 1914 Plan with some significant modificu-
tions. The Campanile Esplanade was to be ticed to the main E-W axis
by mcans of a loop roud; a group of ncw buildings was proposed on a
minor N-S axis in line with the llearst Mining Building; Strawberry
Crech was to have a chain of open spaces following its course through
the campus. Brown also called for the retention of the four-story
height Timit. As a result, virtually all the campus open spaces were
scen as building sites. Brown attempted to mitigate this by propos- \\
ing scrics of long low buildings along much of the perimeter of the N
campus .

In the confusion and uncertainty of the immediate postwar years,
very little of the Brown Plan was implemented. A pattern of bui ld-
ing along the cawpus perimeter was begun and, in 1946-47, cnrol lment
pressures vesulted in the addition of a group of so-called temporary
buildings. These "temporary buildings,” which by now scem almost as ;"
pevmanent as the rest, were moved to the compus from World War 11 N/
deactivated Navy camps and erccted by the U. §. Veterans! Educational
Facilities Program.

1948 -1956

buring this post war period the pent up needs, encrgics, hopes and
frustrations of the preceding decade were cxpressed in a sequence of
major planning programs for the University us a whole and the Berke-
ley Campus in particular. The nature of this scquence was affected
by major changes in the actors and their relationship to each other
and to a host of new issues. g g

1n 1948 Arthur Brown, Jr. left the post ol Supervising Architect. AI'ChltECtS & EnglneerS P]an
No one was appointed to replace him.  In 1949 the Division of Archi-
tects and Engineers, orginally created in 1944 as part of the Office
ol the Controller, was changed to the Office of Architects and Eogi-
neers and charped with performing the duties of the Supervising Ar-
chitect. A plan was developed by this oflice and approved by The




Hepents in 1952, This plan, which included some clements of an alum- needs of an enrollment of 25,000 or more students, without sacrifice
ni-sponsored proposal for high-rise dormitorics to the south of the  of the beautitul physical sctting of the campus.”™  The guiding prin-
cimpus, was inmediately subject to revision. ciples were:

Muring this period two events contributed to the cumergence of a
new bministrative structure.  In 1950, William W. Wurster left his
post as Bean of the School of Architecture and Planning at M.1.F. to
hecome hean of the College of Architecture at Berkeley.,  Dean Wurster
had great influence on the campus and a strong interest in campus
avchitecture and planning. The second was a sct of important struc-
tural changes in the university itself. By 1952 the difficulties of
administering the increasingly complex affairs of the University
caused President Sproul and The Regents to establish Chancellorships
for the individual campuses.  Clark Kerr, the first Chancellor of
the Berkeley Campus, was also deeply concerned with the planning of
the campus.  As a result of these developments, the Chancellor's
Adwinistrative Comnittee on Buildings and Campus Development became
increasingly influential. 1n 1955 The Regents recognized this by
creating the Committee on Campus Planning. This Committce was com-
posed of Chancellor Kerr, Dean Wurster and another strong individual,
Regent Donald Mclaughlin.,  This trio, with Louis leMonte, who headed
the Office of the Architects and Engincers, serving as Chicf of
Stalf, assumed the duties of the Supervising Architect. The replace-
ment of an individual by a committee reflected both a change in
vialue juwdgments from the early days of the University and Chancellor
Kerr's emerging conception of the University as a “Multiversity."
Under this committee's supervision the first long range development
plan for Berkeley Campus of the University was produced in 1956.

By the time of publication of the 1956 Plan a number of additions
and changes had already taken place on the campus. The voute along
the castern edge had becn alterced with the removal of a sharp bend,
Earl Road, and the extension of Gayley Road to meet Picdmont Avenue,
This construction took place from 1946-51 and involved the removal
ol scveral buildings on the west side of Picdmont to make way for
the construction of the Kleeberger Playing Field.

Major buildings had been constructed and wtjor additions made to
existing buildings. Among the new buildings were Lewis lall, 1948
(Chemistry); Mulford Nall, 1948 (Forestry); Cory llall, 1950 (Engi -
neering) ; bwinelle lall, 1952 (llistory classrooms and offices);
Morgan Hall, 1953 (llome Economics); Alumni llouse, 1954; and Warrcn
Mall, 1955 (Public Mealth). The campus architecture made major
stylistic changes during this period. The first four buildings named
above still adhere, though minimally, to the Neo-Classic Style; the
last four reflect contemporary design approaches., During this period
also, major additions were made to LeConte Hall, Hearst Mining Build-
ing and the Donner Laboratory. Campus landscaping remained relutive-
ly untouched except for planting around the Administration Building.
Parking had been introduced to the Central Glade in 1951,

The 1956 Plan

The stated objective of the 1956 Plan was "to present an acstheti-
cally amd Uinancially sound physical desipn to meet the academic

18!

Acuademic Requirements. Central campus space will be used
primarily for academic needs, for most academic buildings
must be located within a 10-minute class exchange arca
centering about the Library. This 10-minute walking dis-
tance limit will necessitate an increase in classroom
utilization to meet the nceds of an expanding enrollment
and will also require that non-academic functions and some
rescarch units be located in peripheral campus ureas or
on outlying properties such as the Gill Tract and the
Richmond Ficld Station. Non-University agencies will be
removed from campus space.

Building Location, Design, and Use. Central campus build-
ings will be constructed to the maximum size that the
building sites permit, consistent with need and local
topographic conditions. Related departments will be lo-
cated in building clusters where possible, for reasons of
acsthetics, efficiency, and convenicnce of staff and stu-
dents. Obsolete and temporary buildings will be removed,
und the over-all density of buildings to land arca on the
central campus will be limited to 25%.

Landscape, Regional Scenio Assets, and Historical Features.
Every measure will be taken to preserve the beauties of
the natural setting of the campus. The natural groves and
woodlands along Strawberry Creek will set the prevailing
feeling for campus landscape, modified by a few arcas of
formal character, such as Campanile Esplanade and the Min-
ing Circle. Advantage will be taken of views of the Gold-
en Gate, San Francisco Bay, the Berkeley Hills, and other
scenic assets wherever pussible in building siting and cam-
pus design. llistorical features, such as South lfall, the
President's llouse, Founders' Rock, llearst Mining Circle,
and Sather Gate, will be preserved.

Circulation and Parking. A system of pedestrian ways and
gathering arveas will facilitate travel on foot throughout
the campus. Pedestrian and vehicular traffic will be
separated insofur as possible, and vehicular controls will
be maintained aut cuampus entrances to prohibit through traf-
fic. Surface parking will be confined 10 asreas limited in
size. Some curb parking on the campus will he necessary,
but it will be reduced for reasens of safety and aesthetics.
Additional parking facilities will be provided mderground
or in open-deck structure., wherever feasible in order to
mithe optimum use of costly land.

Land Acquisition. Land in the immediate vicinity of the
campus will be acquired only for functions requiring cen-
tral campus proximity. The needs of major commercial,

religious, and institutional organizations using property



within expansion arcas will be given the utmost consider-
arion counsistent with the weltare ol the Mniversity.

tniversity-City Relutionships.  Continuing lisison will be
maintained with officials of the City of Berkeley and
other nearby communitices to help resolve development
problems ol wutual concern.
in vrder (o maintain the site coverage ratio of 25% which had been

sel Tor the central campus, and still meet sew nceds, the following
28 buildings were slated for removal.

lemoval Project Proposed Site Uce
*Anthropology Muscun Physical Sciences
Architecture Enginecring
Avt Gallery Landscape; Parking
*Bacon Hall Physics
*Nand Landscapo
*Cafeteria Arch.,L.Avch., and C.GR.P.
Callaghan lal) . Military Sciences § Armory
*Chemistry Chemistry
City 5 Regional Planning (Naval Arch.) Engineering
*Corporation Yard Fields 4§ Courts;Parking
Cowell llospital Annex Cowcll llospital
*Decorative Arts b§ Annex Landscape
*Faculty Club Garages Landscape; Parking
*Freshman Chemistry Laboratory Chemistry
Architects § Engincers Bldg. Landscape; Parking
*landball Courts Landscape
*llothouses & Greenhouses (part) sychology; liducation
*Mechanics Lagincering
*Music Landscape; Parking
*Observatory Student-Paculty Center;lLandscape
*01d Radiation Laboratory Chemistiy
South llall Amnex Landscape
*sStorchouse (Barrow Lane) Landscape; Parking
Tl - 13 Undergraduate Library;Classrooms
4 - TY Landscape
STH0 - Tl T20 - 122 Landscape ]
T2 garth Scicnces
L ) Engineering
Y Landscape; Parking Campus Development Plan

Aphese buildings weve actually removed.

An important clement of the 1956 Plan was its recognition of the
cfforts of the City of Berkeley Liaison Committee. This was headed,
from 1953 to 1957, by William W. Wurster. Among the many divisive
issues faced by the two committees were: University-generated strect
congestion, student parking, University cxcmption from zoning and
building regulations, University penctration of the central business
district, and the provision of municipal services for the campus.

Out of a lengthy process of negotiation came a recognition of the Uni-




versity's contributions and its obligations to the community around
it. I effect, the tniversity agreed to enpape in couperative plan-
g with the City in respect to parking and vehicular circulation
and to revise its program of land acquisition in order to respect
the commercial development in arcas immediately adjacent to the cam-
pus.  Other issues such as the visual ¢ffect of new University
buildings on the community and the visual integration of the city
and the campus through landscaping were also stated as joint con-
cerns. A major unresolved issue was the control of Gayley Road,
Campus landscaping became another important issue. The Plan stat-
cd that "the landscape design of the campus should retain its natural
informal appearance. A continuing replanting program is in operation
for replacing over-age trees, especially the vak, bay and cuculyptus
trees that give the campus its distinguished California setting."
Arvcas ol particular concern for their natural qualities were listed
a#s: Strawberry Creck, the Central Glade, the lLucalyptus Grove, Obh-
servatory Will and Faculty Glade. Although a systematic maintenance
awl replacement program was indicated, it was not implemented. Final-
ly, in the 1956 Plan the University made a clesr commitment to accom-
modating the private automobile as the principal means of circulation
and access to the campus; there was no mention of alternatives.

A P\,q

S5
{
b,

Looking up Central Glade

13

The BOOM of the Sixties

By 1960 enrollment was 22,000 and still increasing. The amount
of space in academic buildings had increased to 4.4 million sq. ft.,
ncarly double that of the pre-war period. One reaction to this boom
was that the first high-rise buildings appearcd on the drawing boards.

Major buildings erected in response to the needs stated in the
1956 P'lan were: lertz, Morrison und Krocber Halls, 1958-59, placed
in the southcast precinct of the campus designated for the Arts;
Campbell llall, 1959, in the area designated for the Physical Scicnces;
the Earth Sciences Building, 1901, flanking Observatory Nill in the
Enginecring section; and Tolman Hall, 1962, in the northwest section
of the campus which was reserved for Agriculture, Conservation and
Life Sciences. Only the first three of these buildings observed the
original height limit; the others were built in accordance with the
second principle of the plan, one which made a vague reference to
consistency with need and local topographic conditions as conditions
for judging “maximum size." The design of these buildings reflects
no clear attitude toward architectural continuity. Red tile roofs
und roctangular volumes preserve some vestige of the original archi-
tectural character, but in general the buildings echo the contempo-
rary modular, functionalist approach to design. Their resemblance
to office buildings was rcinforced by floor plans which did not pro-
vide lounges and common areas for social use by students and faculty.
Instead, the cellular, dehuminized character of most of these struc-
tures epitomized the general anomie of the "Multiversity," as de-
scribed by President Clark Kerr:

It [the Multiversity] is more a mechanism--a series of pro-
cesses producing a series of results--a mechanism held to-
gether by administrative rules and powered by money.

"The Idca of a Multiversity" is a city of infinite variety,
Some get lost in the city; some rise to the top within it;
most fashion their lives within one of its many subcultures.
There is less sense of comnunity than in the village but
also less sense of confinement. There is less sense of
purposc than within the town but there are more ways to ex-
cel. There are also more refuges of anonymity--both for
the creative person und the drifter. As against the vil-
lage and the town, the "city" is more like the totality

of civilization as it has evolved and more an integral

part of it; and movement to and from the surrounding soci-
ety has been greatly accelerated. As in a city, there

are many scparate endcavors under a single rule of law.

y far the most significant result of the 1956 Plan, in both social
and physical terms, was the student center complex. The result of a
1957 competition the award winniug project by DeMars and Reay pro-
duced an important realignment of campus circulation and a major
public space on the south side of the campus. The events of the 1964
Free Speech Movement made this space an international symbol.



The 1962 Plan

The 1960 Master Plan for Higher Education in California, proposcd
by ‘The Repents and President Clark Kerr, reflected growing concern
that the graceful campus cnvironment and the semsc of community would
be lost if growth on the main campus was unrestrained, Proposed con-
struction of three new campusces was intended to relicve the pressure
on the Berkeley and U.C.L.A. campuses. The Berkcley Campus Academic
Plan proposed a student population of 27,500 with the Graduate Divi-
sion to pradusily grow to 45% of that figure.

fevisional studies of the 1956 Plan had begun about a year after
its upproval. A uumber of committees representing broad participa-
tion by the campus commmity were convened and they began to assess
the relevant provisions of the Plan. The most influential of these
was the Landscape Subcommittee. The first action taken by this com-
mittee was to review a landscape plan from Lawrence Halprin. This
plan made such striking recommendations as returning much of the cam-
pus to truce hative planting, excluding lawns, and planting trees in
the parking lots. Though officially recorded, this plan was never
adopted.  Then, about 1957, Thomas Church was commissioned to make
series of landscape plans for the campus. These were adopted und were
later published as part of the 1962 Long Range Development Plan. They
included:  the designation of significant open arcas such as Cumpanile
Esplanade, the Student Center Complex und related squares in front of
bDwinelle and Wheeler, the University llouse Gardens, and the West Cres-
cent and Springer Gate for formal, urban trcatment; the relocation of
University (formerly Axis) Wrive to the north in order to create vis-
tas to the Life Sciences Building and the Main Library; special land-
scape treatment for the major campus entrances (this was carried out
at College Avenue, Telegraph Avenue, and Springer Gate but not at
Hearst Avenue), and within the central campus area lundscape elements
such as fountains and sculpture.

Existing vistas werc to be rcinforced and new oncs opened up. An
example of the latter was the demolition of the Crocker Laboratory and
the lowering of the grade (only half completed) between llearst Mining
Circle and Strawberry Creek to the south to create a vista toward Fac-
ulty Glade. Major tree pruning wuas carried out along the north branch
of Strawberry Creek to open up vistas to the Campanile and centor of
campus. Tolwan Hall was constructed with a bridge connccting the two
wings of the building to permit a view as well as a gate from Arch
Street into the campus. Barrows lall was to have a similar “hole" at
the ground level to preserve a campus view, but later plans were re-
vised to climinate it. Sowe clements of the Church Plan were ad-
dressed to joint city campus issues. These included landscaping of
arcas where the University impinged upon the community, the develop-
ment of Lndscaping and pedestrian and horse trails in Strawberry Can-
yon and new planting on the hills cast of the campus where the new
centers tur nuclear rescarch were growing.

The revised 1962 Long lMange bevelopment Plan differs little in its
stated principles from that of 1956. Academic and Rescarch Require-

ments included the growing need for rescarch facilities in the upper
hill areas as well as development of tacilities in off campus centers.
As @ result of the landscape subcommittee review a new scction titled
“Small Scale Design Llements® pave attention to strect furniture and
regulutory signs as matters of acsthetic importance. Circulation and
Parking recommended study of alternates to the automobile bLut remiained
substantially the sume as did Land Acquisition and Campus Community
Relationships. The major proposals of the 1962 Plan continued the di-
rection of the proposals of 1956:

1) Acceptance of high rise structures #s a means to meot
space necds while preserving the 25% coverage.

2) Reinforcement of the principle of clustering buildings
of the same discipline.

3) Introduction of a group of major new buildings including
Moffitt Library and Evans llall within the major space
called for in all previous plans.

4) Creation of a series of multi-level parking structures,

topped with recreational facilities, around the perimeter
of the campus.



The Campus Today

1962 to the Present

buring the past 15 years, most ol the physical proposals of the pre-
vious plans have been completed:  the campus as a social institution
has weathered the assault of a socicty in crisis. The 1962 Plan re-
mains the only plan of record, hut the failure to implement its mecha-
nisms for continued re-cvaluation has drained it of all force.

The carly 1960's was a time of high optimism. Funds were steadily
increasing to provide teaching and research space; the Student Center
had just opencd, providing one of the most pleusant and urbane environ-
ments in the country; and housing was available in reasonable quantity
and quality.

The change to u densely populated campus with massive, often anony-
mous structures and an impersonal burcaucracy wias a cause of growing
unrest. Many of the new structures were large. They were rushed into
Place to mcet pressing needs but many were not high quality designs and
they were not often sited with sensitivity. The Frce Specch Movement
of 1964, its sit-ins and, later, the anti-war movement had profound in-
fluences on the campus cnviroument. For several years, the new high-
rise dormitories were relatively vacant because students considered
the buildings and the regulations governing life in them too "institu-
tional." Protests were lodged against demolition of any structure
that was old and small and against the construction of any new, large
structure. Changes in administration brought new people, unfamiliar
with carlier tradition and mechanisms, into leadership positions.

Mcanwhile, before the budget reversals of the 1970¢*s, 2.5 million
square fect of space was added - Wurster llall, Barrows Hall, Evans
Hall, the University Art Museum, Zellerbach Auditorium - to make a
total of 7 million square feet. The built space on campus had doubled
in only twenty years.

With the end of this growth period, planning and design have
shifted to improving the use of existing space, to making all facili-
ties accessible to handicapped persons, and to developing a workable
and equitable parking system. Research units have moved off the cam-
pus into a variety of structures such as the Anna llead School which
serve as adaptable structures for institutions in flux. A new set of
pressures and goals exists. Among them are energy conservation, his-
torical continuity, ecology, and a broad participation in decision
making. The need and the desire to involve all of the campus commini-
ty in our future activities promises to bring richness and diversity
to what we do.

The development of the campus and its constant improvement as un
environment for work, study, and recreation continues to pose an cx-
citing challenge. The need to ciarefully rcemove the old as we add to
the new; the need to add to the campus without a reduction in amenity;
the nced to preserve, restore and conserve; uand the need to make the
campus safe and accessible are challenges to our creativity.



HISTORIC ELEMENTS

Planning, Planting, and Design

"It is the desire of those who have charge of
this enterprise, to treat the grounds and buildings
together..." .
- Bernard Maybeck
Background

The Campus llistoric Resources Survey is dirccted at two broad ques-
tions: How was the Berkeley campus conceived und developed; and llow
can future developments draw streagth from its roots?

While the first phase of the study focusced on buildings, a concur-
rent study has been the documentation of other physical resources:
the grouping of buildings, the spaces between bui ldings, and the land-
scuping and plantings of the campus. The two studies are of equal im-
portance.

Stitl very much in process, the sccond study has focused on the long
tradition of landscape architecture on the Berkeley campus. The carly
concepts of Olmsted and loward placed the first buildings in a formal
group at the heart of the campus bounded by picturesque and parklike
planting and the cxisting natural growth along Strawberry Creek. ‘The
formality of the buildings®' neoclassic style, modificd by such Califor-
nia motifs as red tile roofs, was reinforced by their siting on graded
landforms or plinths. lloward's “acropolis' continues to form the core
of the campus; the formal squares and vistas he set out remain an im- R
portant clement of the hervitage of the campus. The other important Dwmelle Plaza
clement of this heritage is the landscaping and building along the
branches of Strawberry Creek which bound this formal core. In these
landscaped arcas, informal structures of simple materials are carefully
related to the natural landforms and picturesque planting. They merge
with their serting instead of dominating it. Thus one of the most sig-
nificant aspects of the carly campus development is this complementari-
ty of the formal and informal.

Faculty Glade

1A



Landscape Elements

The Nerkeley campus has a long tradition of outstanding landscape
architecture. Early work by Olmsted and John Gregg has been followed
by some of the best of contemporary priactitioners.

A preliminary analysis of planning and design elements on the campus
identifFies some of the most important of the landscaped spaces, vistas,
and features which form its heritage. This survey conducted by Russell
Beatty and some of his landscape architecture students identifies some
of these and ranks them on the basis of the following criteria:

- Rare or unique native or ornamental trees

- Rare or unique native or ornamental groves

The work of an important landscape designer

- A landmark or visually important treec or grove

- An historic site

- Creates an important space or is an elcment of
an important general concept

The following list identifies a few of the most important landscape
resources:

MAJOR OPEN SPACES

Faculty Glade

. ' Lower Central Glade (north of LSB)
Looking down Campanile Way Upper Central Glade

West Entrance

NATIVE and EXOTIC or INTRODICED GROVES

Canary lslands Pine Grove at Campanile
Ouks North of llarmon Gymnasium

ledwood Grove West of the Music Complex
The Observatory Ilill Oak Woodland

The Eucalyptus Grove

Mixed Group West of Stadium

The Wickson Redwood Grove

INDIVIDUAL NATIVE and INTRODUCED TRELS

Ginkgo East of Giannini llall

Buckeye at Faculty Glade

Willey Tree in ltedwood Grove

The Palm North of Moffitt (part of old Botanic Gardens)

IMPORTANT NATURAL FEATURES

Strawberry Canyon and Creek, South and North Forks
Founders Rock
Observatory Hill

ADDED DESIGN FEATURES

1910 Bridge
FFlagstone Paths
The Original Botanic Gardens (site of T Buildings)




Work of Outstanding Landscape Architects

Piedmont Avenue (Olmsted)

Campanile Esplanade

Agricultural Complex

Student Union Complex (Halprin, DeMars)

Some of these clements have suffered badly through recent invasions
and insensitive siting. (The great bulk of Lvans lall, intruding into
the wajor open corcidor from the Mining Circle to the Golden Gate, is
one example.  ‘The more modest intrusion of Moffitt Library is another.
The recent addition of Minor llull, crowded into the green space against
the Men's Faculty Club, shows that we have Jearned little fram experi-
ence.)  Other spaces have suffered from poor or insensitive maintenance,
relegation to use as parking arcas, or (like the small Japanese garden
along the creck to the north of the Life Sciences Building) have become
lorgotten and overgrown. Too often delicate paving has becn insensi-
tively patched or converted to asphalt, and grand promenades (Campanile
Wiay) have been regraded, vepaved, and converted to service alleys. Lle-
ments as disparate as Sather Gate, some of the older wooden bridpes,
Founder's Rock, Faculty Glade, and the sensitive stone pathways in the
grove between Harmon and the Life Sciences Building must be recognized,
presevved, and protected. Great spaces (the courtyard of the Agricul-
ture complex) must be rvecognized and reclaimed from usc as parking lots,
and less powerful but equally important terraces such as that in front
of the old brick Power llouse on the Creck must be cared for. Areas of
exceptional planting (the old Botanical Gardens arca now occupied by
the T-Buildings just north of the Campunile Promenade) must be re-
claimed. The very special formal planting around University llouse must
be preserved and made accessible for appropriate use, and the urban
chavacter of areas such as Sproul Pluza and the plaza hetween lLeConte
and Gilman Nalls must be appreciated and maintained.

/ rd
» . " -
Laurels, Strawberry Creek Giannini Courtyard / ¥ ///7 y
Future years must scee a greater semsitivity to all of these impor- / v I
tant spaces and clements, and an improvement in vigilence, intensity ; 4
and sensitivity of the Campus maintenance. Observatory Hill Oak Woodland
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CAMPUS PRECINCTS

2
o®

1. Humanities, Administration,
and Student Services

2. Engineering and Earth Sciences

3. Math and Physical Sciences

4. Housing, Sports, and
Cultural Facilities

5. Professional Schools

6. Arts Complex

7. Sports and Student Activities

8. Agriculture, Conservation,
and Life Sciences

20
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1 Humanities, Administration,

1. Campanile

(Sather Tower)
. Doe Memorial Library
Moffitt Undergraduate
Library
Bancroft Library
California Hall
Durant Hall
Wheeler Hall
. Dwinelle Hall
Dwinelle Annex
. Student Union
. Campus Commons

. Architects and Engineers

. Sproul Hall
. Haviland Hall

. University House

. South Hall

. South Hall Annex

. Temporary Buildings
. Stephens Hall

. Men’s Faculty Club
. Women'’s Faculty Club
. Senior Men’s Hall

and Student Services

22
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Campanile (Sather Tower)

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description
PR

The Campanile is a free version of its
namesake in the Piazza San Marco. The gran-
ite shaft with inset central section has 7
slit windows and a clock at the top. The
observation loggia above has a Classically
detailed balustrade and 3 open arches. A
Classic entablature supports another balus-
trade with 4 corner posts having pyramidal
obelisks capped with bronze urns. Within
is a smaller tower element which terminates
in a bronze, spiked lantern. The Campanile
is set on a raised podium with Classical
balustrades around the corners. The Espla-
nade, edged on 3 sides with hedges, extends
N and has 3 flights of steps on its raised
sides. Six rows of pollarded plane trees
are set in squares of grass, interspersed
with herringbone brick walks. At the cen-
tral intersection are a drinking fountain
and 4 benches. Before the entrance to the
tower is a granite square inscribed to J.G.
lloward. At the entrance is a steel-framed
cunopy designed by Gardner bailey.

1914
Venetian Gothic
John Galen Howard

$250,000
Regents
Memorial tower
and carillon
same

steel

granite

8,600

10

belvedere and
lantern at top

Building History

Memorial to Mrs. Jane K. Sather: widely
known landmark, nicknamed for its resem-
blance to St. Mark's Campanille in Venice,
Ttaly: Chimes cast by John Taylor & Sons,
Loughborough, England; delivery delayed by
World War 1; first played Nov. 2, 1917;
dedicated Charter Day, 1918.

Evaluation
IlIIlIllIllllllllllIllllllllllllllllllllllllll

Though the design of Sather Tower makes
a significant contribution to the campus
architecture, the structure's historical
and environmental merits extend to the
broader community of Berkeley and the Bay
Area as a whole, where the tower has long
been a landmark both for residents and vis-
itors. Together with the Esplanade, the
Campanile is the central campus shrine.

The building is recommended for nomi-
nation to the State Landmarks Commission
and the National Register.
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Doe Memorial Library

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material;

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

- Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

Built in 2 stages, Doe Library consists
of the earlier E-W block containing the
lobby sequence and the original loan hall,
and the later N-W wing with the present
loan hall, the stacks and offices and ser-
vice areas. The E-W block is a granite-
faced, monumentally scaled structure sited
on a regraded platform near the center of
campus. The lower part of the structure
is divided into a fenestrated basement
floor resting on a rusticated base stopped
by a bolection molding. Above, the loan
hall rises 2 stories culminating on the
interior in a barrel-vaulted, coffered
ceiling studded with rosette pateras, and
on the exterior in a tiled gabled roof.

" The N elevation of the loan hall is artic-
ulated by a wide floor sill supporting 16
engaged, fluted columns, whose composite
caps feature serpents and open books.

The columns are paired at the corners and
on either side of the central bay. Between
the paired columns are vertical panels

25

1911, 1917
Neo-Classic
John Galen Howard

$1,439,000

Regents

Main Library § Documents Collec.
same plus Library of SE Asia,
Art Hist.Dept. ,Morrison Read.Rm.
steel frame, reinforced concrete
Raymond granite, bronze, tile
463,600

multiple

Office of Architects § Engineers
1950,internal remodeling of work
spaces and stacks

ornamental detail in carved s
stone and bronze;original Loan
Room ceiling,lobby stair,present
Loan Room ceiling

carved with bound garlands of fruits and
flowers, and pateras. The entrance compo-
sition has a stone portal approached by a
broken flight of semicircular steps. The
portal is ornamented with pateras and a
bead-and-reel molding. The lintel, in-
scribed "The University Library," has a
running fret and dentil course beneath the
broad, flat hood supported by large, S-
shaped consoles. Above, the cornice has a
bronze crest of anthemions and palmettes.
The doors are bronze and glass set in a
patterned grid. A bronze bust of Minerva
with rinceaux sits above the door. Above
the portal are 2 Ionic columns set on
either side of a bronze-framed window
which, with the other 10 windows set be-
tween the columns to either side, lights
the interior. Above the arched windows is
the entablature, with a *"double key" frieze
and dentil course. The molded cornice has
simple modillions on its soffit.

The E and W facades have pediments with

multiple fasciae and a dentil course.
pedinents are broken by a great arched
window with bronze frame and rosette boss-
es like the windows on the N side. The
soffits are punctuated with large pateras.
To either side are fluted pilasters with
capitals like those of the W side columns
except that a flower replaces the book.
Beneath the windows, the floor sill bears

a small balcony with balustrade and a glass
door behind. The cornice has a bronze
crest with running anthemions and palmettes
and antifixae.

Beside the lobby and stair sequence, the
ground floor holds the Morrison Reading
Room, a large, comfortably furnished, wood-
paneled room, The present Loan Hall is
distinguished by a handsome polychromed,
wood-carved ceiling in an Italian Renais-
sance style.

The



Building History

{0000 e S

In 1904 the University received $779,000
from the cstate of Charles Franklin loe to
build a library. llowever, construction was
delayed by the 1906 earthquake and the sub-
sequent devaluation of the San Francisco
rcal estate in the bequest. Additional
funding of $525,000 from a state bond issuve
made completion possible by 1917, Doe, a
manutacturcer of doors and sashes, had lit-
tle previous connection with the Univer-
sity, but was a bibliophilc.

Librarian Joseph €. Rowell introduced
the idea of the central stack core rather
than Jdivided stack areas. This idea influ-
enced the design of other librarices such as
those at llarvard, Minnesota, Michigan, cte.
President Benjamin tde Wheeler also had
strong ideas about the design.  Though pdr-
tial to Greek as vpposcd to Roman Classi-
cism, Wheeler Tinally acquiesced, according
to the W, C. tlays Oral Nistory in the li-
brary, to the design of an essentially
ftoman temple form.  Another most important

contribution, according to the llays ac-
count, was the structural engineering of
John Debo Galloway.

TIE BANCROFT LIBRARY (DOE ANNEX)

A reinforced concrete structure which
shares the Noe-Classic style of Doe but not
its ornamentation. Built in 1949, the
ground floor interiors were rcmodeled in
1973 by Skidmore, Owings § Merrill.

The Doe Library Collection is the 8th
largest in the country. Among the special
collections are the Mark Twain Papers; the
vast periodicals collection has some of the
longest running subscriptions in the coun-
try. Room 303 was once the location of the
Library of French Thought, a collection do-
nated by France after the 1915 Pan-Pacific
Lxposition. It is now occupied by lnter-
Library Loan.

Evaluation

e

Conceived as the physical and intellec-
tual centerpiece of the campus, the 1911
portion of Due remains the most powerful
architectural symbol of the original campus
concept. Future plans for alterations of
the library should give highest priority to
preserving this part intact.

A luxurious use of materials and detail
combined with forceful siting and design
plus fine original interiors: entry hall,
original rcading and loan hall, Morrison
Library, and the ceiling of the prescnt
loan room give Doe Library a national ar-
chitectural significance.

ltistorically and environmentally, Doe
merits the highest rating becausc of its
central importance to the original campus
nucleus and its cvocation of the Parthenon,
symholizing the early University's aspira-
tion to be the "Athens of the West.*

The building is recommended for nomina-
tion to the State Landmurks Commission and
the National Register,
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Moftitt Undergraduate Library

Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Orriginal Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1968

Modern

John Carl Warnecke
& Associates

$2,997,000
Regents

Undergrad Library
sane

concrete

concrete

120,000

5

structure and
landscaping

Description

A rcinforced concrete pavilion whose §
floors are cantilevered waffle slaps sup-
ported by a post and beam system. Proximity
to the Main Library was the reason for its
siting just SW of the main EW axis.

Building History

Named for James K. Moffitt '86, Regent
(1911-48), 1ife-long benefactor of Universi-
ty Library.

Evaluation

Architecturally a well-designed, con-
crete structure with gracious yet utilitar-
ian spaces; its balconies, unfortunately,
remain unused for security reasons. No par-
ticular historical significance. Though
sensitively set into the ground and well
landscaped, the structure intrudes upon the
main E-W axis.



-

Description
e
A reintforced concrete structure which

shares the Neo-Classic style of Doe, but
pot its ornamentation. Built in 1959, the
ground floor interiors were remodeled in
1973 by Shidmore, Owings & Merrill.

The building houses the Bancroft Library,
specializing in the history of the Western
United States (acquired in 1905), the Rare
Books Collection, and the University
Archives.

Building History
See Description

Evaluation

The Bancroft Library, formerly Doe
Annex, is an harmonious design of more
Spartan character, with a handsome con-
temporary interior.

Bancroft Library

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

1949
Stripped Classical
Arthur Brown, Jr.

$1.956,000

Regents

Doe Annex

rare books § manuscripts library

-reinforced concrete

granite § terra cotta
463,600 with Doe

3 :

Skidmore Owings § Merrill
remodelled ground floor
e
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California Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:
Prescnt Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1905
Neoclassic
John Galen lioward

$269, 000

Regents

administration (1905-41)
Chancellor's Office,

classrooms, Grad.Div.
steel frame

Raymond granite § red tile
56,400
3

Germano Milano § Assoc.
1968
skylight and facades

Architect John Galen Howard described
California Uall as follows: "In style the
building is a free study of modified clas-
sic forms without recodrse to the much
over-used and, in fact, much abused colum-
nar orders. An attempt has been made to
realize in this building a type of archi-
tecture characteristic to Central Califor-
nia."

To achicve a regional expression, lloward
had the 200* x 70' block sheathed in the
local Raywond granite and roofed with red
tite. ‘the E and principal W-facing facades
arc nearly identical. The rusticated and
fenestrated basement is stopped by a boldly
scialed molding. On the walls above, the
smooth granite is laid in alternate broad
aml narrow courses. ‘The entablature begins
with o fricze of rosctte pateras followed
by a dentil course. The soffit of the
molded cornice has mutules alternating with
inscet rosettes. The tiled hip roof culmi-
nates in a long, raised skylight with an
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claborate copper frame and acroteria along
the ridge.

The E and W facades have a central
entrance bay with 5 bays to either side,
whose width reflects the 15' x 25' room
module. The main floor windows have flat
molded hoods on angled brackets detailed
like mutules. Bound foliate forms fill the
frieze panels above the casement windows.
The central bay has 3 small 2nd floor win-
dows over a monumentally scaled entrance,
An claborate molded frame surrounds the
doorway, which is set in a decp reveal in-
scribed with a variety of ornament. Above,
"California Nall" is incribed in a panel.
The whole is surmounted by a flat, molded
hood supported by brackets similar to those
on the window hoods. The soffit has modil-
lions resembling over-scaled dentils. The
duuble doors of golden ouk have glass set
in a diagonal lattice frame of metal.

The N and S facades arc 3 bays wide, and
are detailed like the E and W facades.

Each has an entrance with windows to either
side. 3

The building is set on a plinth which is
bermed on the W side with a flight of steps
descending to a gravel path leading to a
circle with a flagpole. The landscaping on
the W side is more or less as lloward
planned it. As the campus circulation has
evolved, the E entrance receives more traf-
fic than the W which was intended as the
main entrance. The interior has been dras-
tically remodeled.



Building History

In Howard's opinion, the architectural
expression of California Hall had great
significance because it symbolized the
California version of the Classic ideal in
a building of central importance to the
University.

California Hall was constructed to be
permanent, fireproof and flexible. "It has
been built to be permanent, and it will be
permanent as the Parthenon has been perma-
nent, and will be used by generations of
students hundreds of years hence." At the
same time, it was constructed so that its
interior arrangements could be readily al-
tered if necessary. The rooms are divided
by partitions of metal studding, wire lath
and fireproof plaster. The exterior of the
building was faced with Raymond granite, as
were the other major buildings designed by
lioward before the First World War. loward
specified equally fine materials for the
interior such as solid oak and mahogany
furnishings and marble wainscoting for the

lobby. A cork carpet was specified for the
floors to increase walking comfort and di-
minish noise.

Classrooms on the main floor were in-
tended for use by the listory, Political
Economy and Commerce Departments. A large
lecture hall seating 500 was located at the
N end of the main floor. An entrance be-
hind the specaker's podium made it possible
to use the tiny stage for plays. This lec-
ture hall was removed during the last major
renovation of the building.

Administrative offices occupied the
second floor. The wide, skylit corridor
was inspired "by the plan of the atrium of
an ancient Roman house."

In 1906, the attic that had originally
been intended as storage space was fitted
with steel bookshelves to become the home
of The Bancroft Library, previously located
in San Francisco. The interior has been
drastically altered.

Evaluation

Although the interior has lost its
original character, the exterior of the
building is unaltered and exemplifies the
disciplined richness initially envisioned
for campus buildings. Its high architec-
tural merit is matched by its historic
importance to the University, which still
uses it as the administrative center of
the Berkeley campus. The relationship of
California Hall to the other lloward build-
ings in this original core of the Univer-
sity is also of prime importance.

The building is recommended for nomi-
nation to the State Landmarks Commission
and the National Register.
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Durant Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Orriginal use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

The former Boalt Hall is a small, rec-
tangular, granite-faced block on the S side
of Campanile Way opposite California Hall.
It was designed to complement its neighbor
in respect to use of materials and general
form. Each facade has a triple horizontal
and vertical division. The horizontal di-
vision consists of an inset central section
and end bays.

The longer E and W sides have a central
section consisting on the ground floor of 3
windows with inset frames, projecting sills
and segmental, molded hoods. Decorative
motifs of bound foliate forms occupy the
frieze panels above the windows. The top
floor windows of the central section con-
sist of 3 paired windows divided by Doric
columns in deep reveals. The central bays
are divided by unfluted pilasters which
project slightly from the wall plane. The
end sections of the wall have double-hung
windows in plain recessed frames with pro-
jecting sills. The corners of the building
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1911
Classical
John Galen Howard

$163,000

Regents

Boalt School of Law

Dept. of Oriental Language
and East Asiatic Library
steel & granite

granite

24,000

2

Classical detail in granite and
bronze, ornamental detail, library
interior

have the same capitals and bases as the in-
ner pilasters but no shafts.

Entrances with short flights of steps
are on the N and S facades. The glazed
doors are set in wood frames studded with
metal rosette pateras. Above are high wood
framed transoms with 5 lights. The molded
door frames have a band of egg-and-dart
ornament under a flat, molded hood support-
ed by large "S" curved consoles with vo-
lutes and foliate forms. Above are 3
windows grouped and dctailed like the cor-
responding ones on the E and W sides. The
end bays are blank.

The entablature begins with a Greek key
frieze above which is the cornice with an
over-scaled cyma recta molding. The soffit
has modillions in the form of a cluster of
"keys." The tiled hip roof culminates in
a raised skylight with an ornate copper
frame.

The main floor has a wide, vaulted,
double-loaded hall lit by large bronze

Roman lamps with 3 flame-like bulbs. The
trifurcated entrance stairway has a wide
central run to the main floor and 2 side
runs to the basement. A stairway on the S
side leads to the 3rd floor library. This
is a two-story space lif by a skylight and
hanging lamps. On the E and W sides, Doric
columns of yellow marble support an entab-
lature which defines a central space sepa-
rate from the E and W reading sections and
the stacks. The latter rise through the
4th floor, which wraps around the central
library space and is lit by clerestory
windows. Furnishings are original.



am

Building History

Boalt Hall (now Durant Hall) was built
as a memorial to Judge John H. Boalt from a
gift of $100,000 given by Mrs. Elizabeth J,
Boalt, and $50,000 subscribed by California
lawyers. The building was supposed to be
one of two buildings which were planned to
balance California Hall. (The other was
Philosophy Hall, on the site of the present
Dwinelle Plaza.) Boalt Hall was designed
to be the same width as California Hall.

The building housed the law school from
1911 to 1951. The ground floor was planned
to house club rooms and service spaces,
while the main floor contained lecture and
debating rooms. The third floor and the
fourth floor loft under the sloping tile
roof constituted the Lawyers' Memorial

flall. This consisted of stack space for
90,000 volunes and a centril two-story
skylit reading room with meeting rooms
and instructors' offices ncarby. It was
hoped that Boalt would beccome the Western

rival of llarvard and Colunbia in the East.

The building is now occupied by the
Department of Oriental Languages, and the
East Asjatic Library occupies the space
once known as the Lawyers' Memorial llall.

The building was renamed in 1951 for
llenry Durant, the first President of the
University of California.

s e

Evaluation
IlIlllIlllIllllIllIIIlIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

Architecturally, one of the most impor-
tant campus buildings. The design reveals
lloward's considerable talent for restruc-
turing the Classic vocabulary of form and
detail. It also contains one of the few
original interiors which exemplifies the
high standards observed in the construction
of early University buildings.

Historically, Durant's chief merit is
its relationship to the original campus
nucleus, its setting as the first home of
the Law School, and its name, which com-
memorates the third president of the
University.

Environmentally, Durant plays a crucial
role in the westward extension of Campanile
Way, balancing California Hall and enfor-
cing the N-S axis of Sather Road.

The building is recommended for noqi-
nation to the State Landmarks Commission
and the National Register.
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Wheeler Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1917
Neo-Classic
John Galen Howard

$715,994

Regents

auditorium and classrooms for
humanities and social sciences,
faculty offices

same

steel frame

granite

119,000

3 and 4

DeMars and Wells/

1973, rebuilt auditorium after
1969 fire

S facade and auditorium

—

A massive, four-story, granite-sheathed
block just W of South Hall, Wheeler is
aligned with the main campus axis. Only
the projecting end bays of the E and W ele-
vations break the square plan. The princi-
pal facade faces S, toward Strawberry
Creek. This facade is divided into a
slightly projecting, central portion of 9
bays flanked by secondary blocks with tiled
hip roofs and quoins. A flight of steps
running into the slope creates a partial
plinth for the building and levels the
site. Horizontally, the central part of
the facade has 3 zones: a rusticated base
with 9 deeply recessed, arched entrance
doors leading to the lobby; a middle, two-
story zone with a shallow colonnaded gal-
lery in a modified, giant Ionic order,
framed by end bays with 2 pairs of Ionic
Pilasters on either side of round-headed,
recessed windows; and an attic story set
back from the Classic entablature with 6
monumental urns over the columns below.
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The attic story follows the plan of the
middle zone and is detailed in a Classic
style.

The interior on the SW side is occupied
by a lobby and a large auditorium with a
wide hall around its periphery. The second
and third floors also have hallways provid-
ing circulation for the balcony.

Wheeler also houses the English Dept.
and a large number of classrooms used by
other departments.

e®

e



Building History

Wheeler Hlall marked another stage in the
growth of the University. From an 1899 cn-
rollment of 2500, the University grew, dur-
ing Benjamin lde Wheeler's tenure, to 6000
students by 1916. Wheeler Hall provided
office space and classrooms for many de-
partments, including: Economics, Education,
English, Greek, Mathematics and Political
Scicnce.  The English bDepartment, which
subsequently moved to bwinelle llall when it
was completed in 1952, returned in 1964 and
touk over the majority of Wheeler's office
space.

Wheeler Hall symbolized the coming of
apge of the University. North ilall, which
had acted as a hind of student union where
students could talk to professors informal-
Iy, had been the major classroom building
in carlicer days. As President Wheeler re-
warked at the dedication on 16 May 1917
"It is peculiar as a building because it
has handed over cleverly the spirit of the
old small coliege into the kecpership of

the new large university....The small col-
lege of Oakland came over to North Hall,
North Hall kept its spirit and has passed
it over to this building."

The Classical style is in keeping with
lloward*s earlier wonumental structures
such as Doe Library. In 1917, architect
and critic Irving F. Morrow thought it
demonstructed the best French Classical
characteristics: "...unity, clarity, re-
straint, poise, centrality of intent pur-
sued with a calculated economy of means."
lle felt it was altogether fitting for an
educational building.

Named for the University's cighth
President, Wheeler was the first building
named for a living person.

Evaluation
IlllIIIlIlllIllllIlllllllllllllllllllllll

Architccturally, Wheeler demonstrates
the same high qualities which architect and
critic Irving Morrow attributed to it in
1917: "...unity, clarity, restraint, poise,
centrality of inteat pursued with a calcu-
lated cconomy of means." The S facade is a
particularly fine example of the eclectic
Classic styling of the Bcaux Arts tradi-
tion.

listorically, Wheeler commemorates onc
of the University's most important presi-
dents, Benjamin Ide Wheeler, and was named
for him during his lifetime. It is rich in
associntional values, having been the larg-
est lecture hall on campus prior to the
construction of Dwinelle llall.

As part of the oviginal campus nucleus,
Wheeler reinforces both the Campanile axis
and the E-W walk along the N side of Straw-
berry Creck.

21



Dwinelle Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

+ Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1952
Stripped Classical
Weihe, Frick & Kruse

$2,730,000

Regents

Depts. of History, Speech
Classical § Modern Languages
(except English)

same

reinforced concrete

cement plaster

229,000

5

none
none

Description

A U-shaped building with tiled roof,
designed in a stripped classic style to
harmonize with the original campus buildings.

Building History

Named in memory of John W. Dwinelle,
trustee of College of California, state
assemblyman responsible for writing amd
passage of "Organic Act' establishjing
University of Califernia and member of
its first Board of Regents (1868-81).

Evaluation
...~ " "

Architecturally, Dwinelle's positive as-
pect is its neutral character and the ar-
ticulation of its plan, which created the
court later integrated with Sather Road and
the Student Center Plaza. The order and
regularity of the court facade is not comn-
tinued on the other elevations, which re-
scmble those of buildings whose back sides
face service alleys. Long ridiculed for
its circulation problems, Dwinelle's inter-
ior spaces are rambling and discontinuous.
It contains two large and well-used lecture
halls; the interior court is unused.

Of no particular historic significance,
Dwinclle appears to have endeared itself
little to its users. LCLnvironmentally, it
serves as a backdrop for an important
campus axis but blights the arca behind it.



Description

A two-story redwood board and batten
structure with wood framed cascment win-
dows and a straightforward, utilitarian
character. The informal plan is articu-
tated by three low-pitched, gable roofed
blocks, two of which arc set in an "L"
and connected to the thivd by a one-story
section.

Building History

bDepartment of Mititary Science moved to
Harmon Gym (1933); building remodcled for
Department of Music; entarged (1949) for
Music Library; in 1958 renamed Dwinelle
Annex and occupied by Departmnents of Drama-
tic Arts, Comparative Litcrature; includes
addition (1949) Michae! Goodman.

Evaluation

Architecturally, Dwinelle Annex is re-
lated to the other informal wooden build-
ings designed by 3. G. lloward such as the
original Architecture Building and the
present Naval Architecture Building. Its
siting along Strawberry Creck also ties it
to the Fauclty Clubs and the Senior Men's
lall.

Although the Annex was appurently built
as o temporary building, it has a rich his-
tory of use; its occupants have placed a
high value on its timeworn walls.

Overshadowed by bwinelle Hall and in-
triuded upon by service roads, the structure
shows signs of neglect and poor mainte-
nance.  Still it is appropriate to its site
und might be more casily improved than its
neighbor,

Dwinelle Annex

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1920
Bay Region
John Galen Howard

$18,000
Regents
Dept. of Military Science

History § Comp. Lit.
wood

board and batten
8,300

2

Michael Goodman, 1949
woodsy informality
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Student Union

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1961
Modern

flardison § DeMars

$3,729,500
Regents
ASUC Store,
meeting rooms,
ballroom,
coffee shop
same
concrete
concrete
171,700

5

plazas and site
design

Description
L ]

A five-story, rectangular, flat-roofed
steel structure sheathed in concrete with a
pergola of stecl I-beams edging the roof-
top. The building is designed on a 12 ft.
module and rests on a stepped base with an
open colonnade at ground level. Under-
ground shops and eating facilities placed
along an interior "strcet" have outdoor ac-
cess and service areas on the W, N and S
sides from the sunken or lower plaza. The
main floor is occupied by service agencies;
the Pauley Ballroom occupies the second
floor. On the Sth floor is the Charles Lee
Tilden,111, Meditation Room, which features
a large stained glass and concrete window
wall designed by Robert Pinart. Portions
of the roof are furnished with planting
boxes .

Building History
L "

The Student Union and Dining Commons
buildings are the result of a 1957 archi-
tectural competition for a new Student Cen-
ter on the Berkeley campus. The Student
Union Building is operated by the ASUC and
houses the store, bowling lanes, barber
shop, game rooms ballroom, meeting rooms,
lounges, and eating facilities. The Dining
Comnmons has the Golden Bear Restaurant
scating 198 inside and 150 outside, cafete-
ria scating 824 inside and 122 outside,uand
the Terrace seating 216 inside and 449 out-
side.

Funding for the center came from ASUC
funds from the sale of Stephens llall, an
$800,000 state appropriation, a llousing and
llome Finance Agency loan, and gifts of
$1,000,000 from Regent Edwin W. Pauley,
$100,000 from Mr. and Mrs. C.L. Tilden, Jr.
and $2,385,000 in alumi contributions.



Description

The Dining Commons is a three-story
concrete framed structure whose roof is
composed of a series of hyperbolic parab-
oloids covering dining spaces which pro-
ject on the S side as an open dining ter-
race. Mure eating facilities are on the
lower plaza tevel. A significant feature
is a cast concrete, low relief panel by
mmy Lou Packard, mounted on the terrace
Fascia.

Building History
See Student Center tlistory.

Evaluation

tThe Student Center is a classic work of
cnviromuental design whose visual wealth
corresponds to its wealth of use. Since it
is the public space, not the buildings,
which is the central amenity, the category
of architectural merit is less relevant to
its total value. The important spaces are:
Sproul Plaza and the peripheral steps and
tervaces, the lower plaza with the outside
cating arcas, the interior “street" or
shopping corridor through the building, and
the terrace of the Dining Commons. lInteri-
or spaces such as the Pauley Ballroom and
the Tilden Meditation Room are less well
used.  The sculptural roof system of the
Wining Commons forms an appropriately soft-
er edge alonpg Strawberry Creck, only pavtly
masking the camwpus behind.

Ihistoricatly, the plazas and peripheral
spiaces were the important settings for
cvents in the student movements of the
1960's.  They continue this role today in
less violent times.

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:-

Original Use:.
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:

Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Campus Commons

1960
Modern

flardison and DeMars

$1,272,000

Cafeterias
same
concrete shell

concrete and cement

plaster
48,300
2

none
hyperbolic parabo-
loid roofshells




A&E

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Architects and Engineers

1929
Neoclassic
W.P. Stephenson

$37,000

Regents

Grounds and Buildings Department
Facilities Management

Concrete

Concrete

5,100

3

Third story added 1948

Description

A small three-story rectangular concrete
neoclassic structure which stands due N of
Sproul llall. Attic story is a later addi-
tion.

Building History
Formerly Buildings and Grounds.

Evaluation

The building is undistinguished archi-
tecturally and does not make a positive
contribution to the arca around it. In
fact, its removal would increase the envi-
ronmental amenity of the area by adding to
the open space.

-



Description

A t-shaped neoclassic building articu-
lated by a wain five-story block with flank-
ing three-storvy wings. The three elements
arc stone-faced and separately covered with
tiled hip roofs. The elevations are com-
pused ol & fenestrated base and a fenes-
trated mddle zone capped by an entablature.
The main block has a pedimented portico
with lonic columns approached by a flight
of stune steps. A recessed attic story con-
tains the Fifth floor. The wings have bal-
conices with ornamental iron railings at the
second floor tevel.

Building History

Campus administration building since
1958; previous to completion of University
Iall, both University-wide and campus of-
fices shared the building; named for
Robert Gordon Sproul '13, 1ith President
of the University (1930-58).

Evaluation

|

Architecturally, Sproul lall's stripped
ncoclassic  style gives the building an
austere and academic character. lkxcept for
the rather grand marble-faced tobby, the
interior is composed of utilitarian office
spaces.

llistorically, it is the steps rather
than the interior of the building which
have significance. They serve as a podium
tor the torum arca of Sproul Plaza where
many cvents of the student movements of
the 1960's took place. llistorical and cnvi-
rommental significance are inseparable from
the Sproul Plaza and the Student Center.

Sproul Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:

Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1941
Classical
Arthur Brown, Jr.

$811,000
Regents
Administration
same

steel frame
granite and
terra cotta
124,700

3

portico




Haviland Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1924

Neo-Classic

John Galen Howard
K.E.Parker Co., S.F.
$350,000

Regents

School of Educa. § Lange
Library of Educa.(1924-63)
School of Soc.Welfare (1953-)
concrete
stucco,concrete,red tile

4 incl.basement

none

none

W facade, ornamental detail,
copper skylights, entrance
compositions, interior

Sited on a knoll on the N side of the
campus overlooking the N fork of Straw-
berry Creek, flaviland Js aligned with the
main campus axis. [In plan, the building
is rectangular; in elevation, it is a cen-
tral, four-story block flanked by wings.
The main entrance is centered in the W
facade, with secondary entrances at cither
end of the central block on the E facade.
The structure is divided vertically into 13
bays, with 7 in the central block. Windows
on the two main stories are double-hung.
Rising from a moided base, the central zone
has quoins at the cormers and separating
the outer bays of the main block. The
quoins are ¢ast with a variety of ornament
derived from plant forms. The attic story
rises from a complete Classic entablature
with claborate bed moldings and free Clas-
sic motifs on the soffit, The small attic
windows are scparated by panels with swags
and open hooks. The tiled hip roof culmi-
niates in a raised, copper-framed skylight
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over the central block. The wings have
tiled hip roofs with recessed dormers.

The W entrance, approuached by a flight
of stairs, is an aedicule with a graduated
series of Classic moldings, ovolo, bead
and reel, dentil, etc., and a door lintel
with complete Classic entablature supported
on fluted columns with free Classic capi-
tals. The balcony above has an ornamental
mctal railing consisting of a central me-
dallion with relief of Pegasus framed by
rinceaux. The two E entrance balconies

have similar railings. Doors are of golden
oak. The fine concrete surface is rendered
with a cement wash.

The interior is largely unaltered. Cir-
culation is provided by double-loaded cor-
ridors and stairs. The paneled, Adamesque
reading room (originally the library)
flanked by 2 similarly detailed seminar
rooms arc among the most architecturally
distinguished interiors on the campus. A
fine, skylit lecture hall occupies the
center of the third floor.

-



Building History

llaviland llall was built with a bequest
given in 1919 by Mrs. lannah E. llaviland
as a memorial to her husband, J. T. llavi-
land, a prominent San Francisco banker.
Mrs. lNaviland arrived in California in
1851, accompanied by her sister and
brother-in-law, Mr. and Mrs. Collis P,
lluntington.

Originally the School of Education,
Haviland housed an important department
which trained the State's high school
teachers.

Evaluation

lesigned to relate both to the campus
axis and the Agricultural complex, laviland
is one of the important buildings to result
from the lloward Plan. Although concrete was
substituted for granite, the cheaper mate-
rial is well finished and claborately detail-
ed. The design was first proposed by lloward
for the student union.

The third floor interiors (sce description)
arc significant.

Excepting the intrusion of the parking
tot, llaviland enjoys a setting of high en-
vironmental quality in the largest remain-
ing parklike arca of the campus.



University House

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Orriginal Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1911
Neo-Classic
Albert A. Pissis

$215,000

Regents

President's house, used for
classrooms 1902-10

Chancellor's residence

steel

granite

20,000

3

John Galen Howard

1910 ]

portico, stair hall, drawing and
dining room interiors, landscap-
ing and grounds.

IlIIlIlIllIIlIIIIIIIlIlIIIlIIlIIIIlIllIlIlIIIllIIllIIlIIllllIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

A Classically composed Mediterrancan
vilta facing the main campus axis. The re-
cessed central section has a triple-arched
portico surmounted by a balustrade. Two
round bays on the E and W elevations also
have balustrades. Second story windows
above the portico are round-headed; the
rest have square, molded frames with
double-hung windows. Beneath the roof is a
Classic entablature with a blank frieze and
stringcourses of dentils and egg-and-dart
motifs. Modillions support a molded cor-
nice.

The entrance stair descends to a terrace
fevel divided into brick paths and lawn,
enclosed by a clipped hedge. A second
flight of stairs connects to the drive,
which circles around the house. This land-
scaping scheme was designed by J. G.llow-
ard, who also designed the interiors when
the house changed from classrooms to the
Benjomin Ide Wheeler residence. To the SW,
# romd bed, edged with clipped boxwood,
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has an ornamentsl clock. This was not part
of lloward’s scheme, but the stone pines on
the grounds, which continue the Italian
landscaping of the Agriculture complex, may
have been lloward’'s idea. To the L, the
lawn sweeps downhill to a formal garden
with greenhouses and maintenance buildings
on the other side. The house and grounds
together comprise a tranquil enclave.

The entrance opens to a pancled recep-
tion hall with a stairway to the second
floor. To the W is a large living room
whose interior decor has been repainted but
not significantly changed. To the L are
the unaltered drawing and dining rooms
pancled in redwood, walnut and matched
mahogany. The dining room opens onto a
terrace overlooking the garden.




Building History

Although ground was broken for Universi-
ty llouse by Mrs. llearst in 1902, the build-
ing was not completed in its present form
until 1911. The lengthy building period
was caused by inconsistent financing and
changing suggestions for the building's
use. At one time it was proposed as an ar-
chitecture and law building. In 1910,
lloward redesigned the interior and made a
larndscaping plan for Benjamin Ide Wheeler
and his family, who moved there in 1911.
Until 1958, it was called the President's
llouse. It is now occupied by the Chancel-
lor.

Albert Pissis was chosen as architect
because of his role in preparing the
llearst Competition. Onc of San Francisco's
most prominent architects, Pissis was hnown
for his commercial and office buildings de-
signed in the Neo-Classic tradition of the
Beaux Arts. One of the few that remains is
the Nibernia Bank Building of 1892 in San
I'runcisco.

Evaluation

in addition to its historic importance
as the residence of presidents and chancel-
lors of the university, University House
was the only building constructed according
to the revised Benard Plan. Though of av-
erage architectural quality, the building
is a good example of the Mediterranean Vil-
1a type favored for official campus resi-
dences as well as “stately homes' all over
the country during this period. The main
floor public rooms, designed by Howard,
are notcworthy.

Environmentally, the house and its set-
ting both maintain a park-like ambience in
this part of the campus and reflect the
ideal of the Classic academic institution
in an appropriately Mediterranean setting.

The building is recommended for nomi-
nation to the State Landmarks Commission
and the National Register.
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South Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1873
Second Empire
David Farquharson

$197,000

Regents

School of Agriculture, labora-

tories for physical and natural
sciences, library

School of Library & Information
Studies

brick, granite

29,500

4

Kenneth Cardwell

1968,

roof, porches and ornament

South Hall sits at the head of the Cam-
panile axis opposite the Bancroft Library,
which occupies the former site of North
Hall. The design exhibits the stylistic
traits of the Second Empire Style though
modified in its decorative detail and use
of materials. The mansard roof is enlivened
by banks of dormers with ornamental hood
moldings, oeil de boeuf windows, iron
cresting, and numerous chimneys and exhaust
flues for the former chemistry labs. Be-
neath the bracketed cornice on the N and S
facades are low relief panels of cast iron
coated with sand paint depicting the
state's native fruits and grains. The E
facade, now the most visible, has a central
block with wings marked by separate roof
forms and exterior chimney breasts. A mod-
ified form of fluted cast iron pilaster re-
inforces the building corners and marks the
division between the wings and central
block. A variety of window heads and mold-
ings are used throughout the building. The
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molded, cast iron windows and spandrels
strenghten the horizontal division between
the first and second floors. The ground
floor is treated as a rusticated stone base.

The entry stair originally faced W, but
was removed to the N facade after the con-
struction of Wheeler. The structure of the
N and S porches is wood painted gray to
simulate stone. The N entrance porch, now
glazed, has segmental arches and square cor-
ner supports surmounted by a balustrade
with urn-like finials. Stairs descend to
the right and left. Overall, the building
is detailed in a lively, eclectic way with
such notable features as satyric heads
which hold the downspouts to the walls at
their tops.

The circulation orginally consisted of
a central stair connecting all 4 floors.
Fire codes required blocking the stair from
the second to third floors and the addition
of stairways in enclosed shafts at either
end of the hall. The spacious halls have

25 ft. ceilings and wood wainscoting.
Doorways have generous wood moldings; the
stair has a well-detailed wood banister.
The basement floor does not communicate
with the upper floors nor is there an ele-
vator. The building is not accessible to
those in wheelchairs. According to the
Steinbrugge and Bolt report, South Hall
needs seismic reinforcing.



Building History

The surviving building of the original
University nucleus, South llall was the
College of Agriculture in 1873, The build-
ing derives its name from its position at
the S corner of the triangle completed by
North and Bacon Halls, razed in 1917 and
1961.  South Hall was designed by bavid
Farquharson, a Scottish immigrant to Cali-
fornia, who also designed the first State
Capitol building and the First Bank of
California in San Francisco. The Second
Empire Style was in fashion for institu-
tional buildings and was represented on
other campuses, as in Hurvard's Boylston
HWabl of 1857 and the ncarby Mills tall, by
Swmucl Bugbee, of 1871, Designed to house
laboratories for agriculture and the phys-
ical and natural sciences, the building's
structural system of walls of brick cells
rather than continuous masonry veveals an
curly approach to fireproofing. In fact,
this aspect of the building and not its
style gave it a higher preservation pri-
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ority than North llall. Consecquently,
though it was stylistically incompatible
with the academic-classic style of lloward,
it continued in use for a variety of de-
partments shifted about during various
building campaigns. 1t currently houses
the School of Library and Information
Studics.

In honor of the University's Centenni-
al, South llall was renovated in 1908 under
the direction of Prof. Kenncth Cardwell.
At that time the alterations listed above
were made.
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Evaluation
o

Architecturally, South Hall's importance
lies in its being a now rare example, puar-
ticularly on the West Coast, of a Luropcan
architectural fashion which swept the coun-
try in the latter balf of the 19th century.
llistorically, South llall deserves the high-
est consideration as the oldest campus
building and the setting of the first grad-
uation.

Added to its above-stated historical im-
portance for the campus, South lall's struc-
ture, according to its restoration archi-
tect, Kenneth Cardwell, may represent an
early, conscious attempt to design an
carthquake-proof building.

LEuvironmentally, South Hall occupies an
important site as an anchor at the head of
Campanile Way. This building is recommend-
ed for nomination to the State Landmarks
Commission and the National Register.

aA



South Hall Annex

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1913
no style
John Galen Howard

$6,000

Regents

Shop for Dept.of Physics (1913-23)
School of Library & Information

Studies
concrete
cement plaster
2,400

1

none
none

escription

IU

South Hall Amnex is a rectangular,
flat-roofed cement-coated addition to
South llall, on the N. It is partially
underground.

Building History

One-story shop for Dept. of Physics
(1913-23); later used for offices and meet-
ing rooms of student honorary societies
(1923-36), Student and Alumni Placement
Center, to 1966.

Evaluation

The building has no architectural, his-
torical or environmental distinction. Be-
cause it is an intrusion in this part of
Campanile Way and on South llall, it should
be removed.



o

Description

Six rectangular, two-story, wooden boxes
with gabled roofs. Originally Army surplus
barracks, they lie directly on the original
1:-W axis of the campus.

Building History
R

Originally 38 onc- and two-story bar-
rachs from deactivated World War 11 Navy
camps, moved and established by U. S.
Vetcerans' Education Facilities Program;
10 buijldings placed in glade opposite Doc
Libarry, remainder in unoccupicd spots
about campus; used for faculty offices,
classrooms, architectural and engincering
taboratories, Veterans' Admin, offices,
Counseling Service, and lousing Office;
most ‘'t buildings razed since 1950.

£l

Evaluation
e

These are temporary buildings which
should not be permaneatly retained in this
location. Demolition and/or removal is rec-
omncnded to return the site to a natural
state.

Temporary Buildings (T-4 =T-9

Completed:
Style:

Arcchitect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1946-48
None

$205,500
Regents
U.S. Navy Barracks

Offices and classrooms

Wood
Wood
231,800
2




Stephens Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1923
Tudor
John Galen Howard

$310,000

ASUC

student union

Kelsen Graduate Social Studies
Library, Academic Senate
reinforced concrete

concrete

76,600

S

Germano Milano

1964

rib vaulted arcade § stair tower,
oriel windows, terraces, harmoni-
ous siting.

A five-story, Tudor Style structure
whose irregular plan and picturesque mass-
ing are well suited to its site on a wind-
ing scction of Strawberry Creck. The
general orientation of the plan is N-S.
The building consists of a main E-W, rec-
tangular block hinged to 2 smaller blocks
offset from the NE corner by a two-story
entrance and stair tower. The tower has
corner buttresses with turrets, 2 oriecl
windows, and is bisected by a vaulted cor-
ridor providing circulation through the
building and vertical circulation to upper
floors.

The S facade along the creek is ap-
proached by a brick-paved bridge with iron
railings and lanterns, given by the Class
of '23. Directly ahead, the main library
block has a vaulted loggia with Tudor
arches above the main floor and an open
terriace on top of the loggia,

The W tacade faces a sunken terrace,
closed on the opposite side by Moses llall.
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Access to the terrace from the NW is by
means of a branching, Classically detailed
stair, a pift of the Class of '25. The
four-storied W facade has S bays, with an
off-center entrance to the library flanked
by two chimney breasts. The second story
has porches and balconies and is fenes-
trated with casement windows grouped in 2
registers of 3 windows each. Overall, sim-
ple molded string courses mark the floors.

The former llenry Morse Stephens Room,
no. 440, now the Graduate Commons, is a
handsome wood pancled room with a fire-
place and monumental, classically de-
tailed entrance portal. There is also a
portrait of 1I.M. Stephens.




Building History

Built in 1922 with contributions from
the alumi, faculty and students, the Stu-
dent Iion (now Stephens lall) commemorates
Prof. leary Moses Stephens. As the head-
quarters for the A.5.U.C., athletic and
alumni offices, student activities
such as men's and women's lounges, and a
recreation center were housed here. The
sunken plaza was o place of congrepation
and of rituals like the Kangaroo courts
held before the Big Games, in which people
were “tried” for wearing red. A distinc-
tive "birdhouse" shelter, the “Inkwell,”
suppled the campus with a reservoir of
free ink paid for the A.5.0.C. Periodi-
cally, liquor was legally and illegally
dispensed in the taproom,

Stephens Hall has been altered many
times since its first remodeling in the
carly 19350's to meet carthguake codes. In
1948, Moses and Stephens Hall were slated
for replacement with a proposed War Memor-
ial building like that of the University of

Ovegon. With the construction restrictions
imposed by the Korean War, plans stagnated
and were finally abandoned. Sold by the
A.5.U.C. to the University in 1959, the
building chunged use in 1961 when the new
Student Union was completed. The building
wias renamed in 1964,

Howard's design for Stephens lall con-
trasts sharply with his earlier Classic
Revival buildings. The Tudor Style, often
called Colleginte Gothic, was fashionable
in the 1920's for academic institutions
because of its use at the great English
universities of Oxford und Cambridge.
Added to this, lloward's admiration for
llistorian llenry Morse Stephens miay have
influenced his design.

Evaluation
e e e s e ]

Architecturally, Stephens lull is a
stripped und bland version of the Collegi-
ate Gothic style. lts major assets are en-
vironmentul: the open, arched entrance pas-
sapge descending by a flight of stairs to
the banks of Strawberry Creck, and the sunk-
en plaza between Stephens and Moses.  The

balconies and terraces, ordinarily amenities,

arc at prescnt upused. The interior has
been substantiully remodeled and has no par-
ticularly distinguished spaces.

The building's historical significance
lies in its past use as the student union
und the resulting associational values.
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Men'’s Faculty Club

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Orriginal Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder for Alterations:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1902

Mission Revival, early Bay Region

Bernard Maybeck

Kidder & McCullogh
$487,500

Regents

dining club and lodging
same

redwood, stucco

redwood, stucco, red tile
.32,000

1-2

Howard; Warren Perry, Downs §
Lagorio; Marquis § Stoller;
Christopherson § Kositsky

Sited at the W end of Faculty Glade, the
Men's Faculty Club is intimately tied to
its natural setting. Completed before the
approval of the 1908 lloward Plan, the orig-
inal E-W wing did not conform to the Benard
Plan axis. [Instead it followed more gener-
ally the existing axis originally proposed
by Olmsted., It was the first of an infor-
mal architectural group including Senior
Men's 1lall and the Women's Faculty Club.

According to Keaneth Cardwell's descrip-
tion in his book on Bernard Maybeck (p.80),
"The exterior finish of Maybeck's section
of the Faculty Club is principally a natu-
ral-colored sand plaster. WRedwood shingles
cover a portion of the second-story walls.
The roof is of Mission tile. lleavy wooden
corbets and projecting trellis beams are
cxtensions of the framing members of the
interior. Arched entrance and window open-
ings suppest California Mission forms....
Oue room that remains essentially the same
is the Great all. Its interior framing is
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suggestive of Gothic timbering. Eight
built-up columms of rough 2 x 10*'s support
a system of timbers framed as a half-truss
for the low-pitched gabled roof. Each half
truss rises up and over to join its coun-
terpart springing from the opposite side of
the room. Balanced on the columns, the
trusses are tied to the foundations by a
steel rod. This ingenious framing (is) de-
signed to give a high central space without
any ‘horizontal ties.

"The Great llall has a sharply pitched
ceiling carried by beams and purlins sup-
ported on the inner members of the trusses.
Near the ridge, secondary truss ties create
triagular spaces which arc decorated with
hand sawn trefoils. The interior finish of
the dining room is redwood board and bat-
ten, though in the gable end above the
plate line of the wall framing the diagonal
sheathing is cxposed. A massive fireplace
faced with matte-glazed tiles dominates the
west wall....Bcam ends projecting from the

trellises into the room are rudely shaped
to rescmble heads of dragons.*

Subsequent additions to the N, E and S
have more than doubled the size of the club
building and chanped some of Maybeck's
rooms. In 1903-04, J. G. lloward added a
lounge section with a double fireplace to
the N; in 1914 and 1925 Warren Perry added
a section with a kitchen and dining room,
later remodeled by W.S. Wellington. An ex-
tensive remodeling in 1958-59 by Downs §
Lagorio crcated a game room and other facil-
ities in the basement. In 1972, Marquis §
Stoller altered the kitchen and extended
decks on the E facade of the Perry section.
In 1977, Christopherson and Kositsky re-
placed the foundation, put in shear walls,
and holted Maybeck's structure together in
the Great llall. They also put a layer of
plywood under the roof tiles and made other
life safety changes in the tower room.
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Building History

The Club evolved out of the Dining Asso-
ciation, which, as Ldmond O'Neil, one of
the Club's founders, says, “provided warm
lunches at reasonable prices." According
to O'Neil, Native American utensils, orna-
ments, arrowheads, and skeletons were found
on the site while digging the foundations.

The Faculty Club has continucd to scrve
as a dining facility, cxpanding its servic-
cs greatly over the past 70 years. 1t now
has a membership of 1600. Lodging facili-
ties are also available and, in the past,
bachelor faculty members have often lived
there.  One famous professor, llenry Morse
Stephens, had Mayhech build the tower room
over the N entry, paying privately for its
construction. lle Lived there for the rest
ol s FiFe, and Club legend has it that
his ghost still occupies that room,

Intit recently, women were permitted to
ciut in the Club but were not permitted to
become members .

Warven Perry was among the group ol ar-

chitects who continued to add to the Facul-
ty Club in Maybeck's style. Perry grew up
in Berkeley, studicd under Howard, went to
the licole Des Beaux Arts in Paris, and re-
turned to take on his first job, which was
the design of additions to the Club. lle
was delighted to continue Maybeck's use of
simple inexpensive materials.

Many of the rooms are aamed after famous
members: the Clark Kerr Room and the 0'Neil
Rooim in the N, the lloward Room in the S,
the Latimer, Tolmun, et al. private dining
rooms in the k.

Evaluation

In spite of muerous additions and alter-
ations, the building has grown organically
and is architecturally harmonious. ‘The re-
gional spirit of its design makes it par-
ticularly appropriate for the Berkeley Caw-
pus; it is difficult to imagine it located
clsewhere.

itistorically, its wealth of associations
for members of the faculty and the communi-
ty is uncqualed by any other campus build-
ing.

Environmentally, the building is an in-
tegral part of Faculty Glade and contrib-
utes significantly to the high amcaity of
the avca. This building is recommended for
nomination to the State Landmarks Commis-
sion and the National Repister,



Women'’s Faculty Club

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1923
lst Bay Region
John Galen Howard

$65,000

Women's Faculty Club

faculty club; dining facilities
and accommodations

same

wood and steel

wood and stucco (base)

15,126

3 and a full-story basement
Bennett § Christopherson/Kositsky
1956, 1975, 1976-77, life safety
alterations in the basement plus
the addition of plywood for shear
in the walls and roof :
steel structure,entrance portico

A long, rectangular block with a pro-
jecting N wing, located on the S bank of
Strawberry Creek, E of Senior Men's llall.
esigned by lloward, it is within five min-
utes walking distance of the major campus
buildings, as specified in the 1906 Plan.
The four-story building is sheathed in wood
shingles except for the stuccoed basement.
The main, S facade is symmetrical, with the
cntrance located in the middle of a slight-
ly projecting central section of thrce
bays. Flanking portions of the building
also have three bays. Double-hung windows
of 24, 12 and 8 lights are regularly
spaced in the bays hut are not of uniform
size. The entrance portico has Tuscan
columns and a simplified entablature sur-
mounted by a Classical balustrade the same
height as the entablature. The shingled,
hip roof has a simple cornice molding and
gutter. The whole building is below the
road grade and approached by descending a
flight of stairs to the centrance, which
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has a semicircular garden. In 1977, the
E side was given a ramped auxiliary en-
trance for wheelchairs and delivery ser-
vice as well as life safety alterations.

The club is planned for public and pri-
vate use. The first floor contains the
club's social quarters: lounge, library
and dining room, These plus the kitchen
are located off a central hall. Steel
beams, boxed with wood, span the lounge;
off the dining room is a small deck added
in 1976 which shares the garden.
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Building History

The Women's Faculty Club was orpanized
in 1919 under the guidance of Mary Florence
Patterson to provide a social meeting place
and accommodations for Women Faculty and
associate members of the club. Privately
funded through a mombers' bond issue, the
tight bhudget severcly limited the desipgn
considerations possible. John Galen lloward
wits commi ssioned to design the structure,
for which he prepared three designs.

Finished in 1923 just before the Berke-
ley fire, the Women's Faculty Club became a
refuge for those left homeless from the
devastation. Many of these original occu-
pants stayed several years awaiting new
homes.  To show their gratitude, they bhe-
queathed some furnishings they managed to
salvage from the fire. Today, the Club has
i large collection of valuable furniture
and art work that stemmed from this person-
al interest and the effort to give the Club
a residential ambiance.

There have been pressures to combine the

two faculty clubs. In 1973, one such ef-
fort resulted from questions of the build-
ing's seismic safety; however, the plans
showed steel beams in the first floor
framing.

Evaluation
(s e oo s e e |

A sensible and dignified design archi-
tecturally related to the early, residen-
tially-scaled wooden buildings by J.G. liow-
ard. Historically, an important campus in-
stitution and gathering place and a retire-
ment home for many distinguished women over
the years.

The building is well related environmen-
tally to its site and to the neighboring
non-academic buildings along Strawberry
Creck, whose clustering in this arca re-
calls the original edge of the academic
campus .



Senior Men's Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

A one-story, redwood log cabin structure
wedped bhetween the Women's and Men's Facul-
ty Clubs on Strawberry Creek, the W facade
has a simple entrance with raised stoop and
jib door made of rough planed logs. The
identical N and S facades have bands of
wooden windows running the length of the
walls under the eaves of a hroadly pitched,
saddlehack roof covered with shingles.

The cast end has a large wood- framed window
with a triple division and frosted glass.

The plan has two rooms connected by a
low “sccret” passage and divided by a
mighty masonry fireplace with two hearths,
one in each room. The chimney is a promi-
nent feature of the roof, whose structural
system is exposed on the interior. The
smaller, east room, which serves as the
mecting place of the Order of the Golden
Bear, has a stepped podium with three
throne-like chairs in front of the frosted
glass window.
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1906
Log Cabin
John Galen Howard

$4,500

Regents

senior meeting place and
Order of the Golden Bear
storage (Faculty Clubs)
wood frame and log

logs

2,906

1

none

none

redwood construction, secret
passage, double stone fireplace




=~

Building History

Senior Men's llall was funded in 1906 by
a donation from the Order of the Golden
Bear. As a symbol of senior control on
campus, this rustic structure provided a
pluce for scnior men to meet Thursday eve-
nings to discuss the weighty problems of
undergraduate life. With the eventual
growth of the campus, it hecame a mecting
hall tor all student organizations until
the advent of the student union.

Mysteriously housed in the second con-
cealed room was the headquarters of the
Sceret Ovder of the Golden Bear. A studeat
organization, its membership was based upon
student service and social status. Many
dignitaries and UC officials have been in-
ducted to the prestigious society. ln 1976
several articles appeaved in the Daily
Californian divulging the happenings behind
the sceret wall of the Senior Men's Hall.

The Hlatl was almost torn down in 1972,
to wahe way tor a dining pavilion that was
to be jointly used by the Men's and Women's

faculty Clubs. Monies were to be used from
the Levi Strauss Associates fund of §1
million. A Save-Senior-Men's-llall campaign
was spearhcaded by Sylvia McLaughlin (wife
of ex-Repent Donald McLaughlin) and Ms.
Lesley Emmington. An important outcome:of
this campaign was the founding of the
Berkeley Architectural lleritage Association
to survey und preserve other significant
structures in the Berkeley comnunity.

Senior Men's llall is now closcd to the
public and only serves as a storage facil-
ity for the Faculty Club.

Evaluation

A rclic of the days of boosterism for
the California lumbering industry, Semior
Men's Hall is related, architecturally, to
a set of exposition and park structures now
demolished or destroyed by fire. It is
therefore a rare building type at this time.

llistorically, the hall commemorates an
carly campus organization and, in 1974, was
placed on the National Register in recogni-
tion of its architectural and historical im-
portance.

~ Successive remodelings of the Men's Fac-
ulty Club have eroded the hall's setting
over the ycars.

Because the structure, the irreplace-
able redwood logs therein, and the fire-
place are its most important features, the
building could be moved and ‘reused for
another purpose. But it is strongly rec-
ommended that it preserve its essential
log cubin nature and be properly marked to
commemorate its original purpose.
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2.« Engineering and Earth Sciences

1.Hearst Memorial Mining Building
2. North Gate Hall

3.Naval Architecture
4.Donner Lab
5.Davis Hall
6.Cory Hall
7. Hesse Hall
8.O’'Brien Hall
9. McLaughlin Hall
10.Engineering-Hesse Courtyard Building
11.Earth Sciences Building
12.Etcheverry
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Hearst Memorial Mining Building

Completed: 1907
Style: Neo-Classic
Architect: John Galen lloward
Builder:
Cost: $1,065,000
Owner: Regents
Original Use: School of Mining
Present Use: same
Structure: concrete and steel; brick cross
walls in lab wing
Exterior Material: Raymond granite and red tile

Square Footage: 105,000
Number of Stories: 3

Architect and Builder for Alterations: Mjchael Goodman

Alterations: 1948, courts and mining lab con-
verted to offices
S and W facades incl. all decora-
tive detail, chimneys and tile
roof together with its wood
structure.

Significant Features:

Description

stairs. The doors are also embellished
with carved moldings. On either side of
the building above the arches is a carved
wrcath.

Occupying the principal site N of the
Mining Circle, the IMMB was the first an-
chor of the principal E-W axis. The struc-
ture has an E shaped plan, with the long

consist or end bays with circular windows
flanking a central section of 5 hays marked
by tall chimneys projecting well above the
roof. These bays have broad arched windows

bar faucing the Circle and the 3 arms ex-
tending N. Originally, light courts oc-
curred between these wings; they were
covered in 1948 to provide more office
space.

The principal, S-facing block is com-
posed of 3 sections of 3 bays each. The
Memorial Vestibule and Museum occupies
the central section, whose attic story
projects above the roof line of the wings
and is detailed with close-set stone
brackets along the gabled cornice. The
Vestibule facade is articulated by 3

arches, 2 stories high, with deep reveals.

Within the arches are Tuscan porticos.
The wooden frames of the arches have fan

lights embellished with carved medatlions,

The central portico has the main double
entrance doors, reached by a flight of
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The attic floor is defined by an over-
scaled bead-and-reel molding. Punctuating
the molding are 6 corbels sculpted with
human personifications of the lively arts,
by Robert Aitkin. The corhels support
carved timber brackets, which in turn sup-
port the projecting roof timbers. Between
the brackets are the small attic windows
which light the upper balcony of the Ves-
tibule. The spaces between the windows

have panels outlined with foliate moldings.

The gabled roof is covered with red tile
and has a copper framed skylight.

The wings have cascment windows set in
mmolded frames with slightly projecting
sills and inset foliate pancls above.
licre the timber brackets are supported by
voluted corbels.

The I: and W sides arc identical. They

divided by columms with squared Ionic capi-
tals.

The interior of the Vestibule and Museum
is a 3-story high space with shallow, sky-
lit Jomcs on pendentives. The upper levels
are ringed with galleries. The airy, steel
structure is exposed and designed in an in-
dustrial adesthetic which refiects
Labrouste's design of the reading room in
the Bibliotheque Nationale in Paris, 1858-
1868. The delicate columns, lattice gird-
ers and dome ribs are painted light grecn;
the vault pendentives are filled with
Gustavino tile laid in a herringbone pat-
tern. The working spaces of the building
have been considcerable alteved over the
years, principally to make office space;
however, much of the well-detailed mahogany
woodworh in the offices is intuct.



Building History

The HMMB was meant to be both monument
and workshop. Phoebe Hearst commissioned
it as a memorial to her millionaire miner
husband, Senator George llearst. At the
same time, the dean of the mining school,
Professor Samuel B. Christy, wanted a
building "where a mining student might try
his 'prentice hand upon some of these les-
ser problems that lead to the larger ones
of the mining engineer." lloward and
Christy toured American and European col-
leges, at Mrs. Hearst's expense, to insure
that their new building would be as modern
as possible. On that trip lloward was most
favorably impressed by the mining schools
at Paris and Berlin, where the main build-
ings were built around a central court or
museum.

tioward felt the building should express
the nature of mining. 'There is something
about it,'" he said, "something essentially
clementary, something primordial; and its
impression in architecture must, to be

true, have something of the rude, the
Cyclopean." At the same time, this build-
ing was to serve as the prototype for sub-
sequent university structures, and there-
fore had to project a suitably dignified
image. Finally, lloward had studied the
California missions on a sketching trip in
1888 and felt that this key building for
the state university should reflect some-
thing of the spirit of California as well.

!
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Evaluation
IIlIllIllIlllIllIIlIIlIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

No building is more important, architec-
turally, historically, or environmentally,
to this campus. 1ts exterior design best
illustrates tloward's ability to vigorously
reinterpret the Classic tradition in a re-
gional context. The interior is a sophis-
ticated und elegant interpretation of 19th
century structural aesthetic associated
with feats of engineering. The building
has dignity, monumentality, and originality.
Its significance reaches beyond the context
of the University campus.

The building is recommended for nomi-
nation to the State Landmarks Commission
and the National Register.
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North Gate Hall

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder for Alterations:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1906
1st S. F. Bay Region
John Galen Howard

$35,500
Regents
School of Architecture

wood

wood, shingles

22,300

2

Howard & Galloway § Walter
Walter Steilberg

1908, 1912, 1936

courtyard, N windows, gallery,
auditorium

(R

A one-story and two-story complex de-
signed to follow a sloping E-W site on the
N edge of the campus, Northgate contains
offices, studio spaces, a glazed galley
along a courtyard and a small auditorium or
lecture hall. The main entrance is on the
W side; the court also provides entrance at
its open SE corner.

The W entrance, flanked by 2 small bal-
conies, is connected to the main circula-
tion corridor, a single-loaded, L-shaped,
glazed galley closing the N and W sides of
the courtyard. The corridor's interior
wall is shingled and punctuated by casement
windows. A series of spaces, originally
studios, occupy the N side of the building
on Hearst Ave. The N elevation has hori-
zontal bands of wood mullioned windows and
3 large studio windows of 24 lights each
set in square wood frames. These rise a-
bove the eave line of the roof, whose pitch
is raised to accommodate their height.
Skylights also break the roof line.
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Most of the building is single-wall,
wood-frame construction. The exterior is
sheathed with cedar shingles, the interior
with Douglas fir. The S wing library is
reinforced concrete and concrete block.




Building History

In 1894, the Dept. of Drawing offered
the University's first architecture courses
in the First National Bank Bldg. on Shat-
tuck Avenue. With rapidly increasing en-
rollment, this location became expensive
and inconvenient. In 1906, a small,
shingled building was erected to house the
office of the Supervising Architect and the
Department at the University's north gate
at a cost of $5,535.44.

Continued growth prompted an addition of
3 drafting rooms and a studio in 1908.
These were designed by loward & Galloway.
In 1912, the same firm added a gallery
along the S side of the building and an au-
ditoriun, studio and exhibition hall. In
1936, Walter Steilberg added the W corridor
and the fireproofed library. This last ad-
dition created the courtyard, further de-
veloped by students and faculty.

During lloward's tenure students referred
to the building as the "Ark" and to lloward
as "Father Noah.' Many other important ar-

chitects have studied and taught in North
Gate llall. The building was last used by
the Architecture Department in 1964.

Though lloward considered the "Ark" a
temporary building, it has gained a perma-
nent place in the history of the campus
and the affection of generations of stu-
dents and faculty

=N

Evaluation

The low profile, integration of indoor
and outdoor spaces, straightforward ex-
pression of structure and materials, and
general warm, woodsy character make North
Gate an irreplaccable landmark in the
development of the regional architecture
of the San Francisco Bay Area. )
The building is recommended for nomi-
nation to the State Landmarks Commission
and the National Register. 4
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Naval Architecture

Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:

Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description
L

A linear structure composed of 2 rectan-
gular segments which step down the slope
parallel to Hearst Ave. The building con-
tains classrooms, studios, offices, and a
student lounge, connected by hallways and
staircases located on the S side of the
interior. The hallway on the second floor
is single-loaded. The roof ridge is off-
set to the N of center to give the studios
the largest amount of N window area possi-
ble.

The single-wall structure has exposed
interior framing and post and lintel sup-
ports with knee-braces. Tongue and groove
Douglas fir is occasionally used as an in-
terior sheathing and for partitions. The
foundation is concrete. The exterior is
shingled.

The only decorative features on this
spare, economical building are the crafts-
man style entrances on the S side and the
balcony on the W side, with its Classical-
ly pedimented, glazed casement door.
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1914
1st Bay Region
John Galen Howard

$17,500

Regents

Dept. of Drawing

College of Engineering, graduate
student studies, student groups
wood frame

wood shingles

10,900

4 major levels incl. basement

N windows, W balcony and siting




Building History

P~

John Galen lloward designed the Drawing
Building as a temporary structure to house
the Drawings Dept. This was originally
in East llall but also used the attic of
California llall,

Built in 2 scgments, the building was
sited to relate to the Architecture Bldg.
and follow Lhe. N edge of the campus.
brawing courses, part of the traditional
Beaus Arts architectural training, were
held in the N studios; offices and the
stair hall, which functioned as the so-
cial arca, occupied the rest of the space.
The three-story E end was completed within
o short period of time after the two-story
W oend.

Many important Bay Region architects
such as John ludson Thomas, Nenry Gutter-
son, John Reid, William W. Wurster, and
Vernon DBeMars studied here.

In 1923 under the acgis of Lugene
Neubaus, the Drawing Building became the
First home of the newly lormed Dept. of

Art. 1In 1930, it became the Engineering
Design Building, and a segment of the
building was torn down for the first por-
tion of what is now Davis llull. From 1951
to 1964, it housed the City and Regional.
Planning Dept. 1In 1964 it was renamed the
Naval Architecture Building.

Evaluation

This building derives its chief architec-
tural and environmental merit from its rela-
tion in style and siting to North Gate llall.
The two structures recall an earlier pat-
tern of building in what was then a wooded
arca. Today they help create an informal
and appropriately-scaled edge to the campus
at this important juncture with the commu-
nity.

The historical merit of the Naval Archi-
tecture building was also recognized with
its addition to the National Register in
1977.



Donner Lab

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1942

Modern

Arthur Brown, Jr.

John E. Branagh, Piedmont
$1,650,000 incl. addition
Regents

offices § labs for Div. Medical
Physics, research units cooperat-
ing with Lawrence Radiation Lab
in biophysics, nuclear medicine,
space biology

same

reinforced concrete

concrete, glass and panels
44,640

4

Reynolds § Chamberlain/Branagh
1955, sunshades

none

llIlIIllIIIlIlIlIIIlIlIIIlIIllIIIIIIlIlIIIIIIlIIllIIIlIIlIIlIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

Sited on a slope, Donner is bounded on
the I by Gayley Rd., on the N by Founder's
Rock and Cory llall, on the W by llearst Min-
ing Bldg. and on the S by Stanley llall.

The original three-story building is a rec-
tangular block of reinforced concrete, ori-
ented LE-W, designed in a stripped Neo-
Classic Style with quoins and a simplified
entablature. The tiled, hip roof is sup-
ported by a redwood frame. Each floor has
a double-loaded corridor rumning C-W. In
1955, a four-story addition was constructed
to the N; this connects to the southern
portion by means of a three-story structure
containing a small lecture hall on the
ground floor. The N wing has double-loaded
corridors on the top threc floors. Its
long clevation is a modular, window-and-
panel grid framed by metal sash. later,

a4 sunshade of precast concrete units holted
to six concrete piers was added to the SW
clevation. Metal catwalks connect the sun-
shade to the building. The N wing was
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originally designed to carry the load of a
future office floor, releasing the fourth
floor for labs. Changes in codes and regu-
lations applying to this addition would now
entail structural work on the frame of the
existing structure.

In 1970, a scanning pavilion added to
the E side largely closed in the sunken,
landscaped courtyard created in 1955 on the
N side.

Building History
L~

Moved by his son's death from cancer,
William 1. Donner, President of the Donner
Stecl Corporation, founded the Internation-
al Foundation for Cancer Research, later

the Donner Foundation. Donner's interests
in E. 0. and J. ll. Lawrence's work related
to nuclear medicine led him to fund the
first wing of Donner Lab, home of the re-
search unit established in 1941. The 1955
N wing provided larger spaces for new needs
and equipment for which the small rooms of
the original structure were inadequate. It
also contained a steel-clad room for the
study of natural body radiation,
Fluctuating temperature was the most
serious problem in the new wing. The main
lab spaces were planned for the second and
third floors. To keep air in the labs from
travelling into the halls and other labs,
the ventilation system was designed to
maintain a negative pressure in the labs,
and the windows on these floors were not
designed to open, so that the temperature



in the lubs, particularly the ones facing
west, suffered scevere temperature fluctua-
tions. On hot days the labs became uncom-
fortable and lub materials and equipment
were endangered.  The installation of thin
metal shades over the windows did not solve
the problem. Individual air conditioning
units were installed on the northeast labs,
and a concrete sunshade structure was
crected on the west elevation. The sun-
shade became known to the occupants as
Stonchenge West. The temperature problem
remained and an air conditioning system was
installed, but was never finished due to
budgetary limitations.

The 1970 Scanning Pavilion was funded by
the bouner Foundation to develop instru-
ments for measuring radioisotopes in the
htman body. The carliest accomplislments
of Donner Lab include the development of
isotopic techniques for metabolic studies,
the First diagnostic and therapeutic uses
of radioisotopes, the first biological ex-

periments with heavy particles in the
trcatment of disease, and to the present
successful treatment of acromegaly and
Cushings Discase.

Evaluation

Architecturally, an accretive struct
of low architectural merit; historicall
the scene of important events in the hi

ure

Y
s_

tory of cancer rescarch; and environmen-

tally, a building which, in its present

form, respects its site by keeping a low

profile. Lxpansion in this already
crowded arca could make the structure i
trusive.

n-
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Davis Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect;
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure;

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1931, 1967 addition
Moderne; Neo-Brutalist
George W. Kelham; Skidmore,Owings,Merrill

$690,000

Regents

Structural Engineering §
Structural Mechanics
Dept. of Engineering
reinforced concrete
cement plaster

60,700

2

Ski'dmore,' Owings § Merrill - six-story addition
two-story structures lab with
10 ton capacity bridge crane

Description
e e e i e |

The original structure is totally lack-
ing in architectural distinction; the ad-
dition is an imposing, concrete block with
split shed roofs resting on a battered
stone hase. The use of a red tile roof and
broad, low arches at the terrace level at- —
tempt to relate the structure architectural-
ly to the llearst Mining Building. It is
too early in this building's life to spcak
of historical significance. Through its
mass and siting the building forms one
side of the engineering quadrangle soon to
be filled in by the proposed new Engineer-
ing Center, whose effect on this area can-
not be assessed as yet,

Building History

The 1931 section of Davis was funded by
a state bond issue and built to house the
bivision of Structural Engineering and
Structural Mechanics and several related re-
search laboratories. It was named for Ray-
mond E. Davis, professor of engineering
emeritus. The 1967 addition, funded by a
state appropriation, was built to replace
the part of Davis which housed the Engineer-
ing Materials Laboratory with a contempo-
rary facility.

Evaluation
e e e———

An undistirnguished neo-Brutalist build-
ing that sits awkwardly between the shingled
wood frame buildings along Hearst and the
Hearst Mining Building.



Description
e———eeeeesse T )
A rectangular block with a court, one
side of which is angled to align with
Hearst Ave. The N elevation has a central
scction uf Y bays scparated from the end
bays by 2 two-story buttresscs which are
slightly projected from the wall plane on
the first two stories. The design is stark-
ly utilitarian with a squared-off format un-
relieved by moldings or projections. Win-
Jdows arc industrial steel sush; the two
street-level entrances have plain boxed pro-
jecting trames, and the building surface is
scored in rectangular sections. The other
clevations are even more reductive.

Building History

Occupied by Department of Electrical
Engincering and Electronics Research Lab;
named for Clarence .. Cory, professor of -
electrical cngincering (1892-1931), Dean of
College of Mechanics (1908-29); includes
additions (1959, 1961).

Evaluation

A utilitarian structure of low archi-
tectural merit, now an integral part of a
complex. 1t has no known historical sig-
nificance nor any particular environmental
merat,

Cory Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Orriginal use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1950
Modern
Corlett § Anderson

$2,055,000

Regents

Department of Elec-
trical Engineering
same

concrete

concrete

137,640

multiple

AR
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Hesse Hall

Completed: 1924 wt‘f' Lo 8 4 F
Style: Classical \ N RO »‘L’”&&*‘fm'—“w}“’
Architect: John Galen Howard L )i y
Builder: g! i"“‘*""EM -‘
Cost: $1,152,000 @mu
Owner: Regents
Orriginal Use: heat § power lab i
Present Use: llydraulic Engineering Lab .f']
Structure: concrete by
Exterior Material: cement plaster T
Square Footage: 83,759 E
Number of Stories: 1, later 3 -
3
Alterations: George Kelham (1931), Corlett |

Significant Features:

Description

Anderson (1947), & Vanbourg §
Nakamura (1959, O'Brien Hall)
Classical ornament

Building History

A rectangular concrete Classical box,

Originally a heat, power laboratory; now

which now commects O'Brian with Earth Sci-
ences.  Classical details include dentiled
cornice and monumental quoins and window -
door surrounds. The overscaled details

occupied by lydraulic Engineering Labora-
tory, Fluid Mechanics Laboratory, faculty
offices, Enginecring Library; named for
Frederick G. llesse, professor of mechanical

give the N and S facades a distinctive

presence.  llesse forms the N wall of the
courtyard hetween McLaughlin, Earth Sci-

ences and O0'Brian.
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engineering (1875-1904).

c

Evaluation

The facade details are the only signifi-
cant elements.




Description

A restrained design with a tasteful
glass "bridge” connecting it to Mclaughlin.
Well integrated with the older buildings,
O'Brien completes one side of this engi-
neering quadrangle, the character of which
will be much affected by the proposed new
Fugincering Center.,

(O'Brien Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Building History

Nistory unresearched at this time.

1959

Modern

Vanbourg § Nakamura

see llesse Hall for further stats.

glass brcezeway

L3
Evaluation
|
This major addition to llesse llall, a
straightforward cssay in modernism, is
named for Morrough P. O'Brien, Dcan of the
College of Engincering from 1943 to 1957,

7N
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McLaughlin Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

Overlooks the T bujldings, and lies
NW of Lvans. [t is a cube-like Classi-
cally styled building articulated by ro-
bust pilasters, pediments and entabla-
tures. A dramatic Lgyptian Doric portico
defines the main entrance on the E.
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1931
Neoclassic
George W. Kelham

$379,500
Regents

"College of Engineering

Departments of Civil § Mechanical
Engineering

Concrete

Concrete

51,400

6

Classical portico

Building History

Used for administrative office of
Cotlege of Enginecring, department offices,
luboratories of Depts. of Civil and Mechan-
ical Engincering; named for Donald II.
McLaughlin, Regent (1950-66).

Evaluation

Architecturally, the E and S corner fa-
cades are the building's significant fea-
turcs; interiors are considcred inferior by
many but are not below the campus average
in this respect.

McLaughlin is a focal point of the main
E-W axis and well related to the campus
plan. While historical associations are
not well researched at present the build-
ing's use as administrative center for the
College of Engineering gives it some his-
toric associations.

ey



Engineering-Hesse Courtyard Building

Description

A one-story, underground laboratory with
a gravel roof terrace featuring a paved sec-
tion with a spiral design set with 6 benches.
Landscaping is confined to a few planters.

A

-,
b4

Building History

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:

Significant Features:

A 1962 addition to llesse llall. No sig-

nificant history to date.

1962
none
Van Bourg/Nakamura

$372,000

Regents

Dept. of Civil Engi-
neering Laboratory
same

concrete

concrete and gravel
15,900

1-below ground

terrace spiral

Evaluation

e )
A non-building whose roof terrace,

though amply appointed, has a poorly de-

fined access and is. little used.
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Earth Sciences Building

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material;
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1961
Modern
Warnecke § Warnecke

$2,437,000

Regents

Depts.of Geology & Geophysics,
Geography, Paleontology

same

reinforced concrete

cement plaster

6

121,974

none
none

Description

A six-story rectangular structure at the
N central edge of campus, on a knoll over-
looking the central camnus axis and across
to Doe Library.

Building History

Offices, laboratories, and exhibit arcas
for Depts. of Geology and Geophysics,
Geography, Paleontology, Museum of Pale-
ontology, and Barth Scionces Library.

Evaluation

l

An undistinguished, modular structure
which looms large on a prominent site to
which it mukes no positive contribution.
The building has no particular historical
significance, but its collections are pop-
ular with campus visitors.



Descrietion

Etcheverry Hall is a six-story, rectangu-
lar office and classroom building 8 bays
long and 3 bays wide, sited between tlearst
and Ridge Road. ‘The concrete frame is ex-
pressed; infilled walls are of buft colored
concrete block; rectangular windows have
concrete boxed frames which project from
the wall several inches - reveals of round
headed insct windows are painted a dull
orange. A wood latticed sunshade occupies
the upper third of the architrave. Fenes-
tration on the long elevation has an alter-
nate rhythm, one floor being AA-A, the next
A-AA.  Un the end walls, the central portion
of the floor slabs projects to form balco-
nies which have heavy square wood railings.

‘the long L elevation opens on a graded
terrace with a parking lot at either end.
The central part is paved in concrete and
brick with a raised lawn section bounded by
a concrete curb.  There is a small reactor
under this terrace.

Building History

Numed for Bernard A. Etcheverry, pro-
fessor of irvigation and drainage (1915-
1951) and chairman of dept. (1923-51).

Evaluation

tEtcheverry is a boldly scaled structure
of nco-Brutaltist design expressing the usc
of concrete both as aesthetic material and
a means of construction. Because of its
size and scale the building does nothing to
cnhance its surroundings, which are made up
of small scale, low-rise structures of a
gencrally informal character. The land-
scaping is perfunctory; the siting is ad-
dressed to satisfying the building's func-
tional needs. No particular historical e-
vent is connected with the building; it is
too recent to have a cumilative history.

Etcheverry Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

1964
Contemporary Formalist
Skidmore Owings § Merrill

$4,544,000

Regents

Depts. of Industrial Engineering,
Mechanical Engineering, Nuclear
Engineering and the Division of
Aeronautical Sciences

same

concrete <
concrete, concrete block § wood
193,119

6
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3 « Math and Physical Sciences

1. LeConte Hall

2. Gilman Hall

3. Giauque Hall

4. Hildebrand Hall
5. Latimer Hall

6. Lewis Hall
7. Physical Sciences Lecture Hall
8. Evans Hall
9. Stanley Hall

10. Birge Hall

11. Campbell Hall
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LeConte Hall

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Archllect and Builder for Alterations:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1923
Classical
John Galen lloward

$1,676,500

Regents

Dept. of Physics
same

reinforced concrete
cement wash

164,150

4

Miller § Warnecke;
John Carl Warneck § Assoc.
1950, 1964

east facade

Composed of an older building (1923)
with an addition (1950) comnected by a
broad, covered hall, creating an S-plan.

As the "lonic' cousin of Gilman, old
LeConte forms the W side of a paved and
lundscaped corridor which is a minor cross-
axis of the lloward Plan linking llearst Min-
ing Circle with the roadway along Straw-
berry Creek,

0ld LeConte differs from Gilman in hav-
ing 2 main entrances instead of 1, a stri-
ated rather than rusticated base, and winor
diflTerences in decorative detail. Other-
wise, both facades are divided into 8 bhays
by colwms with modified lonic capitals,
Old LeConte has a complete Classic cornice
and doors framed with a series of egg-and-
dart, bead and reel and other moldings sur-
mounted by claborately detailed hoods on
maturalistic consoles. The doors are of
golden oak and have transoms with 8 lights,
The end bays ave treated as facades for
the E-W wings,  The bays have 2 registers

77

of 3 windows each, separated by a frieze of
palmettes. The tiled voof is raised at the
ridge to form a skylight for the attic
story. [Interiors have high ceilings.

A U-shaped hall with elevators provides
circulation. Both old and new LeConte are
connected to Birge llall by steel-framed,
gluzed walkways.

New LceConte has a very simplified Clas-
sic appearance. A base with molding that
rises a story-and-a-half supports 2 stories
divided by flat, unornamented piers.
Standard aluminum-frame windows are set in-
to the wall without moldings. The W sec-
tion of the third floor has a small terrace
with lemon trees in planters. The Physics
Library is located on the third floor and
extends from part of New LeConte into 0ld
LeConte. Two lecture halls occupy the
spaces on either side of the glass door en-
try to New LeConte. The lecture halls they
replaced in Old LeConte were converted to

lab spaces. Doth Old and New LeConte are
connected to Birge llall by steel-framed,
glass-enclosed corridors.



......................

Building History

Named for John LeConte, Professor of
Physics (1868-91) and third President of
the University (1876-81), and Joseph
L.cConte, Professor of Geology and Natural
Science (1868-1901). Both brothers served
the Confederacy during the Civil War and
consequently were unable to find cmployment
in the South during the reconstruction per-
iod. As they were about to emigrate, the
University hired them as its first profes-
SOrs.

0ld LeConte was built on the site of
tast Malt, which was moved to the site of
Morrison llall and later razed in 1961. The
20 ft. ceilings proposed for the new build-
ing to provide continuity with LcConte were
considered too extravagant. Consequently,
Birge has lower ceilings and a split-level
stair at every level of the glass-enclosed
walkway,

—

Evaluation
]

Architecturally, the most significant
aspect of LeConte is the old building's NE
facade, designed to harmonize with Gilman
across the way. Together these facades de-
fine an important formal outdoor space. The
interior of the 1923 portion is rather
gloomy and archaic. New LeConte is a good
example of the self-effacing architecture
of the 1950's.

llistorically, old LeConte has the associ-
ational values of the older campus build-
ings, but is related to no significant e-
veats. The building's name comnemorates an
important carly University professor and
its first president.

Environmentially, the esplanade between
LeConte and Gilman which provides a vista
from Hearst Mining to Strawberry Creck is
an important campus axis and should be pre-
served. The similar facades of the two
buildings cnhance the overall quality of
the area.

rno

Y



Gilman Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Orriginal Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description
L ]

Gilman lall is across the esplanade from
old Letonte and is a close match for it in
height, use of materials, general form and
rich Classical detail. Gilman differs from
LeConte in having one main cntrance on the W
facade rcached by a bifurcated stair, and a
slightly different treatment of the masonry
courses in the base. ‘There are also minor
differences in the decorative detail. See
LeConte for further description.

7

1917
Classical
John Galen loward

$205,053

Regents

College § Dept.

of Chemistry

Dept. of Chemical
Engineering
reinforced concrete
cement plaster
44,700

3

none
classic ornament

Building History

Gilman llall has always been associated
with the College of Chemistry, 1t was
named for Daniel Coit Gilman - second Pres-
ident of the University (1872-75).

With the advent of graduate programs in
Chemistry and Physics, the space in South
Htall and the Chemistry Building became too
crowded. This led to the construction of
both Gilman and LeConte. Gilman is now
used exclusively for offices and labs for
the Dept. of Chemical Engineering.

Room 307A Gilman was declared a Regis-
tered National llistoric Landmark in 1969.
Llement 94 - Plutonium - was discovered in
this room in February, 1941, by Seaborg,
McMillan, Wahl, and Kennedy.

Evaluation
.

Gilmwan's significonce lies in its archi-
tectural and envirommental harmony with old
LeConte, discussed in the previous section.
its historical significance is similar to
LeConte's.



Description

l

See conments

Building History

\

tor research in properties of matter at
temperatures approaching zero degrees;
named for William F. Giaque, professor of
chemistry, emeritus, and Nobel Laurcate.

Evaluation

A sunken laboratory under the plaza be-
tween Latimer und Nildebrand llalls, with
interesting structural mechanisms that, in
1he case of a major explosion, direct the
blast to minimize damage to surrounding
structures. No architectural, historical,
or environmental merit.

Giauque Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1954
Modern
Reynolds § Chamberlain

$793,000

Regents

Low Temperatyxé Lab
Same

Brick and concrete

Brick

27,430

3 (2 below ground)

0



Hildebrand Hall

Completed: 1966
Style: Modern
Architect: Anshen § Allen
Builder:
Cost:  $4,605,000
Owner: Regents
Original use: Chemistry
Present Use:  Research Labs

same
Structure: concrete
Exterior Material: concrete
Square Footage: 131,360
Number of Stories: multiple
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

e

A reinforced concrete block, sited per-
pendicularly to Latimer, which accommodates
a story-high change in grade from its N to
5 side. The N half of the building rises
from a puved terrace, as does Latimer, and
consists of 2 stories of laboratories over
a recessed lobby with glazed walls
which contains stairs and service arcas.
The lab floors have glazed walls divided by
dluminum sash on the N and S sides recessed
to create balconies running the length of
the N and S elevations. At the roof line
there is a parapet of patterned and perfo-
rated terra cotta brick which screens the
mechanical equipment on the roof. The I
and W clevations alternate thin concrete
witll strips with windows and coated metal
spandrels.  The wall strips overtap the
lower Floor and rise above the roof where
they ave tied together with sections of
patterned, perforated brick. The 4 S bays
of 1hldchrand rest on a concrete slab with
i shallow coffered underside which extends

81

from the terrace level about 25 feet and is
supported by two large piers. This slab
forms an upper deck bounded by a painted
concrete balustrade. The ground level un-
der this projected section is paved. Where
the building is supported by a basement
floor under the terrace there is a brick-
walled tunnel leading to a court at the N
end of which a branching concrete stair
with curved metal railing gives access to
the upper terrace.

Building History

Named for Joel Il. [lildebrand, professor
of chemistry, emcritus, Dean of Men (1923-
26), Dean of College of Letters § Science
(1939-43) and College of Chemistry (1949-
51}, and chairman of the chemistry depart-
ment (1941-43) .

Evaluation

Ilildebrand, Latimer and the Physical Sci-
ences lLecture lalls form a unified, contem-
porary complex of average architectural mer-
it whose composition dominates the SE edge
of this campus precinct. Architecturally,
the buildings have an intcrnal harmony
through their use of materials und general
design character. Though the system of ter-
riaces and the sunken entrance court on the
N side of Latimer represcnt am attempt to
provide an cnvironmental ameanity, the scale
of the complex and its essentially internal
orientation keep it aloof from the arca
around it. The NW parking lot is an unfor-
tunate moat between the complex and the N-$
axis from llearst Mining to Strawberry Creck.



Description

An cight-story reinforced concrete block;
mechanical ductwork is partially carried in
the vertical framing members und expressed
at the roof level. The N elevation has 7
bays articulated as recessed, glazed wall
scetions divided by aluminum sash. The
shallow bhalconies have metal balustrades.

At the roof level there is a section of per-
forated ornamental terra cotta bricks span-
ning the bay. DEnd walls have concrete pan-
cls and small windows in the center scc-
tions. Access to Latimer on the N side is
from a sunken court sharcd with the Physi-
cal Sciences Lecture lall.

Building History

Named for Wendell M. Latimer, professor
of chemistry (1919-55), Dean of College of
Chemistry (1942-49).

Evaluation

A large, modular concrete framed build-
ing with patterned brick panels, which is
ol average architectural and landscape merit.,

Latimer Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

-
9 ¥

1963
Modern
Anshen § Allen

$6,282,000

Regents

Dept. of Chemistry
same

concrete

concrete

185,420

multiple

courtyard stair
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Lewis Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1948
Neoclassic
L.Geoffrey Bangs

$1,132,500
Regents
Chemistry
same
concrete

concrete
57,600
2

Description
L e

A three-story, stcel framed, concrete
building with a lower wing angled S. Its
stuccoed surface is dressed with a minimal
amount of Classic detail: quoins, balus-
trades, and a simplified cornice capped by
a tiled, hip roof. The interior has one of
the campus' largest lecture halls.

Building History

Named for Gilbert N. Lewis, professor of
chemistry (1912-45), Dean of College of
Chenistry (1912-41).

Evaluation
- " ]

Architecturally a stripped neoclassic
design of average quality respectful of its
site below Gayley Road. It was scnsitively
integrated into the modern building complex
around it and stands as a neutral "wall-
like" clement at its castern edge. llistor-
ical significance unresearched at this
time.



Description

A mudern, round, sunken lecture hall
that makes extensive use of mechanical
and electronic equipment. A revolving,
three part stage permits continuous use
of auditorium seating 550,

Building History

This facility repluced the auditorium in
the 1892 Chemistry Building which was razed
in the carly 1960's. It was planned for
lectures by visiting scientists,

Evaluation

A conventional wmodern building of little
architectural distinction.

Physical Sciences Lecture Hall

Completed:

Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1964
Modern
Anshen § Allen

$599,500

Regents

lecture hall
same

brick § concrete
brick

14,300

3

PN



Evans Hall

Completed:

Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

A ten-story, rectangular, blocky con-
crete mass which sits astride the W edge of
llcarst Mining Circle.

85

1971
Neo Brutalist
Gardner Dailey Assoc.

$5,924,000

Regents

Department of Mathematics
Same :
Concrete

Concrete

180,000

10

Building History
L

Named for Griffith C. Evans, professor’
of mathematics, emeritus, and department
chairman (1934-49),

[

Evaluation
IllIIllIlIIIIIIIlIIllIllllllllllllllllllllllll

A banal and debumanizing structure in
its height and interior design. The struc-
ture obstructs the original E-W axis and
competes unfortunately with the Campanile
as the most visible University landmark
from the W. The building is too new to
have any historical merit.




Description

A five story, rendered concrete rectan-
gular block. The W elevation has a covered
terrace whose roof is formed by an appar-
e¢nt cantilevering of the sccond floor slab
approximately 15' beyond the wall plane
where it is supported by square columns.
The building has o low pitched, tiled hip
roof,

Building History

Research organization established (1948)
to conduct studies on biochemical and bio-
logical properties of animal, bacterial,
plant viruses.

Evaluation
T e e )

A bland Modern deslgn whose under-
stated quality and cheapness are partic-
ularly inappropriate for this significant
site at one of the pateways to the campus.
The smallness of the W facing windows only
furthers the building's nullification of
its site.

Stanley Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1952
Modern
Michael Goodman

$1,231,500

Regents

Biochemistry § Virus Lab
Molecular Biology & Virus Lab
Concrete

Concrete

63,040

6
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Birge Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description
b

A straightforward, six-story gray hoxy
structure with 9 bays, due S of LeConte
llal)l and due E of the Cumpanile, matching
Campbell Nall. 1t is a simplified modern
version of a Classical design whose pro-
jecting tile roof seems almost to parody
thosce of the older loward buildings. The
window pattern is regular. False balco-
nies project from the top floor.

87

1964
Modern
Warnecke § Warnecke

$2,964,000

Regents

Physics Department
Physics Department
Concrete

Concrete

92,400

6

Glass passageways

Building History
L~

Named for Raymond T. Birge, professor of
physics, emeritus, chairman of department
(1932-54) . .

Evaluation
IIlIIIlIIIllIlIIIllllllllllllllllllllllll

Architecturally, the design of Birge ex-

hibits a timid good neighborliness. The
glass bridges connecting Birge with LeConte
are its most notable feature. It combines
with new LcConte to make an undistinguished
though innofensive wall framing this N-S
axis and the Campanile Esplanade. No par-
ticular historical significance.



Campbell Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

A six story concrete framed block with
12 bays of strong modular character with a
projecting red tile roof. There are
wrought iron balconies at the top floor
tevel and unused balconies at the second
floor level.

Building History
Named for William Wallace Campbell, dir-

ector of Lick Observatory (1891-1930),
President of the University (1924-30).

Orriginal Use:

1959
Modern
Warnecke § Warnecke

$1,238,000

Regents

Departments of Mathmatics,
Astronomy and Statistics
College of Letters § Science
concrete

concrete

61,340

Evaluation

Campbell is very similar in character to
Birge lall, designed by the same firm., It
is a neutral block which does little more
than hold down this corner site and rein-
force an important N-S axis, No particular
historical merit.

QQ
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4 « Housing, Sports, and Cultural
Facilities
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1. Hearst Greek Theatre
2. California Memorial Stadium
3. Stern Hall

4. Bowles Hall

5. International House



Hearst Greek Theatre

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Orriginal use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1903
John Galen Howard

$447,000

Regents

outdoor theatre

same

concrete (apparently unreinforced)
concrete

40,390 (seating 10,000)

Ernest Born

1957, dressing rooms, approaches,
lighting and roof
carved stone seats

e e

A concrete structure, the Greek Theater
consists of 2 main parts: seating and
stage. It occupies a natural amphitheater
above Gayley Road just north of Bowles
Hall, where the hill forms a semicircular
bowl, oriented toward and open to the W.

At the top of the bowl, a grass mound
descends to 19 rows of concrete benches
which step down the slope to form a semi-
circle facing the high Classical stage on
the W. There are 11 aisles, with 9 en-
trances at the top and 11 at the bottom.
The lowest tiers, closest to the stage,
have 28 carved stone chairs. The stage is
enclosed on 3 sides by a high wall with
attached horic columns and a Doric entab-
lature, closed on both ends by square
piers. The principal stage entrance lies
at the center and consists of a monumen-
tal doorway in an aedicule form with a
Classic entablature on consoles and egg
and dart molding. Secondary entrances lie
at the sides. ‘The backstage area is sur-

91

rounded by storage and utility spaces to
the N and S. The entrances to the theater
proper lie along a scries of terraces and
staircases of apgregate concrete N and S
of the stage. According to Walter Stei-
berg, no evidence of steel reinforcing has
been found.




.

Building History

The Greek Theater, “this noble enscmble
of building, sky and garden," as Ernest
Born called it, has always been considered
u symbol of the University. Though not a
part of the original conception of the
Imiversity, the Greck Theater was the
first of John Gulen Howard's buildings to
be completed.

The site, called "Ben Weed's Amphithca-
ter,” after its discoverer, had been used
since 1894 for the annual Senior Extrava-
ganza. President Benjamin Ide Wheeler per-
suaded William Randolph Mearst to pay for
its conversion into a wore substantial set-
ting For University functions. According
to historian Joun Draper, architect, pa-
tvon, and University president clearly saw
parallels between Berkeley and Greek life.
The Greek Theater was modeled after the
theater at Epidaurus. loward intended to
crown the backh wall with carytids, encir-
cle the scating arca, which holds 10,000,
with a double columnade, and cover all ex-

terior surfaces with marble, but costs
proved prohibitive. Private donors pro-
vided the inscribed marble chairs (de-
signed by Earle Cummings, instructor in
modeling in the Dept. of Architecture,

and based on Greek models). Julia Morgan
worked with Howard on the plans, and may
have supervised the construction. [t was
used for the first time (before completion)
on 16 May 1903 when President Theodore
Roosevelt delivered the commencement ad-
dress there. Formul dedication came on

24 Scptember 1903 with the presentation of
selections from Aristophanes The Birds in
the original Greek. LErnest Dorn added new
dressing rooms, approaches, lighting and
roof in 1957,

Evaluation
llllIlllIlllllllIIlllllllllllllllllllllll

The architectural and environmental mer-
it of the Greek Theater are inscparable. As
lloward himself said, "Combining as it does
the monumental and festive character, this
form of building is at once impressive and
graceful....The pure, simple, big classic
forms harmonize exquisitely with the forms
of hill and canyon." Historically, the
structure symbolized the combined intellec-
tual and democratic idealism of the early
University. The structure is appropriate
for nomination to the State lLandmarks Com-
mission and the National Register.

02
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California Memorial Stadium

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1923
Classical
John Galen lloward

$1,021,500

Regents

football stadium
same

reinforced concrete
cement wash

387,670

4+ levels

Ernest Born - press box
ornament; stadium built in
sections because it lies
directly on Hayward Fault

Description
e e e e

A reinforced concrete bowl structure onm
Stadiun Rim Way E of the central campus be-
tweeh Kleeberger Field and International
llouse. Following the Roman model for
sports arenas, the simplified Neo-Classic
exterior is divided into an upper and lower
zone by a heavy stringcourse molding which
expresses the floor division on the interi-
or. Segmental arched openings in an AAA-A
rhythm punctuate the bays which correspond
on the inside to tiers of seats: a molded
cornice terminates the wall. At the NW and
Sl ends there are monumental entrance
arches with high false pediments.

Building History

Built in 1923 from the proceeds of a
fund-raising campaign and dedicated to
the memory of University students who
lost their lives in World War I.

Evaluation
[

A conventionally designed structure,
well-sited in a natural bowl. Over a long
period of use the stadium has acquired the
layers of meaning appropriate to such a
collegiate shrine.



“a

Description
sttt o st e R i

A reinforced concrete structure with an
irregular plan segmented and angled to fol-
low the curve and slope of its hill site
NW of Hearst Greek Theater and E of Gayley
Rd. The main entrance to the building is on
the & side from a loop entrance road off
learst Ave. ‘the entrance door is in one
corner of a brick paved patio,

The building is functionally divided in-
to 3 parts. The one-story segment near
Hearst Ave. has service rooms; the two-
story mid-section hus the muin social rooms:
the drawing room, parlor and library, all
with high ceilings, on the ground floor and
the library and offices on the upper floor;
the SW four-story segwent with its two pro-
jecting wings has the student rooms. The
end elevations of these projecting wings
have balconies running across them at each
floor. The building is fenestrated with
different sized windows reflecting the
type of spauce inside. There are two stair-
wells enclosed by glass walls.

Building History

First University owned residence hall
for women; includes addition, 1959 (Wurster
Bernardi and Emmons); named for Sigmund
Stern '79, San Francisco businessman and
benefactor to the University.

Evaluation
= e SR

A design of consideruble architectural
distinction through its sensitive use of
waterials and hurmonious expression of func-
tion, Stern Hall is also an outstanding ex-
umple of good site planning. The building
not only fits well into its setting but has
created a man-made environment popular with
ils ovcupants.

Stern Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Architect for Alterations:
Significant Features:

1942
Modern

Corbett § McMurray & W.W.Wurster

$480,500

Regents

Residence Hall for Women
Same

Concrete

Concrete

65,392

4

Wurster, Bernardi & Emmons 1959
Siting, landscaping, plan

D



Bowles Hall

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1929
Tudor
George W. Kelham

$354,000
Regents

residence hall

same

hollow brick, reinforced concrete
reinforced concrete, tile

73,700

2 -5

Michael Goodman

c. 1950, life safety: reinforc-
ing, canopies

siting

e

A Tudor Style dormitory complex which
steps up the hillside to the NE of the
campus, Bowles llall was oriented to Sta-
dium Rim Way and the direction of the
slope rather than the campus axis. The
"U" plan creates a forecourt approached by
a long stairway lined with Italian cypres-
ses. The landscaped forecourt has 2
levels divided into lawns and flagstone
paving. At the back of the court, a log-
gia of 5 arches divides the ground floor
into 5 bays. This 5-bay division is ar-
ticulated vertically by fenestration and
high-peaked, crossgables with molded cor-
nices projecting from from the main roof.
Stepping down the hillsides, the symmet-
rical wings have gabled roofs with molded
cornjces at the ends, chimuey stacks, cross
gables and shed-roofed dormers, Most win-
dows are casements with flat hood moldings
or dripstones. The end section of each
wing steps down a half floor, breaking the
roof line.
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The wood-paneled entrance lobby has tile
floors. To the right is a wood-paneled
lounge with a white, stuccoed beam ceiling;
to the left is the "refectory,' with gabled
beamed ceiling, and kitchen. Double-loaded
corridors run through the building on each
level; vertical circulation is provided by
S stairways and an elevator. Bowles is not
accessible by wheelchair. There are both
single and double rooms, and 3-room suites
with 2 bedrooms and a common study.




Building History

W
According

Bowles was the first University-built
residence hall. Most of the cost was cov-
ered by a gift of $265,000 from Mrs. Philip
E. Bowles in honor of her hushand, who was
a Repent (1911-1912). The llart Library,
located behind the front lobby, was donated
in 1938 by James D. Hart and his sister
Illen Hart Bransten.

besigned in the popular Collegiate-
Gothic or Tudor Style, Bowles' accommodi-
tions were considered luxurious at the time
of its construction. [t conforms to
Hloward's Plan for dorms on the hillside.
Following a life-safety study of the build-
ing by Michael Goodman, the hollow brick
partition walls were reintorced and a sys-
tem of containment adopted for the flat-
Liled rool Lo avoid the danger of falling
tile. Corrugated, stecl-roofed canopies
in (ront of the forecourt doors aund cover-
ing the back terrace were installed as
shelters,  The [-beams Framing these shel-
ters are tapered at top and bottum to har-

monize with the lancet windows,
to Goodman, the foundation reinforcing was

perfectly constructed.
located on a fault,

The building is

Evaluation

The architectural merit of Bowles is
secondary to its environmental aspects, al-
though it deserves am above-averape rating
for its structure and use of materials. The
building's principal achievement lies in its
siting und the way the picturesque massing
complements the eucalyptus-studded hillside.
Bowles' historical merit is high for rea-
sons stated in the first paragraph of the
building history,

06
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International House

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1930

L)

Spanish Colonial Revival N

George W. Kelham

$1,750,000
Regents
residence hall
same

concrete L ]

concrete

243,300

1-3

Gardner Dailey, Wm. Gillis

1947, entrance arcade altered and
glazed; 1977-78, alterations for

handicapped access, ventilation,

electrical and fire safety.

domed tower, courtyard, original
interior decor

-

Sited on the I side of Piedmont Ave. at
the head of Bancroft Way, the plcturesque
massing of I llouse complements its verdant
sctting and backdrop of rolling hills. Its
resemblence to a Mission Revival hotel is
strengthened by a nine-story, domed tower
styled like a California mission bell tow-
er. The concrete is also rendered in an
apprupriate light cream color.

The main facade has a one-story, glazed
entrance reached by a broken flight of
steps from the strect. The three-story
blocks on either side of the arcade turn
their gabled ends to the street and form
the sides of an open court. This space is
closed on the ki by a three-story section
with an open gallery on the top floor.
Romanesgue arches and columns at the court
entrance give a cloister effect. 'The rest
of the building steps up the slope, rising
Lo scven stories at the back where the pri-
viate rooms are located. The N wing has a
500 seat auditorium.
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The complex plan also has several public
rooms, a dining room, coffee shop and li-
brary. Although much of the furniture has
been lost or put in storage and a great
deal of the ornamental detail covered over
(for example, the ceiling of the Great
Hall), the building does retain some of the
original Mission Revival furnishings along
with a variety of ornamental detail rang-
ing from a zigzag Modcrne chandelier to
Moorish window dressings.




-

.

Building History

tn 1927, the Regents announced a $1.8
million gift Efrom John D. Rockefeller, Jr.
to purchase land and construct a social
center "to foster closer rclations between
students of American birth and those coming
from foreign countries.'" Not wishing to i-
dentify their center with any one religion,
the University worked closely with Harry
Ldmomds, Director of the I louse in New
York City, who reviewed and criticized the
plans. University authorities desired as
low a building as possible within the re-
quircments of housing 400 men ¢nd women,
The U. €. 1 House was the scecond of 4 such
houses (New York, Berkeley, Chicago, Paris)
completed by 1936,

George Kelham, thiversity Architect at
the time, was recommended to the Rockefel-
ler intercsts as "breezy, shrewd, elfi-
cient, restless and hasty perhaps, but en-
gaging. . .a businessman's architect.™
Ketham used the Mission Revival Style to
pive the complex a regional character. Un-

fortunutely, this was diminished when the
open entrance arcade was altered and glazed
by Gardner Dailey in 1947,

The only interruption of use of the I
llouse was during the war when it was occu-
pied by Navy V-2 units.

‘The legal description of I llouse is as
follows: Intcrnational House is a non-
profit, private, charitable corporation
which operates on land and within a build-
ing given to the Regents of UC by John D.
Rockefeller, Jr. in 1929,

Y UCEREY I T |
o B B A B :i”ll

Evaluation

Through its picturesque massing and
Mission Revival Style, the International
House provides un appropriately designed
climax to one of the main campus arteries.

As the second of four such houses across
the country, l-llouse has national as well |
as local significance. It is one of the
University's most distinguished institu-
tions.

no
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5 e Professional Schools

1. Wurster Hall

2. Boalt Hall

3. Cowell Memorial Hospital
4. Chemical Biodynamics Lab
5. Minor Hall

6. Minor Hall Addition

7. Girton Hall

8. Cheney House-2241 College
9. Cheney House-2243 College

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.

2251 College

Piedmont Row-2220
Piedmont Row-2222
Piedmont Row-2224
Piedmont Row-2232
Piedmont Row-2234
Piedmont Row-2240

100
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Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Orriginal Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Building\ History

- A slightly irregular ten story, U- Named for William W. Wurster, professor
shaped concrete brutalist building whose of architecture, emeritus, Decan of College
projecting  wings form a court at the sec- of Environmental Design, cmeritus, and the
ond story. The N block houses the depart- late Mrs. Catherine Bauer Wurster, lecturer

- ments of City and Regional Planning, Land- in City and Regional Planning.

scape Architecture and 6 floors of studios

for the Architcecture Department. The cen-

tral block contuins the administrative

of Tices, lobby and some classrooms. The S

block contains the Visual besign Progran.

At the time of its construction Wurster

Hall was the highest pre-cast concrete str-

ucture in the country.

Description

Woaurster Hall

1964

DeMars, Esherick
& Olsen

$4,860,000
Regents
College of Envi-

ronmental Design
same

concrete
concrete
215,800
10

Evaluation

An important architectural statcment for
its time, whose constructivist desipn ex-
pressed the “Brutalist" idcology by means
of an unrelenting modular organization and
frankly exposed mechanical systems on the
interior. BbDetractors view Wurster (lall as
defiantly factory/mechanical and devoid of
comfort and grace fecling that its charac-
ter departs dramatically from that of the
rest of the campus architecture and domi-
nates the surrounding cenvironment.

As the first College of Environmental
Design in the world, it has a particular
historical sipgnificance.

100,
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Boalt Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1951
Modern
Warren C. Perry

$1,740,500

Regents

School of Law

same

reinforced concrete
cement plaster

2 -7

Wurster, Bernardi & Emmons
lounge

Boalt Uall is the major element of the
Law Complex, a group of rectangular blocks
set at right angles to each other against
the W slope of the central campus at its SE
corner. The plan is articulated to form a
long open court on the S side of the com-
plex along Bancroft Way; the building is
sited on different levels to accommodate
the sloping ground. Though Modern, the de-
sign of Boalt reflects the Neo-Classic styl-
ing of older campus buildings; the use of
tow-pitched, tiled hip roofs continues the
reference to early California architecture.

The W wing runs perpendicular to Ban-
croft Way. Its W and E sides have a con-
crete bench running along the base, which
continues along the S elevation of the
central block. A terrace with brick and
concrete paving, planted with a row of reg-
ularly spaced trees, is bounded by a low
concrete wall with an aluminum railing, and
extends from the W elevation for about 20
feet. A sct of brick steps at either end
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provides access to the ground level. The
ground floor is divided into 10 bays; 8
have windows and 2 have glass doors. (Win-
dow and door frames are aluminum throughout
the building.) The ground floor is occu-
pied by classrooms and offices; the 2nd and
3rd floors have classrooms and courtrooms,
not fenestrated on the W side. The upper
part of the W elevation is a blank concrete
wall which features two large black marble
plaques set over the entrance doors. This
two-story upper part of the wall rests on a
socle which projects about 2-1/2 feet over
the benches below.

Steps at the S end lead to a building en-
trance and to the long court, which has a
sunken lawn with regularly spaced trees and
concrete terraces on 3 sides. Two sets of
steps give access to Bancroft Way. The E
elevation of the class and court room wing
faces on the court; its windows and doors
have heavy, boxed concrete frames. The S
side of the central, connecting block has

a colonnade without capitals which supports
a plain concrete slab, Above this covered
colonnade the wall joins the roof. The two-
story high library is fenestrated above a
story-high wooden wainscotting on the inte-
rior. Windows have the same heavy boxed
concrete frames on the exterior.

The E section of Boalt is articulated in
3 purts. A two-story block on Bancroft Way
has a redwood pancled lounge on the upper
level with a concrete coffercd ceiling in
blue and white. Its S elevation has a peb-
ble aggregate paneled surface and glazed
French doors opening on balconies with met-
al railings. Adjoining the lounge on its N
side is the Jesse If. Steinhart Court, which
has a tile and concrete paved surface. A
wood pergola runs around the court, which
is encloscd on the W side by a glass wall.
The ground level of this section is occu-
pied by the Booth Auditorium.



Building History

School of Law transferred from former
Hoalt Hall (1951); Boalt name also trans-
ferred and applied to classroom wing of
the new building; the other wing is named
for Garret W. McEnerncy and contains the
Luw Library.

Evaluation
it e e S e e

Architecturally, Boalt is a restrained
and understated design whose bost features
are the landscaped terraces and the two
courts. The complicated articulation of
the plan creates both interesting outdoor
spuces and consideruble interior confusion
in respect to circulation. Only the habit-
ual users seem to know their way around.
The environmental amenity of the complex
was diminished by the construction of Man-
ville Hall, which made un insensitively
scaled barrier at this corner of the campus.

104



Cowell Memorial Hospital

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1930
Classical
Arthur Brown, Jr.

$450,000

Regents

hospital administered by
Student Health Service
same

concrete

concrete

108,398

5

none

Description
L

A five story simplified nco-classic
structure whose main W facade is formally
and symmetrically composed of a central
block and flanking sings. The E facade is
irregular and more utilitarian.

Building History

The original scction of the hospital,
built with a $250,000 gift from the Ernest
V. Cowell estate in 1930 and administered
by the Student llcalth Service, received ad-
ditions in 1954 of the Donner Pavilion, a
two-story addition to the E wing for re-
search in radiobiology under supervision
of thc Donner Laboratory, and in 1960, a
four-story hospital wing to the N for an
additional 100 beds. The first addition
was funded by a gift of $193,000 from the
Donner Foundation, the second by a gift of
$246,000 from the Cowell Foundation.

Evaluation
[ e e Py

Cowell's architectural merit lies in its
harmony with the general Classic, Mediter-
ranean character of the campus; it is oth-
erwise undistinguished. Environmentally,
its former commanding position and sympa-
thetic rclation to its site have been
greatly eroded by parking lots and new
neighboring buildings. Its historical sig-
nificance has not been fully researched at
this writing.



Description

A roud, three story, tile roofed
structure with an open colonnade at ground
level. The very fine concrete finish was
the result of a special process deviscd by
the architect.

Building History

Its historical significance lies in
its association with Nobel Prize winner
Melvin Calvin, for whom the building was
erected.

Funds were provided by the National Sci-
ence Foundation; C. F. Kettering Founda-
tion; National Institutes of llealth; and
state appropriations.

Evaluation
IlIlIlIIlIIIIlIIIIIIIII.II...IIIIII.I.I

The unusual shape and awkward site of
this building - in the "back yard" of
Wurster Hall, on the edge of a parking
lot - give it an incongruous appearance
and ambiguous relation to the area. Jts
function and the large tank-trucks which
service it are not related to its neigh-
bors. The design attempts to harmonize
with the older neoclassic buildings with
red tile roofs.

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Chemical Biodynamics Lab

1963
Modern
Michael A. Goodman

$1,253,000

Regents

Chemical Biodynamics Lab
Same

Concrete

Concrete

37,392

3

Concrete surface treatment § dec-
orative cornice

&



Minor Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1941
Neoclassic
Arthur Brown,Jr.

$140,000
Regents
Math. § Journalism

classes
Optometry School

concrete
concrete
22,600

2

Description

Like Cowcl] Hospital, Minor Mall is a
simplified neo-classic design whose spartan
character testifies to the straightened eco-
nomy of the times. It has been further
humbled by the bulk of Minor 1lall Addition
which has been shoe-horned into the space
behind it.

Building History

First occupicd by mathematics, journal-
ism, and "defence'" courses conducted with
U.S. funds; during development of atomic
bomb, building was cleared for use as
auxiliary unit of Radiation Lab; reoccu-
pied (1946) by mathematics, journalism,
naval science and some optometry courses;
remodeled (1953) for exclusive use of
School of Optometry.

Evaluation
R

A rather drab Neo-Classic buildinp
vhose wartime budget shows., Its archi-
tectural character is compatible with
Cowell llospital across the parking lot.
Environmentally, its site has been all
but obliterated by the crowding of
buildings and parking lots in this
area.



-
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Description

A four story concrete block whose
Floors are articulated by inset bunks of
windows with natural wood sunshades.

Building History

At this writing, the building is still
under copstruction.

Evaluation

A clcanly designed structure whose
butk and siting create an untortunate con-
gestion in this portion of campus.

Minor Hall Addition

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:

Number of Stories::

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1978

Modern

Mackinlay, Winnacker, McNeil
LEngstrum § Nourse c
$4,000,000

Regents

optometry clinic, offices, labs
same

concrete

sandblasted concrete

52,000

4

TN



Girton Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description
. "

A one-story, wood frame structure com-
posed of a large central space with flank-
ing one-room wings, lying below and paral-
lel to Gayley Road, just N of Cowell llos-
pital. The shingled hip roof features a
large brick chimney. Wide redwood clap-
boards sheathe the walls, and double-hung
wooden windows are banded under the eaves.
The front door is at the NE corner; other
doors open on a wooden deck on the SW ele-
vation. The single-wall construction is
unsheathed on the interior; the roof struc-
ture is also exposed. A fireplace occupies
the center of the NE wall,

109

1912

Ist San Francisco Bay Region
Julia Morgan

William Bruce

$4,782

Regents

meeting place for senior women
child day care center

wood

wood

1,790

1

1946, moved N of Cowell Hospital
on opening of Gayley Road
structure and fireplace




Building History

e e )

Girton llall originally stood a short
distance north of Cal Stadium, but was
moved to its present site in 1946 with the
completion of Gayley Road, which runs
through the site.

The Class of 1910 inaugurated a tradi-
tion of weckly "Senior Women's Singing" -
a combination concert and social hour -
which took place on the lower floor of the
old Hearst Hall., Whon the "singings" be-
came too noisy, the class started to raise
money for a sceparate structure just for
Scnior Women's meetings. The Class of 1911
cuntinued the fund raising effort until, by

June 1911, donations totaled $2,000, which
was still $1,000 short of the amount neces-
sary for a minimal mecting hall. When Lucy
Sprague, the Dean of Women, donated $500 on
the condition that matching funds be found,
Julia Morgan donated the plans. The new
Senior Women's Mall opened in the spring of
1912 with donations of china and houscwires
from Faculty wives. 'The hall was numcd for
Girton College, Cambridge, the First col-
lege to give university work to women in
England.

Evaluation
e e e

A pood example of the carly "woodsy" Bay
tradition by one of its mere prominent ar-
chitects; the building derives it archi-
tectural expression from an undramatic use
of simple forms and natural materials.
Having been moved before, it could be moved
again, if its site were nceded, As it
stunds it is pleasantly nestled agoinst the
hillside and appropriately screened by
trees.

Its historical merit is high because of
its rich and varied history of use.
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Cheney House-2241 College

Completed: 1880's
Style: Eastlake
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner: Regents

Original use: Warren Cheney House
Present Use: English as a Second Language

Structure: Wood frame
Exterior Material: Wood
Square Footage:
Number of Stories: 2

Alterations: Rooms turned into offices
Significant Features: Paneled hall, Eastlake details

Description
"]

This rectangular, two-story house with
gabled roof and Eastlake detail lies di-
rectly behind Wurster 11all (due east) in the
parking lot. 1Its wood frame is sheathed in
shingles and board siding. The pedimented
front pable contains latticework decora-
tions. Inside, the house reflects a
straight forward central hall plan with par-
lor on the left and drawing room on the
right. Both parlor and drawing room have
been considerably altered for offices.
Dining room and kitchen lie at the back.
The central hall retains its original
chevron patterned paneling (in tongue and
groove). A carved wooden banister and
newel post prace the stair. ‘The second
floor contains 3 major bedrooms and a
covered back porch.

111
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Building History
L

This house was built by Warren Cheney
c.1885, when the area enjoyed high favor as
a residential neighborhood. College Ave.
passed in front of the house until the ear-
ly 1960's when the College of Environmental
Design was built. Warrcn Cheney was a
writer for Sunset as well as editor of The
Californian, a rival of the Ovcrland Month-
ly. This was the house in which Sheldon
Cheney, critic and author of books on
theater and modern architecture, grew up.

»

Evaluation
.llIIIIllIlIIIIIIlIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

(see Comment on 2243 College Ave. house)




—

Description
#

A swall, rustic cottage in the Stick-
Lastlahe Style next door to the Warren
Cheney housc at 2241 College. Before the
strect pattern was altered, this was part
ol u residential block on College; at pres-
ent it is the middle of s parking lot £ of
Wurster flall. The house has been complete-
ly redesigned on the interior for offices.
Originally it had a side hall plan with
tiving room to the tront and kitchen to the
back. It is in nced of repair, especially
painting and foundation work.

Cheney House-2243 College

Completed:

Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Building History

Warren Cheney built this house for rent-
al purposes about 1895. For many yecars it
was the residence of James Turney Allen,
Professor of Greek.

1895
Eastlake

Regents

Warren Cheney Spec, llouse
Anthropology Offices

Wood frame

Wood

24

All rooms turned into offices
Exterior Wood pattern

Evaluation

e ]

Preservation of these “town and gown"
relics of early Berkeley would maintain the
links of the modern University to the past.
The site is unsatisfactory. It is recom-
mended that the buildings be moved.

Architecturally, thesce small residences
are good examples of a 19th century do-
mestic style often called *“Eustlake."
Though examples of the style arc not rare
_clscwherc, they are not conmon in Berkeley.

119
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2251 College

Completed:

Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

. Owner:
Orriginal use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description
L

A rectangular brick faced structure lo-
cated due N of Boalt llall at the edge of
the Wurster Hall parking lot. A Renais-
sance style triple arched portico defines
the main entrance on the west side. Inte-
riors have heen altered for office and
laboratory conversion.

113

ca. 1920
Classical
James Weeks

Regents

fraternity - Zeta Psi
Environmental Physiology Lab
wood

brick

12,340

3

office and 1lab conversion
Renaissance palazzo-inspired
portico

il P

* * * .
Building History Evaluation
L

Built for the Zeta Psi Fraternity in
the F920's when this section of College
Avenue was a flourishing residential
neighborhood.

The interior has been cxtensively al-
“tered for office and laboratory space,
though the living room fireplace and some
panclling rcemain.



-

Description

R R

This three-story rectangular house in
“collegiate Georgian" style occupies a
Berkeley city lot on Piedmont Ave. opposite
the stadium. ‘The structure has a slightly
projecting central portion of 7 bays de-
Fined by Fluted pilasters. Wings, onc bay
wide, arce at either end. Windows have fan-
lights or are double-hung and have shut-
ters.  The neo-Georgian entrance is sur-
mounted by a balustraded balcony. Behind
the balcony, double doors with a flat-
arched transom open to the stair landing
inside. The entrance composition is accen-
tuated by a balustrade breaking the cave
line of the roof, which also has 7 dorwers.
White painted detail contrasts appropri-
ately with the red brick walls.

The house has a central hall plan with a
living room, now filled up with office cu-
bicles, to the S, and a kitchen dining
room, also altered, to the N.  The haltway
above runs the leagth of the house.  The
cntrvance hall is pancled.

Piedmont Row-2220

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Building History

This house was the Kappa Sigma Frater-
nity, built in the 1920's. The fraternity
moved to new quarters in 1958, when the
University took over the property and con-
verted it into offices. It now houses the
Language Behavior Rescurch Laboratory.

ca. 1920
collegiate Georgian

Regents

Kappa Sigma Fraternity
Language Behavior Research Lab
brick

brick

3

office conversion
Georgian details, pan-
elled entrance hall

Evaluation

v

An example of the 1920's period revival
design in the neo-Georgian style. The in-
terior has been substantially altered; only
the main entrance hall remains in its orig-
inal state.
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Piedmont Row-2222

Completed: ca. 1915
Style: Tudor
Architect: F.D. Voorhces
Builder:
Cost:
Owner: Regents
Original use: house, Merriam T. Bancroft
Present Use: Project on Linguistic Analysis
Structure: wood frame
Exterior Material: wood § stucco
Square Footage:
Number of Stories: 2

Alterations:
Significant Features: simplified Tudor detailing, wood
panelling

Description Building History Evaluation

A two-story, half-timbered and shingled This house was built for Merriam T. This simple house remains essentially
house next to the old Kappa Sigma frater- Bancroft, before 1910. 1t was designed unaltered, though the dining room is
nity house on Piedmont. The gabled end by F. D. Voorhees, a local architect, filled with computer equipment.
clevation with chimney faces the strect. and cost $4,400. It is now the Center
Iintrance to the central hall plan is on for the Project om Linguistic Analysis.

the S side. fn plan, the compact hall
opens onto the living room to the E, the
library to the N, and the dining room to
the W. Most rooms are paneled. The house
remains essentially unaltered.
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Description
R

A flat-rooted, brown stucco house facing
Picdmont From its W side. The symmetrical
street clevation has 3 basic elements: a
central scction with a colunned entrance
and round-headed windows above and 2 squure
projecting wings, each with a chimney on
the end elevation.

lnside, the house is axially arranged
about the central hall: to the S lies the
now completely altered living room, to the
W three steps lead to the comservatory, and
to the N are the dining room and kitchen.

A copper hood over the living room fire-
place is still intact. The dining room has
a secret panel to the left of the fire-
place. There are 4 plus bedrooms upstairs.

Building History

This house was built for Professor
Charles A Noble in 1909. 1t was designed
by William Knowles, an architect who did
many Berkeley houses at this time, for
$10,000. 1t is now the Center for the
Study of Law and Society.

Evaluation

Inside, the house has been considerably
altered for office conversion. llowever,
the central hall and panclled dining room
Temaln 1ntact.,

Piedmont Row-2224

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1909
Simplified Mission Revival
William A. Knowles

$10,000

Regents

house, Prof. Charles A. Noble
Center for Study of Law & Society
wood frame

stucco

2

rooms turned into offices
conservatory, paneled dining
room

o



Piedmont Row-2232

Lompleted:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

This two-story, rectangular, half-
timbered house occupies the lot next to the
Noble house to the S. Like the Merriam T,
Bancroft house at 2222 Piedmont, the main
entrance is in the middle of the S side.
The front door opens to the stair hall,
which occupies the width of the house and
divides it into sections. East of the hall
lies the living room, which takes up the
entire front of the house, facing the
street. West of the hall are the dining
room and the panelled billiard room. The
stair itsclf is spacious; a Tudor bay win-
dow at the landing Ffills the hall with
light and opens to a small balcony on the
N. All the woodwork in the house is blue
gum.

Alterations have been made to the dining
and billiard rooms and the stairway. The 3
mijor bedroowms have fireplaces. There is a
brass speaking tube which connects the up-
staivs hall with the kitchen. The house
now contains Anthropology offices.
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1909
Tudor cottage
Julia Morgan

Regents

Judge Olney or Walter Kellogg
Anthropology offices

wood frame

wood § stucco

2

stairway straightened
Tudor bay window, pannelled
billiard room, brass speak-
ing tube

Building History

This Tudor cottage was designed by Julia
Morgan in 1908 and built in 1909. There is
some confusion as to whether this was
Morgan's design for Judge William Olney
or for Walter J. Kellogg. It has usually
heen referred to as the Kellogg house, but
Sara Boutclle could not substantiate this
designation in her rescarch., The house was
moved here from the other side of Piedmont
Ave.

Evaluation
]
An cxumple of Julia Morgan's facility

for efficient, informal design in the
eclectic Tudor Style. Refincment of detail
and a gencrous but simple treatment of
natural materials create a feeling of com-
fort and warmth. The house should be pre-
served as an cxample of early residential
architecture for the academic community.



B

Elieveens [ adl

Description

This boxy, two-story house sheathed in
shingles is S of the Kellogg house (2232
Picdmont). A side entrance and stair hall
run the width of the S. clevation. Dining
room and kitchen face the street. The back
or W halfl of the house with a central bay
window formerly contained the living room.

Piedmont Row-2234

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Building History

The house originally stood at 2251
Picdmont. Architect, original owner, and
date arc unknown. An early owner in the
1920's was Dr. P. B. Wall. On June 20,
1929, it was moved to its present lot, ori-
ginally owned by Professor Christy, to
clear the site for International llouse,
then under construction.

ca. 1915
Berkeley Shingle
William C. Hays

Regents

residence, early owner Dr. P.B. Wall
Institute of Internat'l Studies

wood frame

shingle

74

office conversion
exterior horizontal shingle pattern

Evaluation

Ceeee
An attractive example of the Berkeley

Shingle-style which originally character-

ized much of the University's residential

development, the house should be preserved.
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Piedmont Row-2240

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description
L ]

A large, symnetrical, three story house
in the half-timbered, Tudor Style next to
Boalt Mall, [Its U-shaped plan is open to
the street. The flanking wings have bay
windows; the main entrance opens in the
middle of a hall running N-S across the
central section. The W wall has the stair-
way. The § wing contains the living room,
featuring a cast-cement Tudor fireplace
with the coat of arms of the fraternity on
the mantlepiece. The N wing contains the
dining room and kitchen. Second-floor
bedrooms are now offices; the attic is a
larpe meeting hall, Two semi-circular
tables in the hall are part of the origi-
nal furnishings.
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1923
Tudor
Gwynn Officer

Regents

Sigma Phi Epsilon Fraternity
Institute of Personality
Assessment

wood frame
wood and stucco

3

unaltered
Tudor details,
Gothic meeting hall

Building History
L "

Berkeley architect Gwynn Officer de-
signed this structure for the Sigma Lpsilon
Fraternity in 1923. It was moved from its
original sitc at 2731 Bancroft, between
College and Piedmont, November 29, 1949, to
make way for the Boalt Hall School of Law.

Evaluation
.

An example of the 1920's period-;evivnl

design in the Tudor Style. The building's
spacious plan and unaltered condition rec-
ommend it for preservation.
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6+ Arts Complex

1. Hearst Gymnasium
for Women

2. Pelican Building
(Anthony Hall)

3. Power House
(Old Art Gallery)

4. Moses Hall

5. Hertz Hall

6. Morrison Hall

7. Barrows Hall

8. Kroeber Hall

9. University Art Museum
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Hearst Gymnasium for Women

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1927
Neo-Classic
Bernard Maybeck, Julia Morgan
K. E. Parker Co.

$660,000

Regents

Women's Phys. Ed. Complex
same - open to men as well
reinforced concrete
reinforced concrete, plaster
142,000
3

none
architectural detail, interior
courtyards, marble pools, urns,
bas relief sculpture, copper
framed windows

A large, two-story, rectangular block
aligned with the E-W campus axis, llearst
Gym is located on Bancroft Way. Designed
in the eclectic-Classic mode associated
with the Institute of the Beaux Arts, the
bui lding conveys an impression of symmetry
and regularity which is actually only true
of the S facade. This elevation has 3 rec-
tangular pavilions with matching facades,
set well out from the building block. Lle-
vated above street level, the S facade
faces a terrace whose retaining wall has a
Classical balustrade punctuated by monumen-
tal urns in a free Classic Style. A stair
compusition which descends from the side-
walk to the strect has low walls with round
coping and a single urn. This is a rare
instance of a building design which is
linked compositionally with the context of
the strect.

The pavilions have acdicules; the struc-
ture has a flat roof with a simplified en-
tablature and slightly projecting cornice
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at its edge. The recessed portions of the
facade have four windows extending from the
ground to the architrave. The windows are
composed of small, square pancs of glass in
copper muntins and divided into two sec-
tions by a copper fricze ornamented in Pom-
peian or Florentine manner. The windows
are further embellished with pairs of cop-
per coloncttes. Superimposed, fluted pi-
lasters with composite capitals and plain
bases support the window hoods.

The main terrace level of the N elevi-
tion is occupicd by the large, central pool
flanked by open courtyards. Interior
spaces are occupied by 6 gymnasiums, offi-
ces, library and lounges disposed around
the courtyards and pool. The pool court is
framed by a low wall with a molded base,
scat and top, hollowed out to hold plant-
ing. The wall ends are stopped by monumen-
tal hollow pedestals whose sides are sculp-
ted with dancing ladies bearing garlands in
high relief. The pedestals, capped with

dentiled cornices, serve as planters for
small trees. The central pavilion doorway,
detailed in the manner of the windows, has
low balustrades to either side sumounted
at the ends by statues and urns. The
"stage-set” effect is heightened by a total
absence of any utilitarian equipment except
a diving board. The E and W facades are
similar but of less interest,

The. gym*'s basement level houses the fil-
ter and machinery room, a rifle range, golf
and hockey cages, and locked storage for
the Hearst anthropological and art collec-
tion. The entrance level houses the locker
rooms and Women's Intercollegiate Athletic
Offices. These spaces open onto the land-
scaped courtyards, one of which has a foun-
tain. A glazed gallery connects the two
entrances. Industrial sash windows were
added here to control heat loss. In the
main level gyms, shyliphts diffuse light,
which plays over the urns used here as well
as on the exterior.



Building History

William Randolph llearst gave the Mewori-
al Gymnasium to the University in memory of
his mother. 1t replaced the Maybeck gym
and social center, llearst llall, destroyed
by fire in 1924. Upon hearing of the de-
struction, William Randolph stated his de-
sire to so honor his mother, "who was so
much interested in the welfare of the young
women ol the University, that she would
wish to have the building rebuilt in a man-
ner to prevent any such Jdestruction in the
future."

tlcarst also authorized Maybeck to pre-
pare preliminary designs for an auditorium
to be sited to the north near Strawberry
Creeh and an art gallery and muscium to the
cast. Colonmaded walks were to tic the
compusition together. llowever, llearst's
intevest cooled and, in 1925, he finally
agreed to fund construction of the Univer-
sity's first priority, the gymnasiwn, In
the cotlaboration with Julia Morgan, her
office was responsible for the construc-
Cion drawings and functional details while

Maybeck concentrated on the overall plan-
ning and design. The reasons for the
building's resemblance, in mood and style,
to the Palace of Fine Arts becomes clear
in the context of Maybeck's larger scheme,
as illustrated in the Documents Collection
drawings, published in Kenncth Cardwell's
book on Maybeck, page 198.

Nearst Gymnasium was conceived as a
complete retrcat for women, with conveni-
ent, comfortable rooms for lounging, cat-
ing and sleeping, which would be benefi-
cial to thosc commuting and spending long
duys at school. When completed it was the
largest and most modern gym in the country.
The 325,000 gallons necessary for the pools
forced the City of Berkeley to build a new
water treatment system on Bancroft Ave. to
meet the requirements of the gym complex.
Lavish use of custom-made components is excm-
plilied by the copper industrial windows
which took 4 months to fabricate.

Evaluation
]

As an exercise in romantic Classicism,
llcarst Memorial Gymnasium is equaled only
by Maybeck's other work, the Palace of Fine
Arts. The structure has a very high arch-
itectural and environmental merit both for
its design and its siting, which crecate a
dignified but not imposing effect for this
part of the S campus edge on Bancroft Way.
lNistorically, the complex has high merit as
documented in the building history section
and is recommended for nomination to the
State Landmarhs Commission and the Nation-
al Register.
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Pelican Building (Anthony Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1957

Bay Region Modern
Joseph Esherick
Dinwiddie Constr.Co.
$110,000

Regents

student humor magazine
student agencies §
Blue & Gold
concrete § wood,
post-beam

stucco, wood, tile
2,470

1

none
trellis, ceiling truss,
glazing, carved capitals,
tile roof, sculpture of
pelican

e

The Pelican Building, now Anthony Hall,
is a distinctive, one-story, residentially-
scaled structure on the S bank of Straw-
berry Creek, N of Barrows llall. The build-
tng consists of a main 2-room block, paral-
lel to the creek, with a l-room wing to the
N. Two pergolas with timber trellises sup-
ported by concrete sonatube columns capped
with cast concrete, stylized pelicans in-
tegrate landscaping with the building. ‘The
N pergola runs along the creek, defining
one side of a rauised terrace; the S pergola
is an cxtension of the main facade. It
passes under a section of gabled, tiled
roof covering the entranceway. Above the
door is a cast concrete relief of a pelican
and the inscription: "The California Peli-
can, lFounded 1903 by Larle C. Anthony." A
bronze sculpture of a pelican sits in front
of the building.

With its structurally integrated land-
scaping, the building fits well into its
creckside setting., The design expresses
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the wooden post-and-beam structure, with
industrial steel-sash glazing, infilled
stucco walls tinted "Roman red" and dark-
stained timbers. The tiled roof has broad
overhanging eaves. Overall, the design
consciously continues the work of Bernard
Maybeck, Anthony's favorite architect.




Building History

e e e T e i o e i e e St

Anthony llall was built in 1957 us a
gift of Larle C. Anthony, to house the
stat! of the student humor magazine, The
Pelican. A member of the class of 03 and
tounder of the magazine, Anthony prospered
as a Pachurd Automobile dealer in San Fran-
cisco, Oukland and Los Anpeles, He was
also an important patron of architecture,
commissioning Bernard Muybeck to design his
3 showrooms and his home in Los Angeles.
llis request that Maybeck also design the
Pelican Building was refused by the archi-
tect, who said he was too old but offered
to act as consultant. The commission was
given to Joseph Esherick, prominent Bay
Arca architect and heir to the Bay tradi-
tion of the use of natural materials and
carcliul integration of site, landscaping
and structure.

University Administration reception of
Anthony's gilt was mixed. A separate
bui lding for such an activity wus not
judged appropriate, but it wias accepted,

as one official put it, “...out of prati-
tude as Benjamin Ide Wheeler defined it:
*The lively anticipation of rcwards to
come.'" The structure was the last to be
built on Strawberry Creek, and, in fact,
violated a decision of the 1960 Landscape
Sub-Committee to permit no more buildings
on the Creek.

Evaluation

Although the design has great architec-
tural merit and consciously continues the
Bay ltegion tradition, it is a lavish use
of space for a relatively insignificant
purpose. Environmentally, it is particular-
ly well integrated with its site through
lundscaping.
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Power House (Old Art Gallery

Completed: 1904
Style: Simplified Romanesque
Architect: John Galen lloward
Builder:
Cost: $62,500
Owner: Regents
Original Use: Power Plant
Present Use: University Bike Bureau
Structure: Brick
Exterior Material: Brick
Square Footage: 5,400

Number of Stories: 1

Alterations:

Significant Features: Mosaics

Description
L

A small oune story brick gable-roofed
simplified romanesque structure which
stamnds due W of the Pelican Building on the
banks of Strawberry Creck. Significant
features are the wmosaic panels donc in the
1930*'s and the Chinese lions marking the
entrance.
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Building History

Power plant relocated (1931) and build-
ing converted (W.P. Stephenson, architect)
to Art Gallery. 1936 W.P.A. mosaics for
the Federal Art Project are “'Sculpture by
llelen Bruton and "Dancing' by Florence A.
Swift. Now used for Bike Burcau.

Evaluation
IIIIlIlIIIIllIIIlIlllllllllllllllllllll.l

Architecturally of no great distinction;
well sited, with a pleasant foreccourt. Its
highest merit is in the historical category
because it was one of the first buildings

constructed under lloward's tenure. 1n ad-
dition, it is one of 3 extant WPA art proj-
ects in Berkeley. It deserves a more
sympathetic use.
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Description
e e ey

See comments.,

Moses Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Fy e %

Building History

o e e |

Originally a publications building for
"paily Californian" and student magazines
owned by ASUC, it was sold(1959) to The
Regents to provide a portion of funds for
the new student office bldp. [In 1965 it
was remodeled for the Institute of Govern-
ment Studies and renamed for Bernard Moses,
professor of history (1878-1911),

Exterior Material: -

1931
Tudor
George W. Kelham

$210,000

Regents

publication building for Daily
Californian § student magazines
Institute of Governmental Studies
reinforced concrete

concrete

46,100

3

remodeled 1965
siting, castle roofline

Evaluation

Moses (formerly Lshleman) llall is an even
more simplified version of the Collegiate
Gothic Style than Stephens, which it cmu-
lated. A covering of vines somewhat compen-
sates for its lack of architectural distinc-
tion. The chief contribution of Moses is
environmental. ‘Through its harmonious re-
lation to its neighbor, it maintains the
continuity of the area and helps define the
E-W walk which follows the course of Straw-
berry Crcek on the N side.
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Hertz Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure;

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:
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1958
Modern
Gardner A. Dailey § Assoc,

$1,758,000 including Morrison
llall

Regents

Concert Hall for School of Music
Same

Concrete

Stucco

30,128

2

Description

e S ey

A low, barn-like building connected to
Morrison llall by a covered walkway. The
roof is covered with red tile, and the ex-
terior is coated with a warm buff stucco.
The structure's almost residential scale
was judged appropriate for the cdge of Fac-
ulty Glade. The auditorium, which seats
75, was designed to feature the O'Neil Me-
morial Organ.

Building History

Named for Alfred llertz, conductor of
San Francisco Symphony Orchestra, 1915-30,

Evaluation
IlIllllIIIIIlIllIlIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

llertz and Morrison llalls are of average
quality relative to other buildings of
their time. Morrison has a barracks-like
quality while llertz has only the modest ad-
dition of a glazed central section of the
facade und entrance canopy to relieve its
utilitarian appearance. llowever, the llertz
auditorium is an acoustic and visual success,
one of the few distinguished modern inter-
iors on the campus.

Environmentally, the low profile and sit-
ing of these two buildings are positive at-
tributes. The covered walk is a pleasant
low gatcway to Faculty Glade; the terrace
sections on the S and W sides of llertz con-
tribute to the amenity of the area.

The buildings are relatively new to have
a high historical rating although the audi-
torium has certainly been a meaningful
place for local music lovers.



Description

A two-story rectangular utilitarian
structurce on the rise ahove Faculty Glade
which, with Hertz, serves the Music depart-
ment .

Building History

Named for Mrs. May T. Morrison, bene-
factor to the University.

Evaluation
-]
See llertz Memorial lall of Music.

Morrison Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1958
Modern
Gardner A. Dailey § Associates

$1,758,000 including Hertz Hall
Regents

School of Music

Same

Concrete

Stucco

40, 357

2



Barrows Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1964

Modern

Aleck L. Wilson
& Associates

$3,767,500
Regents

Business Admin.,
Political Science,
Economics §

Sociology
concrete

concrete
85,757
8

Building History

A modern eight story rectangular con-

crete flat roofed office building which
stands due E of Sproul lall,
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Named for General David P, Barrows,

professor of political science (1910-42),
ninth President of the University (1919-23).

52

Evaluation
-~

So far Barrows has no defenders as far
as its aesthetic and environmental quali-
ties are concerned. The consensus has it
that, next to Evans, it is the most dis-
tressing structure on campus. Like Lvans
its design reflects the lowest level of
contemporary commercial office buildings.
Barrows llall has no particular or accum-
ulated historical significance.




Description

Composed of three rectangular blocks
forming a truncated U-shaped plan, Kroeber
is o three story utilitarian structure with
a lat projecting roof. The exterior is
rendered in pastel colored stucco. It con-
tains the Lowie Muscum and Worth-Ryder Gal-
fery.  The one distinctive interior clenent
is the main stairway.

Building History

Named for Alfred L. Kroeber, professor
of anthropology emeritus, chairman of
department (1901-1946) .

Evaluation

A huilding whose design has an under-
stated, utilitarian quality typical of one
current of the Modern Movement. In this
aspect it relates to llertz and Morrison on
the other side of the Arts precinct. ‘the
covered walkway in front of the Lowie Mu-
seum and the low walled scetion to the S
create a pleasant, soft edge for the campus
on Bancroft Way. ‘the landscaped area to
the W has been developed in @ minimal way
with lawn areas, a fountain and an awful
fot of asphalt. If this gateway area were
further developed in terms of landscape,
the banality of the building would be less
noticeable,

The historical merit of the building is
associated, as in the case of many campus
buildings, with its gencral use rather than
any particularly significant events,

Kroeber Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1959
Modern
Gardner A. Dailey

$2,155,000 ‘
Regents

Depts. of Anthropology § Art
same

reinforced concrete

cement plaster

112,948

3

main stairway

—



University Art Museum

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description
L ]

A fan-shaped, poured concrete structure
whose main exhibition space consists of a
ground floor gallery and a series of upper
galleries extended like trays from an as-
cending ramp. A lower floor has an audito-
rium, a restaurant, work spaces and an out-
side sculpture garden at the level of Du-
rant Ave. The offices are adjacent to the
main gallery space with a separate access.
Inside the Bancroft Way entrance there is a
museun store.

The interior finish is untreated con-
crete; flooring is brick tile or colored
concrete carpeted in some areas. Lighting
is a combination of natural - skylights and
floor to ceiling windows - and artificial -
Tixtures on tracks.
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1972
Neo-Brutalist
Mario Ciampi

$4,850,000

Regents

art musecum

same

reinforced concrete
concrete

31,050, sculpture garden:
multi-level

36,800

none

Building History
.. " "]

The University Museum is the result of
an international architectural competition
(1969). 1t was built to house the Univer-
sity's collection of art on the Berkcley
campus and to provide a home for the Pa-
cific Film Archive.

Evaluation
.~~~ "

A contemporary building which makes an
exploitive use of a material - concrete -
to heighten its dramatic expression. It
has been gencrally viewed as reflective of
the ideology of contemporary art and con-
sequently an appropriate design for its
function. Environmentally, although the
structure makes no attempt to harmonize
with its surroundings, its massing is gen-
erally compatible because of its low pro-
file. Illistorically, the building houses an
important permanent collection of paintings
which were a gift from the famous abstract-
expressionist artist and teacher, lans Hoff-
man. It also houses the Pacific Film Ar-
chive.









7 « Sports and Student Activities

1. Eshleman Hall

2. Zellerbach Auditorium

3. Edwards Fields Bleachers
4. Harmon Gymnasium

5. Alumni House

6. Heating Plant

7. Callaghan Hall

8. Unitarian Church - 2401 Bancroft
9. University Extension
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FEshleman Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

A Modern, eight-story, rectangular, con-
crete office building which stands between
the Student Union and Zellerbach Hall on
the S side of Lower Sproul Plaza.
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1965
Modern
llardison § DeMars

$1,157,000

Regents

ASUC, publications, Office of In-
tercollegiate Athletics

Concrete

Concrete
48,840
8

Building History
.|

Named for John M. CEshleman '02, former
ASUC President and Lt. Governor of Cali-
fornia.

Evaluation
.~ — ]

Although Eshleman is an integral part of
the spatial composition of the student cen-
ter on the lower plaza side, its height
and bulk createc a questionable wall on Ban-
croft Way. I1ts architectural character is
that of a large, nondescript commercial of-
fice building. This structure is too re-
cent to have accumulated historical signif-
icance.



Description

A modern five story rectangular con-
crete and plass concert hall which forms
the W side of Lower Sproul Plaza. The in-
terior walls of the auditorium form a dra-
matic abstract composition of voids and
solids,

Building History

Named for Mr., and Mrs. Isadore Zeller-
bach.

Evaluation
e e s e

Zellerbach Hall, in both its main audi-
torium and its small Playhouse, exhibits a
more architectonic organization and a more
orderly use of its weulth of materials than
the carlier buildings of the Student Center.
The decorative detail greatly enhances the
main spaces and the festive banners in the
mirin lubby by Betty DeMars contribute ap-
propriately to the spectacle. Environ-
mentally and functionally the structure has
contributed significantly to the urbanity
of the campus,

Zellerbach Auditorium

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Orriginal Use:
Present Use:
Structure;
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1967
Modern
Hardison § DeMars

$5,300,000

Regents
Auditorium

Same

Concrete

Concrete and brick
158,000

5

Auditorium
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Edwards Fields Bleachers

Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1932
Moderne
Warren C. Perry

& George W. Kelham

$630,000
Regents

stadium § track
same

concrete frame
concrete
527,800 (incl.
450,300 fields)
2

none
ornament

Ldwards Field is the rectangular outdoor

athletic complex at the southwest corner of
the campus, bounded.-by.Bancroft and Oxford
Streets. Occupying an area 250 feet wide
and 600 feet long, Edwards contains the
Walter Christie Oval (track) with bleachers
scating 21,000 spectators, and the Clint
tivans Bascball Diamond with seating for
3,000. The bleachers face east-west and
the ficlds are oriented north-south., The
dark grey concrete stands and wall block
any view of the playing ficlds from Ban-
croft or Oxford. Both bleachers and wall
arc decorated with cast concrete Moderne
Forms ornamented with obelisks and ab-
stract zigzag patterns. Much of the area
underneath the bleachers serves as stor-
age space for liniversity departments.,
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Building History
]

~

Named for George C. Edwards, Professor
of Mathematics, 1874-1918, lkdwards Field
occupies a once residential site long con-
sidered ideal for a major university ath-
letic complex. In one of his early plans
for the campus, John Galen lloward proposed

that the Memorial Stadium be placed there,

With llarmon Gym, which was completed a
ycar later, Edwards Field established a
permanent sports facility for university
men. It also functioned as a public sta-
dium (and still does) for track meets. It
was designed by Warren C. Perry and George
W. Kelham, who was University Architect at
the time.

Evaluation
. ]

The structure has no architectural merit
except for the ornament, which should be
removed and saved in the event of demoli-
tion. Environmentally, the bleachers, with
their minimal landscaping, create an ugly
barrier which deadens this part of the
southern edge of the campus.

The structure's historical merit has ac-
crucd to it over years of use and is linked
to the activity of the arca rather than the
specific structure.



-

Description

A moderne two story rectangular con-
crete structure which stands between Zeller-
bach Hall and Edwards Ficld along the SW
edge of campus. It contains the men's
sports facilities, including basketball
court and swimaing pools.

Building History

Named after A.K.P. llarmon, donor of
first Harmon Gymnasium.

Evaluation

A utilitarian structure which, in its
exterior detail and general austerity, re-
I'leets both the style and budgetary con-
straints of the 1930's.  (llarmon's low mass-
ing is an environmental asset. The struc-
ture has no particular historical werit be-
youd that which has accumulated through
years of use. As a facility it is now in-
adequate for the campus needs,

Harmon Gymnasium

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1933
Moderne
Gecorge W. Kelham

$727,500

Regents

Men's Gymnasium
Same _

Steel and concrete
Concrete

167,700

3

Moderne details
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Alumni House

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Orriginal Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1954

Modern

Clarence W. Mayhew

Robert L. Wilson

$375,000

Regents

Alumni center

same

steel columns and roof frame, re-
inforced concrete walls

brick, concrete and stone

15,126

1

none

none

planting, N patio, paving of main
S entrance

Alumni Nouse is composed of 2 onc-story
blocks connected by a glazed gallery to
form an l.-shaped plan. The major S en-
trance and a secondary N entrance are in
the gallery, which has stone paving. The
I block contains a large lounge and confer-
ence room on the N side. The conference
room has 3 fireplaces, one of which, on the
N side, has an exterior as well as an in-
terior hearth. The N elevation has a
glazed curtain wall which facilitates the
visual integration of the room with the
well-ptanted N patio. The rest of the wing
contains the kitchen, bathrooms and a
cloakroom along a single-loaded corridor.
The reversed pitch, or "butterfly,"” roof
extends well beyond the curtain walls and
is supported by exterior columns. The end
witl Is extend to the edge of the roof.

The W wing is perpendicular to the E
wing and overhangs a stone-laced basement
which rises out of the ground toward the N
end.  The E wing clevatjons have curtain
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wialls with glass and coated panels painted
a blue-gray-green. This wing contains the
staff offices, served by a double-loaded
corridor. Underneath, a full bascment has
a lounge and a large service arca.

A cluster of redwoods shields the build-
ing from the larger mass of the Student
Union dining complex; a row of pines shel-
ters the office wing from the Dana Street
passage.




Building History

Alumni llouse was built to consolidate
alumni services and establish a stronger
identity for the Alumni Association, A
site reconmendation committee, formed in
May 1952 and chaired by 5. D, Bechtel,
suggested 4 possible sites, Three were
within the arca designated for a new stu-
dent union; the fourth site was across from
Callaghan Hall next to the Lucalyptus
Grove. A site next to the proposed student
union wits selected to "symbolize the close
friendly relationship of students and
alummi "

John A. Tetley, appointed Director of
the Alwini llouse Fund Program, began the
fund-raising dvive. Two pictures of the
propescd building appeared in the Califor-
nia Monthly while working drawings were
still in preparation. In carly 1953, the
Regents ruled to have the site cleared and
landscaped.  The site was formally prescnt-
ed to the Alumni Association on Charter Day
bay .

Clarence Mayhew designed the building
with a terrace to the N which he wanted as
"an arca much like faculty glade stretching
from the Alumni llouse terrace area to the
banks of Strawberry Creck." The building
won an Award Citation in the cducation cat-
egory from Progressive Architecture, and
wis featured in the January 1954 issue of
the magazine.

Nearly 18,000 alumni donated to the
building's construction.

Two of the lounge fireplaces have memo-
rial plaques. One is dedicated to Philip
R. Thayer, 1898 Class Secrctary and a gen-
erous University benefactor; the other was
given by the parents of William G. lloman,
class of 1951, who died in military action
in 1952,

Evaluation

P oo et sl e e R o

A handsome example of the Americanized
International Style derived from the Euro-
pean work of LeCorbusier and the Graduate
School of Design at larvard. Its siting
and landscaping contribute significantly
to the environmental amenity of the campus.

‘The building houses an important Univer-
sity institution whose historical merit
increases with the passage of time.
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Heating Plant

143

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Original Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1930

stripped Classical
George W. Kelhanm
not known

$58,500

Regents

heating plant

same

concrete

concrete, wire mesh screens
9,000

1

Description
e e e s e Y et

A small, free-standing, cubical structure
sited near the Edwards Field-llurmon Gym com-
plex, also in stripped Classical style. It
is oriented in accordance with the Campanile
axis. It is decorated with monumental, low
reliel, Classical detail, Fluted pilasters
run the height of the building at each cor-
ner. They are linked by bands of rustica-
tion, above which are 3 very large openings
with wide moldings. A broad cornice com-
pletes the composition.

Building Histoz

The expansion of the campus with the
construction of the Life Sciences Bldg.,
Bowles llall and the licarst Gym made the
original powerhouse obsolete. The cur-
Tent structure was built to serve expand-
ing campus needs; it still provides heat
and steam for almost every building on
campus.

-
Evaluation
=S e P S e ——— |
A utilitarian structure designed to har-
monize with its neighbors, but of no archi-

tectural, historical, or environmental
merit.



Description

A two story rectangular flat roofed
former barracks which stands due W of the
Heating Plant. .

Building History

Named for Admiral Daniecl J. Callaghan,
U.S.N., killed on bridge of "USS San Fran-

cisco” during the battle of Solomon Islands.

Evaluation
DR

This building has been slated for demo-
Iition; it has no redecming architectural,
historical, or cnvironmental merit.

Callaghan Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1947
No style
U.S. Government

$20,000

Regents

Naval ROTC
Aerospace Studies
Wood

Wood

13,900

2
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Unitarian Church-2401 Bancroft

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

A one-story, wood-framed structure,
sheathed with long redwood shingles, locat-
cd on.the NE corner of Dana and Bancroft.
‘The Ii facade has a generous, semicircular
apse; the S facade is flat and dominated by
a large, central window with a grid of wood
mullions whose sections are filled with
small, rectangular panes of glass in metal
mntins. The window hood is a double row
of fine, sawtooth shingles. A broad, ga-
bled roof, whose rafters project to support
wisteria vines, extends at the eaves to
cover two entrance porches. The porch col-
wnns are barked, redwood tree trunks. The
S side alternates shingled buttresses with
round-arched windows.

The interior has one large space spanned
by pratt trusses and exposed principal
rafters supported by heavy posts. A podium
at the E end is lit by a circular skylight.
All that remains of the original interior
is the chapel and side aisle, converted to
a smaller dance studio and office.
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1898
1st San Francisco Bay Region
A. C. Schweinfurth

unknown

Unitarian Church
worship chapel
Dramatic Arts Dept.
wood

wood

4,094

1

trellis, circular window, redwood
barked porch columns, brown shin-
gles with sawtooth patterns




el

Building History

o e e e o e T T A I Sk e e

Designed by A.C. Schweinfurth, who came
to San Francisco from Boston in the late
1880's and worhed in the prominent office
of A. Page Brown. Schweinfurth designed
scveral famous buildings of the period,
among them Phoebe A. llearst's llacienda in
Picasanton and the Volney Moody llouse in
Berkeley at Ridge and LeRoy.  Virtually
all of Schweinfurthts work has been de-
stroyed or drastically altered.

The First Unitarian Church was dedicated
in 1898. lmportunt carly parishioners were
Allen C. Freeman, painter Ernest Peixotto,

William Carcy Jones, a Dean of the Berkeley
Graduate School, and George llowison, edu-
cator and philosopher. The dedication ser-
mon wias preached by Dr. lloratio Stebbins,
who had been instrumental in persuading the
State Legislature to choose Berkeley as the
University site. By 1957 the congregation
had moved, the University had purchascd the
property in 1960 for $329,400 and slated it
for demolition to clear land for the new
student union. llowever, the whole site was
not used, the church remained and is used
today by the Dramatic Arts Department.

Evaluation
.~ ]

One of the outstanding examples of the
S.F. Bay Region's Shingle Style which
achieves its major visual effect through a
skilltul manipulation of the scale of dec-
orative detail and structural elements,
The structure should definitely be pre-
served, but opinion is divided about its
present contribution to this site between
those who feel it has an appropriate scale
and character for this edge of the campus
and those who feel it is not appropriate as
a campus building and is not harmonious
with its neighbors. Finally, the building
suffers from poor maintenance and obvious
neglect.
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University Extension

Completed:

Style:

Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect for
Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

See comments.
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1923
Moderne
James W. Plachek

$750,000 (purchase)

Regents

U.S. Farm Bureau

University of California Extension
Concrete

Concrete

51,000

5

Michael Goodman (architect)
Moderne entrance

Building History
L

The building was purchased from the U.S.
Farm Bureau in 1960; remodeled (Michael A.
Goodman, arch.) and occupied by the Univer-
sity of California Press (1962) and Univer-
sity Extension (1963).

Evaluation
L

A five story rectangular utilitarian
building of no architectural distinction.
Although the building marks the intersec-
tion of Kittredge St. with the campus, it
makes no contribution to this restricted

site. Its landscaping is an environmental
amenity.
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&+ Agriculture, Conservation, and
Life Sciences

1. Life Sciences Building
2. Giannini Hall
3. Wellman Hall
4. Hilgard Hall
5. Morgan Hall
6. Tolman Hall
7. Mulford Hall
8. Biochemistry Building
9. Warren Hall
10. Temporary Building (T-19)
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Life Sciences Building

Completed:
Style:
Architect:

Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Orriginal Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:
Architect and Builder-for Alterations:
Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1930

Moderne

George Kelham

sculpture - Robert lloward
Dinwiddie Construction Co.
$1,186,000

Regents

classrooms, labs, offices
same

reinforced concrete

painted concrete

376,333

5

Michael Goodman

c.1964

auditorium, interior courtyard,
unique architectural details

A massive, rectangular block with 4 cor-
ner pavilions and small £ and W wings, Life
Sciences lies on the main E-W axis, The
principal E facade has a onc-story frontis-
picce. The exterior facade is composed of:
a basc of simulated ashlar masonry; a
middle, fenestrated zone of industrial
steel sash divided into bays by pilasters
running the height of the zone; an attic
zone terminating in an ornamented parapet.
The corner entrance pavilions have engaged
colwmns with Composite capitals.

The style reflects the late phase of
the 1920's Art Deco fashion for natural-
istic and geometric ornament. The dJecor-
ative scheme interprets the building's
functions: animal and plant forms in cast,
decorative medatlions occur on the hase
benecath the windows, a fricze of bucranes
(parlanded steer heads) runs across the
entablature, and pairs of rampant gryphons
decorate the upper zone of the entrance
pavilions., Elsewhere, stylized foliage
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and Classic detail such as dentils are

used in string-courses defining horizontal
zones and in compositions which frame doors
and windows. Floral antefixae punctuate
the parapets. The format also recalls the
"neo-Babylonian" architecture concocted by
llollywood producers like D. W. Griffith for
epic films of the 1920°'s.




Building History

For its time, LSB ranked as one of the
largest academic structures in the world.
It represents a departure from earlier
types of university structures since it
united under one roof all the various "life
sciences' which had previously been scat-
tered about the campus in separate build-
ings. Departments and activities to be
housed included Botany, llouschold Science,
Hygiene, Plant Nutrition, Physiology, Bio-
chemistry, Museum of Vertebrate Zoology,
Zootogy, Psychology and the State Board of
ticalth.  The concept of 1ife science de-
partments in a single building tollowed the
trend at other universities.

George Kelham, the designer, was campus
architect at the time, having replaced John
Gaten Howard in 1927, Sculptor Robert How-
ard (sun of JGH) did some of the ornamental
sculpture, using an innovative system of
precast concrete panels.

L5B corresponds to the Howard plan in
that it aligns to the central axis and con-

forms to the provision that all academic
activities be located within a 5 minute
walk from the library. [t also acts as the
pendant to Howard's Agricultural Complex to
the north, and with the latter provided a
monwnental entrance to the campus.

LSB has been the scence of many important
scientific studies, including the carly
work with sex hormones.

Evaluation
v ]

“Architecturally, the most significant
example of the transitional Moderne design
of the 1920's and 1930°'s coming out of the
eclectic Beaux Arts tradition. Environmen-
tally, the building occupies an important
site.

Except for a recent auditorium-
classroom on the E side, interior spaces
are largely original and, in many cases,
outmoded for present lab use. liowever, the
structure could be gutted and redesigned
for contemporary nceds while preserving the
architecturally significant facadec.
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Giannini Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1930
Neo-Classic and Moderne

William C. Hays

$500,000 (gift, Bancitaly Corp.)
Regents

Dept. of Agriculture

same

reinforced concrete

concrete, red tile

81,300 L

4

SE entrance composition, entrance

-lobby and W loggia, landscaping

A "C" shaped building which forms the E
side of the agricultural complex, Giannini
mirrors lilgard across the court in mass-
ing, height and general proportions.
Giannini is also oricnted to the main
ciampus axis through placement of the main
entrance on the Sk facade. This entrance
is a Regency Style frontispiece in traver-
tine marble with decorative urns and floral
panels in the upper part and a central door
flanked by windows at the main level. The
door itself is an elegant composition in
wrought iron reflecting the Moderne Style.
From the door, wide-scalloped stairs with
low risers descend to a brick landing
scored with marble bands. Stairs to the
ripght and left lead to the road below.

The main entrance opens to a lobby and
Faces an celiptical, branching stair. The
two-level lobby is distinguished by a con-
crete, beamed ceiling polychromed with
desipns reflecting a mixture of hoth
tndian and Art Deco Styles, Mctal Art Deco
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chandelicrs also grace the interior, which,
overall, is a striking departure from the
gencrally utilitarian character of such
spaces on this campus. The lobby also
contains a multi-colored marble memorial

to A. P'. Giannini. To the right of the
lobby is the elevator and stair to the
second story.

The courtyard elevation has a central
block with a shallow two-story loggia of
nine bays. Free-standing, squared columns
are interspersed with four monumental uras.
In the center is a graceful, ornamental
iron gateway at the head of a flight of
steps. The projecting wings have en-
trances surmounted by balconies with or-
namental iron railings. The clevation is
detailed in a free Classic manner with
ornament derived from plant forms. It
complements the older, Classic buildings
whilec the I facade reflects current
fashions. A notable feature of the £ fa-
cade are the cast concrete figures which

flank the top floor windows and hold aloft
agricultural symbols such as bags of grain.
These were designed by Ellah llays, the ar-
chitect's wife.

Double-loaded halls run roughly N-S
through the building serving the offices.
Third-floor southside rooms have windows
overlooking the loggia. Attic floor
rooms are fitted under the roof.



Building History

In 1928, Bancitaly Corporation gave $1.5
million to endow the Giannini Foundation of
Agriculture Lconomics in memory of Amadco
P. Giannini. OFf this gift, $500,000 was
given to build Giannini Hlall and thus com-
plete the agricultural complex planned by
J. G, loward (for more history see Wellman
Hall).

William Charles llays, the architect of
Giannini, was a faculty member and had as-
sociated with Howard on the design of Hil-
gard Hall. Tlis design of Giannini respect-
ed Howard's intention to have the complex
reflect the configuration of an "old Tuscan
farm.” To further the Italian image, stone
pines, cypresses and olive trees were used
in the landscaping of the complex.

Evaluation

As an integral part of an historically
and architecturally important campus com-
plex, Giannini deserves the highest rating.
It is also a notable example of a building
designed to visually harmonize with its
neipghbors while reflecting the current
style. The agriculture complex is recom-
mended for nomination to the State Land-
marks Commission and the National Repister.
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Wellman Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Orriginal Use:
Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

Description

1912

Neo-Classic
John Galen lloward

$267,000

The Regents

Offices, classrooms

Dept.of Entomology-Parasitology
Riveted steel frame with granite
backed by concrete

Raymond granite and red tile
43,300

4 floors and 1 mezzanine
Ratcliff-Slama-Cadwalader et al.
1967, conversion of lecture hall
to Entomology Museum

Metal skylights, roof, entrance
arch, court facade

Sited at the top of a rise, Wellman's
main Facade faces south on the campus'
major E-W axis. It is the focal building
of u complex which also contains Millgard
and Gisnnini Halls,

As originally designed, Wellman was to
be girdled by a wide paved path on a lower
level to which the main entrance would con-
nect by stairs leading to the proposed
Botannical Garden. Neither site element
wias completed.

Visuslly, the south elevation is divid-
ced symmetrically into three parts: a
central, projecting apse, with an arched
entrance defined by monumental, rusticated
voussiors,'and two flanking fenestrated
bays defined by vertical bands of rusti-
cated granite hlocks. lntrance doors on
cither side of the apse are surmounted by
arched windows whosc form recalls those
of Albertits Rucellai Palace in Florence.
The N elevation has three fenestrated
lloors; the fourth is concealed in the
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roof. Vertically, two outer bays defined
by vertical bands of rusticated granite
blocks echo those of the S facade. The
central portion is divided into eight bays
with large, double-hung windows separated
by Doric columns on the second floor. The
third floor windows have recessed, orna-
mented copper lintels and wood frames.

Wellmon has a rusticated base and a
tiled hip roof resting on an cntablature
composed of a simplified architrave and
fricze with a boldly scaled copper cor-
nice. The roof culminates in a raised
skylight with copper ridge and frame,
Beside the influence of the Beaux Arts'
academic-Classic tradition, the style
uscd here reflects the romantic-Classic
mode of the French school of Ledoux in its
simple geometry and exaggerated detail.
Contrasting waterials - tile, granite,
copper and copper-tinted wood - cnliven
and clarify the design.

The interior is defined by a double-

loaded E-W corridor with two stairs
symmectrically placed on either side of
the apse. This was converted from a
lecture hall to an entomology museum in
the 1967 alterations (see other page).
The present scheme reveals no design
sensitivity to the existing space.



-

Building History

Originally Agriculture Hall, Wellman
houses the Entomology Department. ‘The
bui lding was renamed in 1967 for llarry
Richard Wellwan, then Acting President of
the University, who held degrees in Agri-
cultural tconomics,

The creation of a College of Agricul-
ture was a mandate to the Regents from
the 1868 State Legislature in establish-
ing the new University., Agriculture ilall
had a prominent place in loward's campus
plan. As a centerpiece for the first
major building complex at the west end of
the main campus axis, it was sited on a
rise to the north.

Noward specificd the finest materials:
YAl granite to he of best quality...it
must conform in color, lexture, composi-
tion and general appearance with the stone
used in Calilornia Hall, the Mining Build-
ing and the Library..  All marble shall be
cquial to the best grade of white Calilornia
marble, as Tree as possible from veins or

markings...without defects of any sort."
High quality copper and terra cotta were
also specified.

The Entomology Department occupied the
new building with other elements of the
College upon its completion in 1912, In
1913, Dean T. F. llunt introduced the
Division of Landscape Gardening and Flori-
culture., Drafting spaces took advantage
of the large north windows; part of the
apsc became the Landscape Library. In
1966-67, Landscape Architecture became a
department of the new College of Environ-
mental Design and moved to Wurster llall.

Wellman then received a full-scale remodeling

to consolidate the tcaching and research fu-
cilities of the departments of Entomology,
Parisitology and Insect Pathology.

Evaluation

Architecturally, a fine example of the
eclectic-Classic design tradition of the
Ecole des Beaux Arts-its merit is above the
local level. Environmentally an integral
part of onc of the original and most sensi-
tively conceived architectural complexes on
the campus. The building was an important
element of lloward's campus pluns and ranks
in historic importance with others of the
original campus nucleus. ‘The agricultural
complex is recommended for nomination to
the State Landmarks Commission and the
National Register.
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Description

Hilgard Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Original Use:
Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1918
Neo-Classic
John Galen Howard

$375,000

Regents

Agriculture

Depts. of Plant Pathology, Soils,
Plant Nutrition

reinforced concrete and steel
concrete, red tile

70,800

4

W facade and entrance, balconies,
friezes and site relationship to
the other buildings of the agri-
cultural complex

A C-shaped building forming the W side

of the agricultural complex, Hilgard con-
forms in height and width to Wellman. The
courtyard facade has 9 bays, S in the cen-
tral part and 2 at either end, with the
entrance in the center. The end bays have
balustraded balconies supported on con-
soles with Venetian glass doors.

The W Facade has an engaged colonnade
in a giant, modificd Doric order with
paired, enpgaged piers at the corners. The
wood -f'ramed, double-hung windows have 16
lights. Graffito friezes in a Florentine
Renaissance style on a red ground frame
the wall openings and occupy intercolumnar
spaces. The entrance composition has an
acdicule form with Classic entablature and
is decorated with a fricze of stylized
California poppies. Over the door is a
carved relief of a basket of fruit with an
overflowing cornucopia.  All the decora-
tive detail symbolizes aspects of agricul-
ture and animal hushandry. The fricze has
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the inscription: "To Rescuc for lluman So-
ciety the Native Values of Rural Life."

The 2 main floors rise from a fenes-
trated base with a rolled molding. The
tiled hip roof has a simple cornice and
contains the fourth floor, whose small
rooms are lit by recessed dorwers. There
are also 2 roof courts and a number of
chimneys.

The ground floor has a double-loaded
corridor running roughly N-S with stair-
cases at either end. The only entvance
is at the center of the £ side. The main
floor also contains a double-loaded hall-
way running the length of the building,
with staircases and entrances at the ends
and a short cross-axial hallway connect-
ing the main W entrance and the central
I: entrance. An elevator is located at
this junction of the 2 circulation axes.
The third floor is also defined by a
double-loaded corridor ending in N and S
staircases.,

S




-

Building History

The second building added to the agri-
cultural complex specified in the original
campus plan. lilgard was originally to be
sheathed in grunite like Wellman; however,
cconomy measures imposed by World War 1
changed the material to stuccoed concrete.
The $375,000 for constiuction came from a
$1.8 million bond issue from the Regents,
provided by a 1914 State initiative. Twen-
ty-five thousand of the cost wus for equip-
ment . The building was begun August 1,
1916 and completed on schedule in 1918,

Ihilgard was to house 7 divisions of the
College of Agriculture: Agronomy, Citricul-
ture, Forestry, Genetics, Pomology, Soil
Technology, and Viticulture. The ground
and main Cloors were devoted to lecture
halls, classrooms, and laboratories while
the third and fourth flours would contain
olfices. The attic of the W elevation was
planucd to contain an inscription which
President Wheeler and Howard at first want-
ed o apply to the work of Professor Gugene

Hilpard, the first Decan of the College of
Agriculture (1874-1904), but they could not
come up with an appropriaste motto. In Ap-
ril, Howard suggested, "Civen by the People
of the State of California A.D, 1915," and
in May, Whecler suggested, 'To bring food
for the peoples from the breast of the
carth.” Wheeler changed his mind and in
Sceptember suggested, "o (help) rescue for
human society the moral values of rural
life," which was changed to "To Rescue for
luman Society the Native Vulues of Rural
Life."

Formal dedication ceremonies took place
on Saturday, October 13, 1917.

Evaluation

An integral part of one of the most
sensitively desipned complexes on the
canpus. In addition to its environmental
and historical importance, Hilgard's de-
sign is an unusual variation on the Clas-
sic theme, and a valuable contribution to
the history of architecture in the State
of California. The building is recomnended
for nomination to the State Landmarks com-
mission and the National Register.
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Mulford Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

1948
Modern
Miller § Warnecke

$910,000
Regents
Forestry School
same

concrete
concrete

70,600
multiple

Description

A rectangular reinforced concrete
block located in the NW quadrant of the cam-
pus. The flat, broadly projecting roof and
generally stripped character of the design
express both rigorous economy and conven-
tional modern design.

Building History

Named for Walter Mulford, first dean of
School of Forestry, (1947-48).

Evaluation

l

Architecturally and environmentally a
neutral element defining the N edge of this
part of the main E-W axis. The S terrace
with its stand of plane trees is a pleasant
contribution to the site. Historical con-
tribution is at present unrescarched.



Description

A six-story, concrete building with an
cxpressed frame and a strong cellular chav-
acter.  The structure is capped with a lTow-
pritched, tiled hip roof with a central mon-
ttor und sheathed with pre-cast, pebble-
apgregate panels. On the € and S sides
there are minimal terraces; the S terrace

15 sheltered by a columed, concrete canopy.

Biochemistry Building

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Building History

‘This building occupies the former site
of the agriculture greenhouses. It houses
teaching and rescarch activities and was
funded by a State appropriation, the Nation-
al Scicnce Foundation and the National In-
stitutes of llealth.

1964
Modern
Wurster, Bernardi § Emmons

$3,227,500

Regents

Dept. of Biochemistry

same

reinforced concrete

cement plaster and aggregate
85,757

6

none
none

Evaluation

A frank and unadorned building whose
grim gray mass adds to the already oppres-
sive architectural and bureaucratic charac-
ter of this lower campus precinct. llistor-
jcal merit is unresearched at this writing.
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Warren Hall

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original Use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

‘Modern

1955

Masten § llurd
Parker-Stephens § Pierce
$1,500,000

Regents

School of Public Health

same

steel and concrete

aluminum, concrete and glass
73,900

S

sunken court and roof terrace

lLocated at the NW corner of the campus,
Warren's T-shaped ground plan takes advan-
tage of the sloping site to make the roof
line correspond to that of the neighboring
buildings. The building is divided into 3
parts. ‘The five-story, slab-like office
block, oriented E-W, is a modular, concrete
and steel-framed structure whose end walls
have buff-colored, rendered surfaces punc-
tuated by a ladder of small, rectangular,
boxed windows which light the stairwell.
The central wall section has an aluminum-
frame curtain wall with alternating bands
of glass and gray coated panels. Mechani-
cal equipment is housed in a round-cornered
box on the roof. To the W, a three-story
rectangular volume has a closed facade
resting on a columned arcade backed by an
atluminum-framed, glass wall. This arcade
resumes on the S wing whose facade faces a
sunhen paved court, created by the sloping
site. The roof of this S section has a
paved and landscaped terrace. The section
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ends in a closed trapezoidal volume with
rounded walls. The W side of the building
has the most important elevations.

In plan, the first floor contains the
library, administrative offices, student
lounge, classrooms, and a wood paneled
lecture hall accommodating 200. Research
labs, storerooms, animal quarters, and the
Cancer Studies Laboratory comprise the
second level. With the exception of sever-
al dry labs (biostatistics), the third to
fifth floors house offices. Exposed me-
chanical equipment and pipes clutter the
ceilings throughout the building.

Warren has a variety of functional
problems. As yet unaltered, 3 major cap-
ital improvements projects have been con-
sidered for the building. Biohazard, fire
safety and security problems threaten the
status of many research projects. Circula-
tion problems are aggravated by the ncces-
sity for separation of function, especially
in the administrative wing. Security is a

major problem because of the number of
building entrances. The only commons area
is an awkwardly placed student lounge, ac-
cessible from the outside, which is not
considered adequate by its users.



Building History

Warren Hull is named after Earl Warren
(class of 1912), Governor of California at
the time of the department's conception.
Originally associated with the State bept.
of Health located in San Francisco, Charles
Smith, the First Dean, promoted the School
of Public llealth for the Berkeley campus.
One of the few non-federal ly-Ffunded Public
lealth School buildings, Warren llall was
planned to be twice as large, but the State
funds were only adequate for the present
building. lts SW site was chosen for its
proximity to the State Health Bldg. located
at 2251 Hearst Ave.

The Schovl of Public Health has o dis-
tinguished Faculty and one of the best
departments in the country. Iafluential
rescarch studies have been initiated in
such diverse liclds as alcoholism and feas-
ibility of medical laboratories. Jointly
sponsored by the State and Federal Govern-
ments, Lhe School of Public llealth plays an
important role on campus in health science

programs. A professional school, the
School of Public Health has joint programs
with City and Regional Planning, Nutrition,
and the Medical School, Sun Francisco.

Evaluation

Architecturally, a modest example of
Modern institutional desipgn reflecting the
Europcun International Style in its smooth,
"muchined" look. The building's architec-
tural expression is derived from the unim-
bellished articulation of its structural
elements. LEnvironmentally, the structure
mokes no significant contribution to this
campus precinct or to the buildings around
it though it is well-integrated with its
imnediate site. lNistorically, the building
has no particular merit except in its asso-
ciation with a distinguished University
department for which it has become an out-
moded facility.

164



Temporary Building (T-19)

Completed:
Style:

Architect:
Builder:

Cost:

Owner:

Original use:
Present Use:
Structure:
Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

Description

1947
quonset hut

U.S. Government

Regents

military installation
Virology, Navy Biology Lab
corrugated metal

same

none
none

Building History

A standard mititary quonset hot. One of the many government surplus
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structures acquired by the University to
accommodate postwar expansion.

Evaluation
-~ ]

By now a quaint wartime relic, pleasant-
ly sited, whose architectural merit is that
of a vanishing building type. At this
writing its value to its users has not been
researched.

-
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Boalt Hall, 103
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Campbell Hall, 88
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Chemical Biodynamics Lab, 106
Cory llall, 68

Cowell Memorial llospital, 105

Davis lall, 67

Doe Memorial Library, 25
Donner Laboratory, 65
Durant llall, 31

Dwineclle Annex, 36
Dwinelle Hall, 35

Earth Sciences Building, 73
Edwards Fields Bleachers, 139
Lngincering-llesse Ctyd.Bldg.,72
Eshleman Hall, 137

itcheverry Hall, 74

Evans Hall, 85

Giannini Hall, 153
Giauque lall, 80
Gilman lall, 79
Girton llall, 109
Greek Theatre, 91

Hfarmon Gymnasium, 140

lHaviland Hall, 41

tlearst Greek Theatre, 91

Hearst Gymnasium for Women, 123
learst Mining Building, 59
Heating Plant, 143

llertz 1lall, 129

llesse Hall, 69

llildebrand Hall, 81

Hilgard Hall, 157

International House, 97
Kroeber Hall, 132

Latimer Hall, 82

LeConte llall, 77

Lewis Hall, 83

LLife Sciences Building, 151

McLaughlin llall, 71

Men's Faculty Club, 51

Minor Hall, 107

Minor ifall Addition, 108
Moffitt Undergrad.Library, 27
Morgan Hall, 159

Morrison lall, 130

Moses Hall, 128

Mulford Hall, 161

Naval Architecture Bldg., 63
North Gate Hall, 61

O'Brien Hall, 70
Pelican Bldg. (Anthony Hall), 125

Physical Sci.Lecturc Hall), 84
Power House (0ld Art Gallery,127

Sather Tower (Campanile), 24
Senior Men's Hall, 55

South Hall, 45

South Hall Annex, 47

Sproul Hall, 40 .
Stanley Hall, 86

Stephens Hall, 49

Stern Hall, 94

Student Union, 37

Temporary Bldgs.(T4 - T9), 48
Temporary Bdlg. (T19), 165
Tolman Hall, 160

Unitarian Church, 145
University Extension, 147
University Art Museum, 133
University House, 43

Warren Hall, 163
Wellman Hall, 155
Wheeler Hall, 33
Women's Faculty Club, 53
Wurster Hall, 102

Zellerbach Auditorium, 138

2241 College - Cheney llouse, 111
2243 College - Cheney House, 112
2251 College, 113
2220 Piedmont, 114
2222 Piedmont, 115
2224 Piedmont, 116
2232 Piedmont, 117
2234 Piedmont, 118
2240 Piedmont, 119
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Morgan Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:
Owner:
Orriginal Use:

Present Use:
Structure:

Exterior Material:
Square Footage:
Number of Stories:

Alterations:
Significant Features:

159

1953
Modern
Spencer § Ambrose

$1,061,000
Regents

Dept. of Nutri-
tional Sciences
same

concrete
concrete

56,300

3

Description

|

A conventional three story reinforced
concrete block located S of Tolman Hall,

L4 * *
Building History
Named for Mrs. Agnes Fay Morgan, prof-
essor of nutrition, emeritus, Chairwoman

of Department of llome Economics and Nutri-
tion (1915-64).

Evaluation

A bland modern design which reinforces
the general bureaucratic quality of this
campus precinct. A pleasant forecourt
is its major environmental comntribution.
llistory unrescarched.



o

Description
U

The Education-Psychology Building is di-
vided into 2 major arcas: the E wing, occu-
picd by Lducation, and the W wing, occupied
by Psychology. One floor of the W wing
houses the Institute of lluman Uevelopment.
The library is a common facility for all 3
departments.  The 15 classtooms on the scc-
ond floor are for general campus use. The
building is located on a sloping site at a
heavily trafficked entrance to campus. [ts
2 wings support and arc connected by a
bridge clement under which traffic travels
on a concourse to campus or to the main en-
trances to the building. The E wing is 6
stories plus a basement. The bridge ele-
ment contains four floors.

Building History

Named for lLdward C. Tolman, professor
of psychology (1918-50).

Evaluation
[

A gargantuan structure which, through
its modular-cellular appearance, forms an
oppressive, burcaucratic wall for the NE
edge of the campus. This barrier is modi-
ficd by an open pussageway under the cen-
tral scction of the building, which creates
a gateway to the campus,

Tolman Hall

Completed:
Style:
Architect:
Builder:
Cost:

Owner:
Orriginal Use:

Present Use:

Structure:

Exterior Material:

Square Footage:

Number of Stories:

Architect and Builder for Alterations:
Alterations:

Significant Features:

1962
Modern
Gardner A. Dailey § Associates

$2,155,000

Regents

Dept. of Education, Psychology &
Institute of Human Development
and Center for Study of Higher
Education

same

reinforced concrete

cement wash and aluminum panels
228,000

campus entrance portico
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